
 

 

 

 

 

 

 Small Business Regulatory Review Board Meeting 

January 16, 2025 

10:00 a.m. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 
SMALL BUSINESS REGULATORY REVIEW BOARD 

 
 

Department of Business, Economic Development & Tourism (DBEDT)                                Tel: 808 798-0737 
Capitol Modern Building, 250 S. Hotel Street, Fifth Floor, Honolulu, HI  96813                  
Mailing Address: P.O. Box 2359, Honolulu, HI  96804 
Email: dbedt.sbrrb.info@hawaii.gov  
Website: sbrrb.hawaii.gov  

 
             

 
Josh Green, M.D. 

Governor 
 

Sylvia Luke 
Lt. Governor 

 
James Kunane 

Tokioka 
DBEDT Director 

 
Dane K. Wicker 
DBEDT Deputy 

Director 
 
 

Members 
 

Jonathan Shick 
Chairperson 

O‘ahu 
 

Mary Albitz 
Vice Chairperson 

Maui 
 

Sanford Morioka 
2nd Vice Chairperson 

O‘ahu 
 
James (Kimo) Lee 

Hawai’i 
 

Garth Yamanaka 
           Hawai’i 

 
Robert Cundiff 

O‘ahu 
 

Tessa Gomes 
 O‘ahu 

 
Nikki Ige 

Kaua‘i 
 

Dr. Jennifer Salisbury 
Maui 

 
Mark Ritchie for  
Director, DBEDT 
Voting Ex Officio 

 

AGENDA 
Thursday, January 16, 2025  10:00 a.m. 

Capitol Modern Building 
  250 South Hotel Street, Conference Room 436   

Honolulu, HI 96813 
 

As authorized under Act 220, Session Laws of Hawaii 2021, and Section 92-3.7 
Hawaii Revised Statutes (HRS), the public can participate in the meeting either: 

 
A. By attending the in-person meeting at: 

Capitol Modern Building – 250 South Hotel Street, Conference Room 436, 
Honolulu, HI  96813; or 

 
B. Via Video-audio livestream or via Telephone - to join the Video-audio livestream 

meeting, go to: 
                        

https://us06web.zoom.us/j/88400776199?pwd=4wAvlu4jf7kz65ioBZWDXgpG4KlKJ8.1 
 

C. To Join via Telephone: Dial 1-669-900-6833 with 
Meeting ID 883 5814 0200 Passcode 066739 

 
When the Chairperson asks for public testimony during the meeting, you may indicate 
that you want to provide oral testimony by using the raise hand function or, if calling 

in by telephone, entering * and 9 on your phone keypad.  When recognized by the 
Chairperson, you will be unmuted.  If calling in by phone, you can unmute and mute 

yourself by pressing * and 6 on your keypad. 
 

Members of the public may also submit written testimony via e-mail to: 
DBEDT.sbrrb.info@hawaii.gov or mailed to SBRRB, Capitol Modern Building, 250 S. 
Hotel Street, Room 506, Honolulu, HI  96813, or P.O. Box 2359, Honolulu, HI 96804.  

The Board requests that written testimony be received by Wednesday, January 15, 2025 so 
it may be distributed to Board members prior to the meeting.  Testimony received after 

that time will be distributed to the Board members at the meeting.   
 

Copies of the Board Packet will be available on-line for review at: Agendas & Minutes – 
Small Business Regulatory Review Board (hawaii.gov) and in-person at 250 South Hotel 

Street, Room 506, Honolulu, HI  96813 during regular business hours.  An electronic draft 
of the minutes for this meeting will also be made available at the same location when 

completed. 
 

The Board may go into Executive Session under  
Section 92-5 (a)(4), HRS to Consult with the Board’s Attorney on Questions and Issues 

Concerning the Board’s Powers, Duties, Immunities, Privileges and Liabilities. 
 

https://us06web.zoom.us/j/88400776199?pwd=4wAvlu4jf7kz65ioBZWDXgpG4KlKJ8.1
mailto:DBEDT.sbrrb.info@hawaii.gov


Small Business Regulatory Review Board – January 16, 2025 
Page 2 

 
I. Call to Order 

  
II. Approval of December 12, 2024 Meeting Minutes 

 
III. Old Business 

 
A. Discussion and Action on the Small Business Statement After Public Hearing and 

Proposed Amendments to Hawaii Administrative Rules (HAR) Title 12 Subchapter 
46, Department of Labor and Industrial Relations – Civil Rights Commission, 
promulgated by Department of Labor and Industrial Relations – Civil Rights 
Commission – Discussion Leader – Mary Albitz 

 
IV. New Business 

 
A. Discussion and Action on the Small Business Impact Statement and Proposed New 

Rules and Regulations Relating to the Use of Parks and Park Facilities by Peddlers 
and Concessionaires, Part VI – Rules and Regulations Governing the Operation of 
Concessionaires at the Spouting Horn Park, promulgated by County of Kauai, 
Department of Parks and Recreation – Discussion Leader – Jonathan Shick  

 
V. Administrative Matters 

A. Update on the Board’s Upcoming Advocacy Activities and Programs in accordance 
with the Board’s Powers under Section 201M-5, Hawaii Revised Statutes (HRS) 

1. Update on Business Revitalization Taskforce’s most recent meeting pursuant 
to Act 142 (Sessions Law Hawaii 2024, Senate Bill 2974 Relating to 
Economic Development) – Mandates that the Department of Business, 
Economic Development, and Tourism establish a task force in order to 
identify methods to improve Hawaii’s general economic Competitiveness and 
business climate, including the mitigations of regulatory and tax burdens 

2. Review of Board’s Proposed 2025 – 2026 Strategic Goals and Discussion and 
Action on Upcoming 3–5 Year Plan 

3. Update and Discussion on Becker Communications Inc., regarding the 
Board’s Small Business Outreach 

4. Presentations to Industry Associations 
5. Staff’s Small Business Outreach 

 
VI. Next Meeting:  Thursday, February 20, 2025 at 10:00 a.m., held via Zoom and at 250 

South Hotel Street – Capitol Modern Building, Conference Room 436, Honolulu, HI  
96813 

 
VII. Adjournment 

 

If you need an auxiliary aid/service or other accommodation due to a disability, contact Jet’aime 
Ariola at 808 798-0737 and jetaime.k.ariola@hawaii.gov as soon as possible, preferably at least 
three (3) working days prior to the meeting.  Requests made as early as possible have a greater 

likelihood of being fulfilled.   
Upon request, this notice is available in alternate/accessible formats. 

 



II. Approval of December 12, 2024 Meeting 
 Minutes 
 



1 
 

    Approved: ______________________________ 

 
Small Business Regulatory Review Board 

 
MEETING MINUTES - DRAFT 
December 12, 2024 
 

I. CALL TO ORDER: Chair Shick called the meeting to order at 10:05 a.m., with a quorum 
present.    

STAFF: DBEDT                    Office of the Attorney General 
    Jet’aime Ariola 
 Dori Palcovich 

      Alison Kato 

  

II. APPROVAL OF November 21, 2024 MINUTES  
 
Vice Chair Albitz motioned to approve the November 21, 2024 meeting minutes, as 
presented.  Mr. Cundiff seconded the motion, and the Board members unanimously agreed.    
 
III. OLD BUSINESS 

 
A. Discussion and Action on the Small Business Statement After Public Hearing and 

Proposed Amendments to HAR Title 13 Chapter 325 General Provisions and 326 
Control and Eradication of Invasive Species, promulgated by Department of Land 
and Natural Resources (DLNR) 
 

Ms. Chelsea Arnott, Program Supervisor from DLNR’s Hawaii Invasive Species Council 
(HISC) provided a short history of the proposed rules and explained that the rule proposal 
allows HISC, after notice to departments, counties or agents, to access private property to 
control or eradicate invasive species identified by the HISC. 
 
The hybrid statewide public hearing was held on September 25, 2024; subsequently, HISC 
proposed to adopt the proposed rules with recommendations.  A total of 8 oral testimonies 
and 7 written testimonies were received at the hearing; 3 people provided oral testimony in 
person and 5 provided oral testimony on-line via Zoom. 
 

 
MEMBERS PRESENT: 
 Jonathan Shick, Chair 
 Mary Albitz, Vice Chair 
 Robert Cundiff 
 Garth Yamanaka 
 James (Kimo) Lee 
 Nikki Ige 
 Dr. Jennifer Salisbury 
 Mark Ritchie 
 

       
ABSENT MEMBERS: 
 Sanford Morioka, 2nd 

Vice Chair 
 Tessa Gomes 

 
 
 
 

 



 

2 
 

All testimonies were in support of the proposed rules, with the exception of one testifier who 
did not identify either support or opposition.  Two individuals suggested changes to the list of 
species identified by the Council for control or eradication; as a result, removal of 3 of the 
listed species was proposed.  The final changes also include minor non-substantive edits 
suggested by the Governor’s Office for clarity. 
 
Mr. Nate Dube, Manager with the Oahu Invasive Species Committee, testified that the 
proposed rules are very important to the State for both eradicating and controlling various 
invasive species.  In response to the Board’s questions, Ms. Arnott concurred that there are 
no notable adverse effects to small business; instead, the proposed changes ultimately 
support small businesses.  Also noted was that the rules do not address deportation of 
invasive species. 

 
Mr. Ritchie motioned to pass the rules on to the Governor for adoption.  Mr. Cundiff 
seconded the motion, and the Board members unanimously agreed. 

 
B. Discussion and Action on the Small Business Statement After Public Hearing and 

Proposed Amendments to HAR Title 18 Chapter 235 Income Tax Low Subchapter 
3 Individual Tax Law, promulgated by Department of Taxation (DoTax) 

 
Administrative Rules Specialist Mr. Garison Kurth explained that two people attended the 
public hearing, which was held on November 19, 2024; there were no written comments.  
One testifier inquired about tax form HW-4 and was advised that changes to this form will be 
made after the final rule amendments are adopted.   
 
As stated by discussion leader Mr. Yamanaka, the proposed rules are straight-forward and 
intended to lessen the amount of refunds at the end of the tax year.  Based on the current 
wording of the rules, DoTax will need to come before this Board each year with the 
appropriate proposed tax changes.  
 
Ms. Ige motioned to pass the rules on to the Governor for adoption.  Dr. Salisbury seconded 
the motion, and the Board members unanimously agreed. 

 
C. Discussion and Action on the Small Business Statement After Public Hearing and 

Proposed Amendments to HAR Title 11 Chapter 280.1, Underground Storage 
Tanks, promulgated by Department of Health (DOH) 

 
Discussion leader and Vice Chair Albitz noted that there were no small business comments 
made at the public hearing; she introduced DOH Planner Ms. Noa Klein to discuss what 
occurred at the recent public hearing. 

 
Ms. Klein explained that small businesses had an opportunity to comment on the revisions 
from April 1 to May 1, 2024, and at the September 12, 2024 public hearing.  However, no 
recommendations from small businesses were received or incorporated into the proposed 
rules.  Eleven people attended the public hearing; 2 testified and 2 provided written 
comments. 
 



 

3 
 

The subject rules regulate the installation and operation of underground storage tank 
systems (UST) and the cleanup of releases from the UST systems.  Tank system owners 
and operators are required to clean-up releases and remediate contaminated soil, 
groundwater, and surface water to a level that is protective of human health and the 
environment.   
 
Specifically, the major proposed rule changes include two new contaminants and clarifies 
non-substantive changes that pertain to release detection methods for piping of certain UST 
systems. 
 
Ms. Klein noted that most UST system sites are gasoline service stations, but the subject 
chapter also regulates other types of UST systems, including systems storing fuel for 
emergency generators at sites such as hospitals, airport hydrant systems that dispense jet 
fuel, and large field-constructed tank systems.  In response to an inquiry about the rule’s 
impact on businesses, Ms. Klein stated that the rules should not impact small businesses but 
may impact gas stations if there is an underground contaminated release. 

 
Chair Shick motioned to pass the rules on to the Governor for adoption.  Vice Chair Albitz 
seconded the motion, and the Board members unanimously agreed. 

 
IV. ADMINISTRATIVE MATTERS  

 
A. Update on the Board’s Upcoming Advocacy Activities and Programs in accordance 

with the Board’s Powers under Section 201M-5, Hawaii Revised Statutes (HRS) 
 

1. Discussion on the Business Revitalization Taskforce’s December 10, 2024 
meeting pursuant to Act 142 (Sessions Law Hawaii 2024, Senate Bill 2974  
Relating to Economic Development, and Tourism establish a task force in  
order to identify methods to improve Hawaii’s general economic  
competitiveness and business climate, including the mitigations of regulatory tax 
burdens 
 
Mr. Yamanaka, this Board’s taskforce representative, attended the first meeting  
held on December 10, 2024 where members were introduced.  Mr. Dennis Lin,  
Deputy Director of Research and Development at the County of Hawaii, was  
voted in as the Chair of the task force.  Ms. Sherry Menor-McNamara, President of 
Hawaii Chamber of Commerce, was voted in as the Vice Chair. 
 
The taskforce’s course of action will be to create different committees that will work  
on specific topics with the hopes of avoiding any overlap or duplicity so that all 
members will be able to work in unison.  The next meeting has not yet been  
scheduled. 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

4 
 

2. Review and Update of Board’s “Discussion Leader Assignments” for the State  
and County Agencies’ Hawaii Administrative Rules 

 
Ms. Ige motioned to update and adopt the Board’s discussion leader  
assignments as outlined below.  Vice Chair Albitz seconded the motion,  
and the Board members unanimously agreed. 
 
Board’s Updated Discussion Leader Assignments 
 
Department of Defense – Dr. Salisbury / Back-up – Mr. Ritchie 
County of Maui – Dr. Salisbury / Back-up – Vice Chair Albitz 
County of Kauai – Nikki Ige / Back-up – Chair Jonathan Shick 
Department of Education – Mr. Cundiff / Back-up – Dr. Salisbury 
Department of Human Resources Development – Sanford Morioka /  

Back-up – Dr. Salisbury 
Department of Land & Natural Resources – Jonathan Shick /  

Back-up – Dr. Salisbury 
 

3. Review of the Board’s 2023–2024 Strategic Goals and Discussion and Action on 
Upcoming 3 – 5 Year Plan 

 
Board members reviewed the 2023-2024 strategic goals that Mr. Cundiff previously 
established.  When the goals were created, the intent was to establish  
a roadmap for moving forward.  Improvements to the initial goals include the  
Board’s new website and the increased outreach to the business community.  Mr. 
Cundiff added that there is a need to continue working with the industries as well  
as setting up meetings with agency heads. 
 
It was agreed that holding a board meeting in 2025 on a neighbor island would 
be ideal as an upcoming goal.  Ms. Ariola added that targeting a neighbor island  

      location that has the same technology capabilities the Board is currently using,  
and that is physically open to the public, would be ideal.  Chair Shick suggested  
that members Vice Chair Albitz and Dr. Salisbury take the lead on this and  
coordinate finding an appropriate venue in Maui for an upcoming meeting.  It was  
noted that UH Maui has several tech classes that would be conducive for the 
board’s meeting. 
 
Ms. Ige questioned how this Board measures its effectiveness as it relates  
to strategy.  Although the Board, as a business advocate, reviews and questions  
the impact of rules from a small business perspective, she enquired as to how often 
small businesses approach this Board and request assistance.  2:14  
 
Ms. Ariola responded to Ms. Ige’s concerns by reminding the Board that, in the  
past, small businesses, i.e., manta ray tourist owners and Uber and Lift drivers,  
approached this Board because they needed the Board’s assistance with state 
department of transportation rules.  She added that it is a matter of small  
businesses approaching this Board with rule concerns versus this Board  
approaching the small businesses when the need arises. 



 

5 
 

 
Chair Shick stated that although there is a statutory ability for small businesses  
to come before this Board with regulatory issues and concerns, it has been  
minimal.  However, it is this Board’s responsibility to understand what rights and  
what tools the Hawaii small businesses have and how to utilize this Board when  
appropriate situations arise. 
 
Mr. Cundiff noted that because this Board is advisory and only covers rules  
and regulations by state and county agencies, it is difficult to place metrics  
around performance.  Further, the Board’s “regulation for review” is a good  
mechanism where small business owners have an ability to bring regulatory  
concerns to the Board directly through its current, updated website which now  
offers an easy format to utilize.    
 
Vice Chair Albitz added that she has done a lot of presentations on the various 
islands.  However, because the Board only covers rules, there are limitations as  
the Board is unable to help businesses with regulations that are either a statute  
or an ordinance. 
 
Mr. Ritchie stated that tapping into the business trade agencies can be  
very effective because of the large number of businesses that make up these  
agencies.  Ms. Ariola reminded the members that there is a letter from this Board  
to the chambers and trade associations that is updated, emailed and post-mailed  
each year in January. 
 
DBEDT staff will update the existing strategic plan for 2025 – 2026 with the  
information that was discussed today. 
 

4. Update and Discussion on Becker Communications, Inc., regarding the Board’s  
Small Business Outreach 
 
Ms. Ariola stated that Becker Communications has been doing an  
exceptionally good job since it took over the full range of this Board’s social  
media communications.  Becker revamped the Board’s Facebook, Twitter and  
Instagram accounts, and every month, DBEDT’s monthly newsletter is linked  
to this Board’s website.     
 
Ms. Ariola announced that Becker is still waiting for the following bios to include in its 
social media communications: Ms. Gomes  
 

5. Presentations to Industry Associations 
 
Chair Shick will be co-chairing the student ambassador and scholarship committee for 
the Construction Management Association.  Although he is unsure  
as to what possible opportunities may arise for this Board, he will find out as he  
is attending the first committee meeting being held today. 
 

6. Staff’s Small Business Outreach  



 

6 
 

   
There are no updates since the November meeting. 
 
Ms. Ariola suggested that for the upcoming board meetings in 2025, which will  
now be held at the Capitol Modern Building in conference room 436, to please  
use the Ewa wing elevator (right-side) due to the building’s management  
locking the Diamond Head wing elevator.  
 

V. NEXT MEETING – Thursday, January 16, 2025 at 10:00 a.m., via Zoom and in 
Conference room 436 at Capitol Modern Building, 250 S. Hotel Street, Honolulu, HI 
96813. 
 

VI. ADJOURNMENT – Vice Chair Albitz motioned to adjourn the meeting and Ms. Ige 
seconded the motion; the meeting adjourned at 11:25 a.m.                



 
 
 
 
 
 
    III.     Old Business 

A. Discussion and Action on the Small Business 
Statement After Public Hearing and Proposed 
Amendments to HAR Title 12 Subchapter 46, 
Department of Labor and Industrial Relations 
– Civil Rights Commission, promulgated by 
Department of Labor and Industrial Relations 
– Civil Rights Commission 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 





Small Business Statement after Public Hearing - Page 2 

-

REVISED 



Attachment to Post-Hearing Impact Statement 
Page 1 of 3 
 
December 19, 2024  
 
Atachment to Post-Public Hearing Small Business Impact Statement to the Small Business Regulatory 
Review Board, from the Hawai‘i Civil Rights Commission (HCRC). 
 

A. Statement of the topic of the proposed rules with a general descrip�on of the subjects 
involved 
 
The HCRC is amending its administra�ve rules to clarify defini�ons of terms, HCRC administra�ve 
procedure, and areas of jurisdic�on.  Many of the proposed amended defini�ons are to conform 
with the statutory defini�ons/within the administra�ve rules itself, or to conform to other 
divisions within the Department of Labor & Industrial Rela�ons (i.e. defini�on of “employment”) 
to reduce confusion.   
 
Amended defini�ons are Ancestry, Employment, Sex, Arrest and Court Record, Convic�on, 
Domes�c or sexual violence vic�m, Final order or Final Decision, Gender iden�ty or expression, 
Harassment, Protected basis, and Sexual Orienta�on.  The proposed defini�on of “employment” 
is nearly iden�cal to defini�ons used by Temporary Disability Insurance (TDI), Prepaid Healthcare 
Act, (HAR §§ 12-11-1, 12-12-1, respec�vely), and Unemployment Insurance in HRS § 383-6.   
 
Amended sec�ons for “sex discrimina�on” to update gender-based terms and to conform with 
the federal pregnant workers’ fairness act; “ancestry discrimina�on” for clarifica�on in the 
language discrimina�on sec�on; and “disability discrimina�on sec�on” to add reference to 
registered cannabis users with a disability. 

 
V.  List of organiza�ons, agencies, groups, and individuals contacted by HCRC (September through 
October 2024) 

 
1. Society for Human Resource Management (SHRM) 
2. Chamber of Commerce Hawaii 
3. Hawaii Island Chamber of Commerce  
4. Hawaii Business Roundtable 
5. Maui Chamber of Commerce 
6. Kauai Chamber of Commerce  
7. Hawaii Small Business Development Center 
8. Musicians Associa�on of Hawaii 
9. Hawaii Nurses Associa�on 
10. Hawaii Government Employee Associa�on (HGEA) 
11. Retail Merchants of Hawaii 
12. Hawaii’s Hospitality and Healthcare Union (local 5) 
13. Legal Aid Society of Hawaii 
14. Disability Communica�on and Access Board 
15. Office of Language Access 
16. C. Cole (individual) 
17. University of Hawai‘i Systems 
18. American Civil Liber�es Hawaii (ACLU Hawaii) 
19. W. Hoshijo (individual) 

AriolaJK
Received



Attachment to Post-Hearing Impact Statement 
Page 2 of 3 
 

20. P. Fritz (individual) 
21. Hawaii Workers Center 
22. Hawaii Women’s Legal Founda�on 
23. Hawaii State Commission on the status of Women 
24. Hawaii LGBT Legacy 
25. Hawaii Health & Harm Reduc�on center 
26. Hawaii Nurses and Healthcare Professionals 
27. Hawaii Teamsters (local 996) 
28. Council on Na�ve Hawaii Advancement 
29. Office of Hawaiian Affairs 

 
VI.5. Proposed changes affec�ng small businesses & comments: 
 

There was a request made at the hearing to change the proposed rule in a way that would affect 
small businesses because it would impact all businesses that are subject to Hawaii’s 
nondiscrimina�on law, which covers employers with one or more employees.  Two writen 
comments suggested the following changes to HAR § 12-46-187, which opposi�on targeted 
reasonable accommoda�ons for individuals with disabili�es who use medical cannabis: 

 
• Request for the addi�on of the following sentence: 

“Any person tes�ng posi�ve for any Federal Schedule 1 drug, holding a Commercial 
Driver’s License/Commercial Motor Vehicle License, shall be prohibited from opera�ng a 
Commercial Motor Vehicle, in the interest of Public Safety”. 

 
• Request for the addi�on of the following sentence (requested changes underlined): 

“Nothing in this subsec�on shall be construed to require the employer to make an 
accommoda�on for the possession or use of drugs prohibited under state law, or if such 
accommoda�on would cause the employer to violate federal licensing requirements or 
federal regula�ons, or to lose a federal contract or funding.” 

 
 The requested changes were not adopted.  The first requested change was not adopted because 
it was narrowly worded and does not account for possible future rescheduling of medical cannabis at the 
federal level.  The U.S. Department of Jus�ce is currently proposing to reschedule marijuana from 
Schedule I to Schedule III.1 
 

The second requested change was not adopted because it did not fully address all the concerns 
raised by the writen and oral tes�mony.  Instead, post-hearing proposed changes (in red) were made by 
the HCRC based on the comments received: 

 
§12-46-187  Failure to make reasonable accommodation[.], 
Interactive process.  (a)  It is unlawful for an 
employer or other covered entity not to make reasonable 
accommodation to the known physical or mental 
limitations of an applicant or employee with a 
disability who is otherwise qualified, unless such 

 
1 htps://www.jus�ce.gov/opa/pr/jus�ce-department-submits-proposed-regula�on-reschedule-marijuana  

https://www.justice.gov/opa/pr/justice-department-submits-proposed-regulation-reschedule-marijuana


Attachment to Post-Hearing Impact Statement 
Page 3 of 3 
 

employer or entity can demonstrate that the 
accommodation would impose an undue hardship on the 
operation of its business.  An employee does not have to 
specifically request a "reasonable accommodation", but 
must only let the employer know that some adjustment or 
change to the employer’s workspace or the employer’s 
policies, such as leave, zero-tolerance, or drug testing 
policies, including but not limited to tests for medical 
cannabis, is needed by the employee to do a job because 
of limitations caused by a disability.  Nothing in this 
subsection shall be construed to require the employer to 
make an accommodation for the possession or use of drugs 
prohibited under state law, or require an employer to 
make an accommodation that would conflict with specific 
activities permitted under HAR §12-46-192. 

 
 HAR § 12-46-192(a)(1) states that employers are specifically permited to prohibit the illegal use 
of drugs and consump�on of alcohol at the workplace.  Subsec�on (a)(2) prohibits being under the 
influence of illegal drugs at the workplace.  Addi�onally, HAR § 12-46-192(a)(5) specifically states that 
employers are allowed to require their employees “employed in an industry subject to such regula�ons 
comply with the standards established in the regula�ons (if any) of federal agencies[.]” By referencing 
HAR § 12-46-192, it informs employers and employees where to look for specific ac�vi�es permited 
under the administra�ve rules.   
 

The proposed amendments state that this sec�on would not require an employer to violate state 
law.  Under the State’s Uniform Controlled Substances Act, found in Chapter 329, HRS, unauthorized use 
of medical cannabis includes use at the workplace, and if use endangers the health or well-being of 
another person.  Noncompliance with the State’s medical cannabis law is unlawful use of cannabis, and 
therefore, an illegal use of the drug.  This is in line with the exis�ng HAR administra�ve rules found in 
HAR § 12-46-192. 



4 

Director Thielen replied that the promulgation of the rules has been going on for about two 
years with much outreach and discussion of the proposal with community input.  She 
recognizes that the proposed rules will not make 100% of the stakeholders happy, but she 
believes DPR has found the right balance and an improvement from the existing rules and 
also provides better clarity. 

In regard to the small businesses operating in every event except surf quotas, there is zero 
impact as indicated by Director Thielen.  For events outside of the North or South Shores, 
there is also zero impact.  However, there is minor impact for the small businesses operating 
surf meets on the North Shore.  For example: 1) it changes the calendar from the calendar 
year to the surf calendar, which is likely to be a positive impact; and 2) it improves the clarity 
as to how the applications are ranked.  Additionally, a neutral change affecting small 
businesses is that now DPR is requiring an “after” event report; another change is that every 
applicant/application will be ranked. 

Second Vice Chair Shick motioned to move the proposed rules to public hearing with the 
caveat that prudent outreach is performed with the impacted stakeholders.  Mr. Yamanaka 
seconded the motion, and the Board members unanimously agreed. 

B. Discussion and Action on Proposed Amendments to HAR Title 12 Chapter 46,
Civil Rights Commission, promulgated by Department of Labor and Industrial
(DLIR) Relations Civil Rights Commission

Ms. Robin Wurtzel, Chief Council at DLIR’s attached enforcement agency, Civil Rights 
Commission, explained that the Commission receives complaints primarily for alleged 
discrimination, public accommodations, and employment practices.  Most of the 
Commission’s rules affect small business as it relates to employment issues.   

A majority of the proposed changes to the rules are non-substantive in nature with the 
exception of two problematic definitions, employment and harassment.  In regard to 
employment, which applies to this Board, the small businesses employing one or more 
persons must comply with non-discrimination statutes and rules in regard to the proposed 
changes of the definition of employment, which is defined by case law (Santiago).   

The proposed definition is also in contrast to the definition of “independent contractor” and is 
consistent with similar rules enforced by DLIR such as in the Unemployment rules.  Ms. 
Wurtzel believes this proposal is easier for small businesses to understand.  

Vice Chair Cundiff commented that he would be interested in getting clarification from the 
Chamber of Commerce, due to its interaction and support of small businesses, for its 
reasoning to suggest a longer definition to “employment.”  He is also interested in 
understanding what ways the Commission’s proposed definition would impact small business.  
Ms. Wurtzel responded that previously the Chamber of Commerce met in-person with the 
Commission and addressed every proposed amendment.  She will keep in mind the 
Chamber’s concerns with the employment definition throughout rule review process. 

MEETING MINUTES July 20, 2023 

AriolaJK
Highlight



5 
 

Mr. Ritchie motioned to move the proposed rules to public hearing.  Second Vice Chair Shick 
seconded the motion, and the Board members unanimously agreed. 

C. Discussion and Action on Proposed Amendments to HAR Title 16 Chapter 39, 
Securities, promulgated by Department of Commerce and Consumer Affairs 
(DCCA)  

 
Discussion leader Mr. Lee did not perceive the proposed rule changes to have a significant 
small business impact.  Mr. Keola Fong, Securities Enforcement Attorney at DCCA’s 
Commissioner of Securities of the State of Hawaii, explained that the only small businesses 
that will be required to comply with the rule proposal are those that are owned by or employ 
an individual registered or required to be registered with the Commissioner as investment 
adviser representatives in Hawaii.   
 
While he believes that the rule’s impact will be relatively low, any adverse effects will include 
an additional registration requirement, mandatory continuing education courses, and an 
individual’s related time and costs to maintain his/her registration as an investment adviser 
representative in Hawaii.   
 
While some of the courses offered by NASAA (North American Securities Administrators 
Association) are free, a small business’ direct costs would include $36.00 per year for annual 
reporting fees and the actual cost of the specific course selected by the investment adviser 
representative to satisfy the mandatory continuing education requirement.  However, it was 
noted that the numerous benefits that will flow to Hawaii investors by the adoption of this 
newly proposed rule would significantly outweigh the time and costs associated with the 
additional registration requirement for investment advisor representatives. 
 
Since NASAA implemented the proposed requirements back in 2020, ten states have 
adopted these practices; two are in the process, with Hawaii being the thirteenth state 
subject to these educational course requirements.   
 
Several stakeholders were contacted to obtain preliminary feedback.  Aside from one 
individual, who expressed his disagreement with the proposal but did not indicate whether he 
owned or worked for a small business nor did he provide any recommendations or 
suggestions, all of the stakeholders were in support of the proposal.   
   
Vice Chair Cundiff motioned to move the proposed rules to public hearing.  Mr. Ritchie 
seconded the motion, and the Board members unanimously agreed. 

 
D. Discussion and Action on Proposed New HAR Title 13 Chapter 60.11, Kipahulu 

Community-Based Subsistence Fishing Area, Maui, promulgated by Department 
of Land and Natural Resources (DLNR)  

 
Discussion leader and Second Vice Chair Shick stated that DLNR’s proposal appears very 
straight-forward and has an overall minor impact.  Mr. David Sakoda, Fisheries Program 
Manager at DLNR’s Division of Aquatic Resources (DAR), explained that this is a new rule to 
establish a marine-managed fishing area in Kipahulu, located in eastern Maui and is about 
2.6 square miles of ocean area.  DAR is not quite sure what all the potential impacts would be 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-1 

 
 
 

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS 
 

Amendment and Compilation of Chapter 12-46  
Hawaii Administrative Rules 

 
July 17, 2024 

 
The Hawaiʻi Civil Rights Commission has not identified 

any Native Hawaiian right or practice that will be 
implicated in the proposed amendments of these rules. 

 
SUMMARY 

 
1. §12-46-1 is amended and compiled. 
 
2. §§12-46-2 to 12-46-4 are compiled. 
 
3. §§12-46-5 to 12-45-6.1 are amended and compiled. 
 
4. §§12-46-7 to 12-46-8 are compiled. 

 
5. §§12-46-9 is amended and compiled. 

 
6. §12-46-10 is compiled. 
 
7. §§12-46-11 is amended and compiled. 
 
8. §§12-46-12 to 12-46-13 are compiled. 
 
9. §§12-46-14 is amended and compiled. 

 
10. §§12-46-15 is compiled. 
 
11. §12-46-16 is amended and compiled. 
 
12. §§12-46-17 to 12-46-20 are compiled. 

 
13. §12-46-21 is amended and compiled. 
 
14. §§12-46-22 to 12-46-26 are compiled. 

AriolaJK
Received



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-2 

 
 
 

 
15. §§12-46-27 to 12-46-28 are amended and compiled. 
 
16. §§12-46-29 to 12-46-30 are compiled. 
 
17. §12-46-31 is amended and compiled. 
 
18. §§12-46-32 to 12-46-36 are compiled. 

 
19. §§12-46-37 is amended and compiled. 
 
20. §§ 12-46-38 to 12-46-49 are compiled. 

 
21. §§12-46-50 is amended and compiled. 

 
22. §§ 12-46-51 to 12-46-100 are compiled. 

 
23. §12-46-101 to §12-46-103 are amended and 

compiled. 
 

24. §12-46-104 is compiled. 
 
25. §§12-46-105 to 12-46-108 are amended and 

compiled. 
 
26. §§12-46-109 to 12-46-110 are compiled. 

 
27. §12-46-111 is amended and compiled. 

 
28. §§12-46-121 to 12-46-170 are compiled. 

 
29. §12-46-171 is amended and compiled.  

 
30. §§12-46-172 to 12-46-173 are compiled. 
 
31. §12-46-174 is amended and compiled. 
 
32. §§12-46-175 to 12-46-180 are compiled. 

 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-3 

 
 
 

33. §12-46-181 to §12-46-182 are amended and 
compiled. 
 

34. §§12-46-183 to 12-46-186 are compiled. 
 

35. §12-46-187 is amended and compiled. 
 

36. §§12-46-188 to 12-46-301 are compiled. 
 
37. §12-46-302 is amended and compiled. 
 
38. §§12-46-303 to 12-46-318 are compiled. 

 
 

  



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-4 

 
 
 

Amendment and Compilation of Chapter 12-46 
Hawaii Administrative Rules 

 
July 17, 2024 

 
1. Title 12 Chapter 46, Hawaii Administrative 

Rules, entitled "Department of Labor and Industrial 
Relations Civil Rights Commission", is amended and 
compiled to read as follows: 

 
 "HAWAII ADMINISTRATIVE RULES 

 
TITLE 12 

 
DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS 

 
CHAPTER 46 

 
CIVIL RIGHTS COMMISSION 

 
  Subchapter 1 Procedure on Complaints 
 
§12-46-1 Definitions 
§12-46-2 Purpose 
§12-46-3 Computation of time 
§12-46-4 General inquiry 
§12-46-5 Filing of complaint 
§12-46-6 Contents of complaint 
§12-46-6.1 Amendments  
§12-46-7 Service of complaint 
§12-46-8 Withdrawal of complaint 
§12-46-9 Deferral of complaints filed with EEOC 
§12-46-10 Jurisdiction over complaints filed with 

commission 
§12-46-11 Dismissal of complaint 
§12-46-12 Investigation, fact-finding conference, and 

discovery 
§12-46-13 Predetermination settlement 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-5 

 
 
 

§12-46-14 Notice of Determination, conference, 
conciliation, and persuasion 

§12-46-15 Conciliation agreement 
§12-46-16 Compliance review and reports 
§12-46-17 Demand letter 
§12-46-18 Commencement of proceedings before hearings 

examiner 
§12-46-19 Scheduling conference 
§12-46-20 Notice of right to sue 
§12-46-21 Record keeping requirements 
§12-46-22 Representation by counsel 
§12-46-23 Individual representing party 
§12-46-24 Substitution of parties 
§12-46-25 Intervention 
§12-46-26  Consolidation 
§12-46-27  Format and certification of pleadings 
§12-46-28  Service, generally 
§12-46-29  Service by whom 
§12-46-30  Extensions of time  
§12-46-31  Motions 
§12-46-32  Powers of the hearings examiner in 

conducting hearing 
§12-46-33  Subpoenas 
§12-46-34  Absence of hearings examiner 
§12-46-35  Disqualification of hearings examiner or 

commissioner 
§12-46-36  Evidence at hearing 
§12-46-37  Decision, generally  
§12-46-38  Motion for reconsideration 
§12-46-39  Judicial review 
§12-46-40  Ex parte communications 
§12-46-41  Disclosure 
§12-46-42  Prehearing conference 
§12-46-43  Testimony at hearing 
§12-46-44  Record of hearing 
§12-46-45  Notice of hearing 
§12-46-46  Hearings 
§12-46-47  Procedure at hearing 
§12-46-48  Motion to dismiss 
§12-46-49  Taking of further evidence 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-6 

 
 
 

§12-46-50  Proposed findings of fact and conclusions 
of law 

§12-46-51 Proposed Decision 
§12-46-52  Service of proposed decision 
§12-46-53  Decision, exceptions 
§12-46-54  Statement in support of decision 
§12-46-55  Transmittal to commission 
§12-46-56  Argument on written exceptions 
§12-46-57  No written exceptions 
§12-46-58 Savings clause 
§§12-46-59 to 12-46-60 (Reserved) 
 
 Subchapter 2 Declaratory Relief 
 
§12-46-61  Contents of petition for declaratory relief 
§12-46-62  Memorandum of authorities in support of 

petition 
§12-46-63  Disposition of petition 
§12-46-64  Parties 
§12-46-65  Memorandum in opposition 
§12-46-66  Intervention and intervenor's memorandum of 

authorities 
§12-46-67  Request for additional facts or 

supplemental memorandum 
§12-46-68  Notice of argument 
§12-46-69  Argument 
§12-46-70  Material issue of fact, public interest 
§12-46-71  Proposed findings of fact and conclusions 

of law 
§12-46-72  Commission's decision 
§12-46-73  Hearing Examiner's Decision 
§12-46-74  Commission's action on proposed decisions 
§12-46-75  Order, effect 
§§12-46-76 to 12-46-80 (Reserved) 
 

Subchapter 3 Rule Relief 
 
§12-46-81  Contents of petition for rule relief 
§12-46-82  Disposition 
§12-46-83  Notice of determination 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-7 

 
 
 

§12-46-84  Determination final 
§12-46-85  Additional facts or supplemental memorandum 
§12-46-86  Public hearing 
§12-46-87  Notice of public hearing 
§12-46-88  Procedure at public hearing 
§12-46-89  Transcript of the testimony 
§12-46-90  Decision 
§12-46-91  No restriction on commission 
§§12-46-92 to 12-46-100 (Reserved) 
 
 Subchapter 4 Sex Discrimination 
 
§12-46-101 General provisions 
§12-46-102 Bona fide occupational qualification (BFOQ) 
§12-46-103 Pre-employment practices 
§12-46-104 Employee selection 
§12-46-105 Terms, conditions, and privileges of 

employment 
§12-46-106 Pregnancy, childbirth, and related medical 

conditions; general policy 
§12-46-107 Hiring, retention, and accommodation of 

pregnant individuals 
§12-46-108 Leave due to pregnancy, childbirth, or 

related medical conditions 
§12-46-109 Sexual harassment 
§12-46-110 Employment agencies 
§12-46-111 Labor organizations 
§§12-46-112 to 12-46-120 (Reserved) 
 

Subchapter 5 Marital Status Discrimination 
 
§12-46-121 General Policy 
§12-46-122 Bona fide occupational qualification (BFOQ) 
§12-46-123 Pre-employment practices and policies 
§12-46-124 Employee selection 
§12-46-125 Terms, conditions, and privileges of 

employment 
§§12-46-126 to 12-46-130 (Reserved) 
 

Subchapter 6 Age Discrimination 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-8 

 
 
 

 
§12-46-131 General policy 
§12-46-132 Bona fide occupational qualification (BFOQ) 
§12-46-133 Pre-employment practices and policies 
§12-46-134 Employee selection 
§12-46-135 Physical or medical examination of 

applicants and employees 
§12-46-136 Bona fide employee benefit plan 
§12-46-137 Prohibition of mandatory retirement 
§12-46-138 Bona fide seniority systems 
§12-46-139 Reduction in force 
§§12-46-140 to 12-46-150 (Reserved) 
 
 Subchapter 7 Religious Discrimination 
 
§12-46-151 General policies 
§12-46-152 Pre-employment practices  
§12-46-153 Employee selection 
§12-46-154 Reasonable accommodation 
§12-46-155 Alternatives for accommodating religious 

practices 
§12-46-156 Payment of dues to labor organization 
§12-46-157 Undue hardship 
§§12-46-158 to 12-46-170 (Reserved) 
 
 Subchapter 8 Ancestry Discrimination 
 
§12-46-171 General policies 
§12-46-172 Bona fide occupational qualification (BFOQ) 
§12-46-173 Citizenship requirements 
§12-46-174 Language 
§12-46-175 Harassment 
§12-46-176  Employee selection 
§12-46-177  Pre-employment inquiries 
§§12-46-178 to 12-46-180 (Reserved) 
 
 Subchapter 9   Disability Discrimination 
 
§12-46-181  General provisions 
§12-46-182  Definitions 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-9 

 
 
 

§12-46-183  Discrimination prohibited 
§12-46-184  Limiting, segregating, and classifying 
§12-46-185 Contractual or other arrangements 
§12-46-186 Standards, criteria, or methods of 

administration 
§12-46-187  Failure to make reasonable accommodation, 

Interactive process 
§12-46-188  Qualification standards, tests, and other 

selection criteria 
§12-46-189  Retaliation, coercion, interference, or 

intimidation 
§12-46-190  Prohibited medical examinations and 

inquiries 
§12-46-191 Medical examinations and inquiries 

specifically permitted 
§12-46-192 Specific activities permitted 
§12-46-193 Defenses 
§§12-46-194 to 12-46-300 (Reserved) 
 

Subchapter 20 Real Property Transaction 
Discrimination 

 
§12-46-301 General provisions 
§12-46-302  Definitions  
§12-46-303  Construction 
§12-46-304  Record keeping requirements 
§12-46-305  Discriminatory practices 
§12-46-306  Discrimination on the basis of disability 
§12-46-307  Discrimination on the basis of familial 

status  
§12-46-308  Discriminatory financial practices 
§12-46-309  Blockbusting 
§12-46-310  Prohibited interference, coercion, or 

intimidation 
§12-46-311  Other discriminatory practices  
§12-46-312  Restrictive covenants and conditions 
§12-46-313  Exemptions  
§12-46-314  Religious institutions 
§12-46-315  Public contractors 
§12-46-316  Responsibility for discriminatory practices 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-10 

 
 
 

§12-46-317  Causation standard  
§12-46-318  Defenses 
  



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-11 

 
 
 

SUBCHAPTER 1 
 

PROCEDURE ON COMPLAINTS 
 
 
 §12-46-1  Definitions.  As used in this chapter, 
unless the context otherwise requires: 
 "Aggrieved person" means any person who shall be 
adversely affected by an action, decision, order, or 
rule of the commission or who shall be adversely 
affected by the action or conduct of any person if the 
action or conduct is within the commission's 
jurisdiction. 
 "Ancestry" means national origin; an individual's 
or ancestor's place of origin; or the physical, 
cultural, or linguistic characteristics of an ethnic 
group, or: 
 (1) Marriage to or association with persons of 

an ancestral group; 
 (2) Membership in or association with an 

organization identified with or seeking to 
promote the interest of an ancestral group; 

 (3) Attendance or participation in schools, 
churches, temples, or mosques, generally 
used by persons of an ancestral group; or 

 (4) Because an individual's name or spouse's 
name is associated with an ancestral group. 

"Arrest and court record" shall be as defined in 
section 378-1, HRS. 
 "Attorney general" means the state attorney 
general or any deputy of the state attorney general. 
 "Because of sex" shall be as defined in section 
378-1, HRS. 
 "Bona fide retirement, pension, employee benefit, 
or insurance plan" means any plan, program, or policy 
of an employer, including any retirement, pension, or 
insurance plan, which is in writing and has been 
communicated to eligible or affected employees and 
which is not a pretext for age discrimination.  The 
plan shall have the intent and purpose of providing an 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-12 

 
 
 

employee with insurance during employment or with 
income upon retirement. 
 "Commission" means the civil rights commission 
established by sections 368-2 and 368-3, HRS. 
 "Complaint" means a written statement filed with 
the commission pursuant to this chapter and section 
368-11, HRS, alleging an unlawful discriminatory 
practice within the meaning of chapter 368 or 489 or 
515 or part I of chapter 378, HRS. 
 "Complainant" means the person who has filed a 
complaint pursuant to this chapter. 

"Conviction" means an adjudication by a court of 
competent jurisdiction that the defendant committed a 
crime. A "conviction" does not include confidential 
final judgments pursuant to section 571-84, HRS, or 
judgments such as a deferred acceptance of no contest 
plea that does not ultimately result in a conviction.  

"Declaratory relief" means the commission's 
declaration as to the applicability or non-
applicability with respect to a factual situation of 
any rule or order of the commission, or of a statute 
which the commission is required to administer or 
enforce. 
 "Demonstrates" means meets the burdens of 
production and persuasion. 

"Domestic or sexual violence victim" shall be as 
defined in section 378-1, HRS. 
 "EEOC" means the United States Equal Employment 
Opportunity Commission or any of its designated 
representatives. 
 "Employer" shall be as defined in section 378-1, 
HRS. 

"Employment" shall be as defined in section 378-
1, HRS[.], and includes services performed by an 
individual for wages or under any contract of hire 
regardless of whether the common-law relationship of 
master and servant exists unless it is shown that: 
 (l) The individual has been and will continue to 

be free from control or direction over the 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-13 

 
 
 

performance of the service, both under the 
individual's contract of hire and in fact; 

 (2) The service is either outside the usual 
course of the business for which the service 
is performed or that the service is performed 
outside of all the places of business of the 
enterprise for which the service is performed; 
and 

 (3) The individual is customarily engaged in an 
independently established trade, occupation, 
profession, or business of the same nature as 
that involved in the contract of service. 

 "Employment agency" shall be as defined in 
section 378-1, HRS. 
 "Executive director" means the executive director 
appointed by the commission pursuant to section 368-3, 
HRS, or the executive director's designee. 

"Final order" or "final decision" means an order 
issued by the commission in accordance with section 
368-2(b), HRS.  

"Gender identity or expression" shall be as 
defined in section 378-1, HRS.  

"Harassment" is defined in HAR §§ 12-46-109, 12-
46-175 and includes verbal, visual, or physical 
conduct relating to an individual’s protected basis 
set forth in chapters 368, 378 part I, 489 and 515 
HRS, when the conduct:  
 (1)  Has the purpose or effect of creating an 

intimidating, hostile, or offensive 
environment; 

 (2)  Has the purpose or effect of unreasonably 
interfering with an individual’s 
performance; or 

 (3)  Otherwise adversely affects an individual’s 
employment, access to state and state-funded 
services, or full and equal enjoyment of 
real property or public accommodation. 

 "Fringe benefits" includes medical, hospital, 
accident, life insurance and retirement benefits, 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-14 

 
 
 

profit-sharing and bonus plans, leave, and other 
terms, conditions, and privileges of employment. 
 "Hearings examiner" means a person, duly 
appointed by the commission pursuant to section 368-3, 
HRS, and authorized to hold a hearing for the purpose 
of taking evidence or oral argument and making a 
decision in any case or controversy within the 
jurisdiction of the commission. 
 "Hearings relief" means the determination by the 
commission of the legal rights, duties, or privileges 
of specific parties which are required by law to be 
determined after an opportunity for agency hearing. 
 "HRS" means Hawaii Revised Statutes. 
 "Investigating examiner" means the person 
designated by the executive director to conduct an 
investigation of a complaint. 
 "Labor organization" shall be as defined in 
section 378-1, HRS. 

"Marital status" shall be as defined in section 
378-1, HRS. 
 "Party" means the commission, if named, 
permitted, or entitled as of right to participate in a 
proceeding, each person named in a proceeding, or any 
interested or aggrieved person permitted or entitled 
as of right to participate in a proceeding before the 
commission in the capacity of a petitioner, 
complainant, respondent, intervenor, or in a capacity 
other than that of a witness. 
 "Person" means individuals, partnerships, 
corporations, associations, or public or private 
organizations of any character, other than the 
commission. 
 "Petition" means an application to the commission 
by a party which seeks relief pursuant to this 
chapter. 
 "Petitioner" means a party who files a petition 
with the commission pursuant to this chapter.     
   "Protected basis" means any category listed in 
sections 368-1.5, 378-2(a)(1), 489-3 or 515-3, HRS 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-15 

 
 
 

 "Religion" includes all aspects of religious 
observance, practice, and belief. 
 "Religious accommodation" means an affirmative 
duty to reasonably resolve a conflict resulting from 
an employee's or prospective employee's religious 
observance or practice with the terms or conditions of 
employment. 
 "Religious practice" includes moral or ethical 
beliefs, which are sincerely held with the strength of 
traditional religious views. 
 "Remedy" means any remedy in section 368-17, HRS, 
including any punitive damages award determined 
pursuant to standards prescribed by the Hawaii Supreme 
Court. 
 "Respondent" means the party against whom the 
complaint or petition is filed, the party against whom 
relief is sought, or any party who contests or 
controverts a proceeding or petition. 
 "Rule" shall have the same meaning as provided in 
section 91-1(4), HRS. 
 "Rule relief" means the adoption, modification, 
or repeal of any regulatory rule by the commission. 
 "Sex" means the state of being male or female and 
the conditions associated therewith[.], and gender 
identity or expression.  
 "Sexual orientation" shall be as defined in 
section 378-1, HRS. 

"Single" means the state of being unmarried, 
divorced, separated, or widowed. 
 "706 agency" means a state or local agency which 
the EEOC has determined satisfies the criteria stated 
in section 706(c) of Title VII (42 U.S.C. §2000e-
5(c)). 
 "Title VII" means Title VII of the Civil Rights 
Act of 1964, as amended (42 U.S.C. §2000e-17). 
 "Unlawful discriminatory practice" includes the 
term "unfair discriminatory practice," or like terms, 
as may be used in chapters 368, 489, 515, and part I 
of chapter 378, HRS.  [Eff 12/31/90; am 5/1/92; am 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-16 

 
 
 

11/4/93; am and comp   ] (Auth:  HRS §368-
3) (Imp: HRS §368-3) 
  
 
 
 §12-46-2 Purpose.  (a) This subchapter sets 
forth the procedures for the administration and 
enforcement of chapters 368, 489, 515 and part I of 
chapter 378, HRS. 
 These rules shall be liberally construed to 
accomplish the remedial purposes of these chapters.  
[Eff 12/31/90; comp    ] (Auth: HRS §368-
3) (Imp:  HRS §368-3) 
  
 
 
 §12-46-3  Computation of time.  The time in which 
any act provided by this chapter is to be done is 
computed by excluding the first day and including the 
last, unless the last day is a Saturday, Sunday, or 
holiday and then it is also excluded.  As used in this 
chapter, "holiday" includes any day designated as such 
pursuant to section 8-1, HRS.  [Eff 12/31/90; comp  
   ] (Auth: HRS §368-3) (Imp: HRS §368-3) 
 
 
 
 §12-46-4  General inquiry.  (a)  Whenever it 
appears to the commission's executive director that an 
unlawful discriminatory practice may have been 
committed, the executive director may make an inquiry 
without the filing of a complaint.  
 (b) The commission's executive director may file 
a complaint whenever the inquiry has revealed an 
unlawful discriminatory practice under chapter 368 or 
489 or 515 or part I of chapter 378, HRS. 
 (c) The information gathered in the course of an 
inquiry which occurred prior to the filing of a 
complaint may be used in processing the complaint. 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-17 

 
 
 

[Eff 12/31/90; am 5/1/92; comp   ] (Auth: 
HRS §368-3) (Imp: HRS §§368-3, 368-11) 
 
 
 
 §12-46-5  Filing of complaint.  (a)  Any person 
claiming to be aggrieved by an alleged unlawful 
discriminatory practice may file a complaint. 
 (b) The commission's executive director may file 
a complaint whenever there is reason to believe that 
any person, employer, employment agency, [or] labor 
organization, program or activity, place of public 
accommodation, or person engaging in a real estate 
transaction has engaged or is engaging in an unlawful 
discriminatory practice. 
 (c) The commission's executive director or the 
attorney general may file a complaint on behalf of a 
class where an unlawful discriminatory practice raises 
questions of law or fact which are common to the class 
and where a class action complaint is superior to 
other available methods for the fair and efficient 
adjudication of the controversy.  A complaint so filed 
may be investigated, conciliated, and litigated on a 
class basis. 
 (d) Assistance in drafting and filing complaints 
is available to complainants at the commission's 
offices. 
 (e) The complaint shall be in writing and, where 
feasible, upon forms furnished by the commission's 
executive director.  The complaint shall be signed.  
 (f) The original [and two copies of the] signed 
complaint shall be filed by personal delivery or by 
mail, addressed to the commission. 
  (g) When the complainant is unable to personally 
deliver or mail a timely original signed complaint, 
the commission may receive a facsimile copy[,] or a 
scan or image sent by electronic mail, if legible, of 
a complaint containing the information required by 
section 12-46-6. Notwithstanding the provisions of 
section 12-46-6(b), complaints are deemed filed on the 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-18 

 
 
 

date of receipt of the facsimile copy or scan or image 
sent by electronic mail if the complainant complies 
with section 12-46-5(f) within seven days of the 
receipt of the facsimile[.] or scan or image.  If the 
commission does not receive the original [and two 
copies of the] signed complaint within seven days, the 
filing date will be the date when the commission 
received [them.]the original signed complaint.  [Eff 
12/31/90; am 5/1/92; am 11/4/93; am and comp   
 ] (Auth: HRS §368-3) (Imp: HRS §368-11) 
 
 
 
 §12-46-6  Contents of complaint.  (a)  Each 
complaint shall contain the following: 
 (1) The full name, address, and telephone number 

(if any) of complainant; 
 (2) The full name, address, and telephone number 

(if any, and if known) of the respondent or 
respondents; 

 (3) A plain and concise statement of the facts 
constituting the alleged unlawful 
discriminatory practice; 

 (4) The date or dates on which the alleged 
unlawful discriminatory practice occurred; 
or if the alleged unlawful discriminatory 
practice is of a continuing nature, the 
dates between which the continuing acts of 
discrimination are alleged to have occurred; 
or the dates and acts commenced; 

 (5) If known, the approximate number of 
employees of the employer, or the 
approximate number of members of the labor 
organization, as the case may be; and 

 (6) Other information as required by the 
commission's executive director. 

 (b) Notwithstanding the provisions of subsection 
(a), the executive director deems a complaint [is 
deemed] filed if the commission receives from an 
individual a written statement sufficiently precise to 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-19 

 
 
 

identify the parties and describing with reasonable 
accuracy the action or practices alleged to be 
unlawful.  [Eff 12/31/90; am and comp   ] 
(Auth: HRS §368-3) (Imp: HRS §368-11) 
 
 
 
 §12-46-6.1  Amendments.  (a)  Prior to the 
commencement of proceedings before the hearings 
examiner, the executive director may permit the 
parties, including the Attorney General and executive 
director, to amend documents filed with the 
[Commission] commission, including a complaint or 
responsive statement.  After commencement of 
proceedings, amendments may be granted by the hearings 
examiner. 
 (b)  An amendment may be made: 

  (1)  To cure technical defects or omissions; or 
(2)  To clarify or amplify allegations, to add 

new causes of action or defenses, [or] add 
new parties[.], remove parties, or correct 
the names of parties.  

 (c)  Amendments shall relate back to the original 
filing date of the document. 
 (d) The amending party shall promptly serve upon 
the other party a copy of the amended document.  [Eff 
5/1/92  am and comp       ]; (Auth: HRS §368-3) 
(Imp: HRS §368-11) 
 
 
 
 §12-46-7  Service of complaint.  (a)  Within ten 
days after a complaint is filed with the commission, 
or within ten days after the commission receives a 
complaint on deferral from the EEOC or the United 
States Department of Housing and Urban Development, 
the commission's executive director shall serve a copy 
of the complaint on the respondent by certified mail, 
return receipt requested, or by personal delivery, 
except when it is determined by the executive director 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-20 

 
 
 

that providing a copy of the complaint would impede 
the law enforcement functions of the commission. 
 (b) Where a copy of the complaint is not 
provided, the respondent shall be served with a notice 
of the complaint, including the date, place, and 
general description of the alleged unlawful 
discriminatory practice, within ten days after filing 
of the complaint. 
 (c) Providing the respondent with a copy of the 
complaint shall be deemed to impede the law 
enforcement functions of the commission where: 

(1) The complaint names more than one 
respondent, unless the respondents are 
charged jointly; e.g., an employer and a 
union are charged with having signed a 
collective bargaining agreement which is 
discriminatory; or 

(2) The complaint names a person or persons whom 
the commission believes may suffer 
retaliation or may be construed as being 
confidential informers or potential 
confidential informers;.  

 (d) When a complaint is written and filed in a 
language other than English the commission shall 
provide for an English translation of the complaint 
which shall be served along with any copy of the 
original complaint filed with the commission. [Eff 
12/31/90; am 10/6/13; comp   ] (Auth: HRS 
§368-3) (Imp: HRS §368-11) 
 
 
 
 §12-46-8  Withdrawal of complaint.  (a)  Upon 
request of the complainant, a complaint, or any part 
thereof, may be withdrawn only if the written consent 
of the commission's executive director is obtained. 
 (b) When requesting withdrawal of a complaint, 
the complainant shall: 
 (1) Submit the request in writing; 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-21 

 
 
 

 (2) Set forth fully the reasons for the request; 
and 

 (3) Sign the request. 
 (c) The commission's executive director shall 
notify the respondent of the withdrawal.  [Eff 
12/31/90; am 5/1/92; comp    ] (Auth: HRS 
§368-3) (Imp: HRS §368-11) 
 
 
 §12-46-9  Deferral of complaints filed with EEOC.  
(a)  In accordance with section 706(c) of Title VII, 
complaints received by the EEOC alleging unlawful 
discriminatory practices concurrently regulated by 
Title VII and chapter 378, HRS, are deferred to the 
commission for a sixty-day period during which time 
the commission, as a 706 agency, has the exclusive 
right to process complaints alleging discrimination 
filed by a person other than a commissioner of the 
EEOC. 
 (b) At the expiration of the sixty-day period, 
although the commission retains jurisdiction to 
process the deferred complaint, the EEOC may begin to 
process the complaint through its own procedures. 
 (c) The commission shall follow the same 
procedures in processing deferrals as it uses in 
processing complaints originally filed with the 
commission. 
 (d) The commission may waive its right to the 
period of exclusive processing of complaints provided 
under section 706(c) of Title VII with respect to any 
complaint or category of complaints. 
 (e) A complaint initially filed with the EEOC 
and deferred to the commission in accordance with 
section 706(c) of Title VII shall be deemed filed with 
the commission as of the date the complaint was 
received by the EEOC for purposes of the statute of 
limitations set forth in Section 368-11(c), HRS, but 
shall otherwise but deemed filed with the commission 
when received by the commission.  [Eff 12/31/90; comp  



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-22 

 
 
 

  ] (Auth: HRS §368-3) (Imp: HRS §368-11; 42 
U.S.C. §2000e-5(c)) 
 
 
 
 §12-46-10  Jurisdiction over complaints filed 
with commission.  (a)  Complaints originally received 
by the commission shall be governed by the following 
procedures unless the commission has entered into an 
agreement with the EEOC that provides otherwise. 
 (b) When the complaint alleges an unlawful 
discriminatory practice over which the commission and 
the EEOC have concurrent jurisdiction, the 
commission's executive director shall: 
 (1) Furnish the appropriate district office of 

EEOC with a copy of the complaint and state 
whether the commission will investigate it 
or terminate proceedings; and 

 (2) Notify the complainant that the complaint 
has been filed with EEOC. 

 (c) Complaints over which the commission has no 
jurisdiction, but which are within the jurisdiction of 
the EEOC, shall be immediately referred to the EEOC. 
 (d) If the complaint is within the commission's 
jurisdiction but is not subject to the jurisdiction of 
the EEOC, the commission shall assume exclusive 
jurisdiction over the complaint upon receipt. [Eff 
12/31/90; comp    ] (Auth: HRS §368-3) 
(Imp: HRS §368-11; 42 U.S.C. §2000e-5(c)) 
 
 
 

§12-46-11  Dismissal of complaint.  (a) The 
executive director shall dismiss the complaint: 

(1) If it is determined that the commission does 
not have jurisdiction over the complaint; 

(2) If it is determined after investigation that 
reasonable cause does not exist to believe 
that the alleged unlawful discriminatory 
practice has been committed; 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-23 

 
 
 

(3) If either the complainant or respondent 
cannot be located; provided that reasonable 
efforts have been made to locate the 
complainant or respondent, or the 
complainant has not responded within thirty 
days to a notice sent by the commission to 
the complainant's last known address;  

(4) If the complainant has failed or is unable 
to cooperate fully in the investigation or 
conciliation of a complaint by: 
(A) Failing or refusing to provide the 

investigating examiner with requested 
information; 

(B) Failing or refusing to appear or to be 
available for interview or conferences 
as an investigating examiner deems 
necessary; or 

(C) Otherwise refusing or failing to 
cooperate, or not being able to provide 
information which a person would 
reasonably be expected to have; 
to the extent that the commission's 
executive director or investigating 
examiner is unable to resolve the 
complaint; provided that after due 
notice of the commission's executive 
director's intent to dismiss the 
complaint, the complainant has had 
thirty days in which to respond;  

(5) If the executive director determines that 
there are inadequate remedies because: 
(A) The respondent to the complaint has 

filed a petition for relief under 
Chapter VII of the Bankruptcy Code, 
Title 11 United States Code, and the 
executive director determines that 
there are insufficient assets available 
to provide relief to the complainant 
and other remedies are inappropriate; 
or 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-24 

 
 
 

(B) There is no significant monetary, 
employment, accommodation, service, 
housing, declaratory, or injunctive 
relief available to the complainant; 

(6) If the complaint has been investigated by an 
appropriate local, state, or federal 
enforcement agency, such as the EEOC, 
Department of Housing and Urban Development, 
Office for Civil Rights, or Office of 
Federal Contract Compliance Programs, and a 
final determination regarding the complaint 
has been made by the agency; 

(7) If it is determined at any time that, based 
upon the executive director's discretion, 
dismissal is justified for administrative 
reasons, such as but not limited to: 
(A) A finding of reasonable cause is no 

longer appropriate because of a 
material change in the allegations of 
the complainant or respondent; 

(B) A finding of reasonable cause is no 
longer appropriate because of a 
material change in the testimony of a 
key witness for the complainant or 
respondent; 

(C) A finding of reasonable cause is no 
longer appropriate because of a change 
in law or the discovery of new and 
material evidence;  

(D) A civil action alleging similar facts 
has been filed pursuant to section 515-
9(b), HRS; or 

(8) If the complaint or relief sought is covered 
by a court order or consent decree, or the 
respondent action complained of is required 
or authorized by a court order or consent 
decree.   

(b) The executive director may dismiss a 
complaint if the respondent has made a 
predetermination settlement offer as described in 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-25 

 
 
 

section 12-46-13, which is in writing and specific in 
its terms, and the complainant refuses to accept the 
offer; provided that the offer, as determined by the 
commission's executive director, would afford a just 
resolution for the harm alleged by the complainant and 
the complainant fails to accept the offer within 
thirty days after actual notice of the offer. 
 (c)  In the event of any dismissal of a 
complaint: 

(1) The complainant shall be notified by 
certified mail, return receipt requested, 
of: 

  (A) The reason or reasons for dismissal; 
(B) The right to sue as provided by section 

368-12 or 515-9, HRS; and  
(C) The right to request the [commission] 

executive director to reconsider the 
dismissal. 

(2) The respondent [and the commission] shall be 
notified in writing of the dismissal and the 
reasons therefor.   

 (d) The dismissal of a complaint may be 
reconsidered on the executive director's own 
initiative at any time or upon the complainant's 
written request filed within thirty days after the 
date of the receipt of the notice of disposition. 
Written notice of the reconsideration shall be 
provided by the executive director to the parties.  
[Eff 12/31/90; am 5/1/92; am 11/4/93; am 5/3/99; am 
10/6/13; am and comp   ] (Auth: HRS §368-
3) (Imp: HRS §§368-11, 368-12, 368-13, 515-9)  
 
 
 
 §12-46-12  Investigation, fact-finding 
conference, and discovery.  (a)  After the filing of a 
complaint, the executive director shall investigate 
the charges contained in the complaint.  In complaints 
alleging violations of chapter 515, HRS, 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-26 

 
 
 

investigations shall be commenced within thirty days 
after filing. 
 (b) As part of its investigation, the executive 
director may require all parties to attend a fact-
finding conference. 
 (c) The fact-finding conference is primarily for 
the purposes of: 
 (1) Ascertaining the positions of the parties; 
 (2) Identifying the issues in dispute; 
 (3) Resolving those issues that can be resolved; 
 (4) Obtaining evidence; and 
 (5) Determining the likelihood of a 

predetermination settlement.  
 (d) The commission's executive director is 
authorized to issue subpoenas for the production of 
documents or the examination of witnesses deemed 
necessary for the investigation of a complaint.  The 
executive director can require parties to provide 
written responses to a complaint and other requests 
for information or discovery, including but not 
limited to, interrogatories and requests for 
admissions or for the production of documents. 
 (e)  If a party or a witness refuses to honor a 
subpoena or if a party fails to respond to a complaint 
or discovery requests within the time allowed for such 
responses under the Hawaii Rules of Civil Procedure, 
the commission's executive director is authorized to 
file a petition for appropriate temporary relief in 
the circuit court. 
 (f)  An investigation shall be concluded within 
one hundred eighty days of the filing of a complaint 
alleging violations of chapters 368, 378, or 489, HRS, 
or within one hundred days of the filing of a 
complaint alleging violations of chapter 515, HRS; 
provided that the commission may grant an extension.  
In complaints alleging violations of chapter 515, HRS, 
complainants and respondents shall be provided written 
notice if the investigation cannot be completed within 
one hundred days.  [Eff 12/31/90; am  5/1/92; am 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-27 

 
 
 

11/4/93; comp    ]  (Auth: HRS §368-3) 
(Imp: HRS §§368-13, 515-9) 
 
 
 
 §12-46-13  Predetermination settlement.  (a)  At 
any time after the filing of a complaint, but prior to 
the issuance of a determination, the executive 
director may encourage the parties to resolve the 
complaint through a predetermination settlement. 
 (b) If the complainant and the respondent agree 
to the terms of settlement, the settlement shall be 
reduced to writing, and be signed by the parties and 
the executive director.  If approved, the case will be 
closed without a finding on the merits of the 
complaint and a copy of the final predetermination 
settlement shall be sent by certified mail, return 
receipt requested, to the complainant and the 
respondent. 
 (c) If a predetermination settlement is 
achieved, the terms thereof shall not attribute fault 
to any of the parties involved. 
 (d) The commission shall not subject either 
party to prejudice as a result of the party's either 
participating or refusing to participate in a 
predetermination settlement attempt. 
 (e) Participation by the respondent in a 
predetermination settlement attempt will not be 
construed as evidence of a violation of the applicable 
chapter or part of HRS or a waiver of the right to a 
commission determination on the issues raised by the 
complaint if a settlement cannot be achieved. 
 (f) A predetermination settlement shall not 
affect the processing of any other complaint, 
including, but not limited to, a commission initiated 
complaint or a complaint in which the allegations are 
like or related to the individual allegations settled. 
[Eff 12/31/90; am 5/1/92; comp    ] (Auth: 
HRS §368-3) (Imp: HRS §368-13) 
 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-28 

 
 
 

 
 
 §12-46-14  Notice of determination, conference, 
conciliation, and persuasion.  (a)  When the executive 
director finds reasonable cause to believe that an 
unlawful discriminatory practice has occurred or is 
occurring, the commission's executive director shall 
notify the parties of this determination.   
 (b) The executive director shall immediately 
endeavor to eliminate the unlawful discriminatory 
practice by conference, conciliation, and persuasion. 
 (c) The executive director may require any or 
all parties to attend a conciliation conference for 
the purpose of attempting to informally resolve the 
matter.  The parties shall be notified of time and 
place of the conciliation conference. 
 (d) Should a respondent fail or refuse to confer 
and otherwise cooperate with the commission's 
executive director, or fail or refuse to make a good 
faith effort to resolve any dispute, the commission's 
executive director shall terminate efforts to 
conciliate the dispute.  In that event, the 
commission's executive director shall send the 
respondent a demand letter and a proposed conciliation 
agreement in accordance with section 12-46-17.  For 
complaints alleging violations of chapter 515, HRS, 
the executive director shall also notify the parties 
in said demand letter that an election may be made to 
file a civil action in lieu of an administrative 
hearing.  [Eff 12/31/90; am 5/1/92; am 11/4/93; am and 
comp    ] (Auth: HRS §368-3) (Imp: HRS 
§§368-13, 515-9) 
 
 
 
 §12-46-15  Conciliation agreement.  (a)  In 
attempting to conciliate a case after a determination 
of reasonable cause has been made, the executive 
director shall endeavor to achieve a resolution of all 
violations found and to obtain agreement that the 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-29 

 
 
 

respondent shall eliminate the unlawful discriminatory 
practice and provide appropriate relief. 
 (b) Where conciliation efforts are successful, 
the terms of the conciliation shall be reduced to a 
written agreement which shall be signed by the parties 
and the executive director; provided that, in the 
judgment of the executive director, the agreement 
provides full and fair relief to the complainant.  A 
copy of the signed conciliation agreement shall be 
sent to the parties. 
 (c) Where the case has been referred to a 
hearings examiner, the parties shall not enter into a 
conciliation agreement without the approval of the 
commission's executive director. 
 (d) Where the complainant has refused to accept 
a proposed conciliation agreement, the commission's 
executive director and the respondent may enter into a 
conciliation agreement to which the complainant is not 
a party if the agreement does not affect the 
complainant's rights and if, in the commission's 
executive director's opinion, the agreement provides 
for: 
 (1) A just resolution of all violations found; 
 (2) The elimination of the unlawful 

discriminatory practice; and 
 (3) Appropriate affirmative action. 
In that event, the commission's executive director 
shall close the case without the complainant's 
consent, shall issue a notice of right to sue, and 
report this action to the commission.  
 (e) The commission's executive director may 
refuse to approve a conciliation agreement, even 
though the individual parties have agreed on the 
proposed terms, if the commission's executive director 
believes the remedies outlined in the agreement are 
inadequate to eliminate the unlawful discriminatory 
practice complained of or fail to provide appropriate 
affirmative action.  In that event, the case may be 
closed as having been settled on terms not approved by 
the commission's executive director and the commission 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-30 

 
 
 

need not take any action to enforce the agreement if 
its terms are violated. 
 (f) A proposed conciliation agreement shall be 
enclosed when a demand letter is sent to the 
respondent in accordance with section 12-46-17(b).   
 (g)  Any agreement which conciliates alleged 
violations of chapter 515, HRS, shall be subject to 
the approval of the commission and shall be made 
public unless the complainant and respondent otherwise 
agree and the commission determines that disclosure is 
not required to further purposes of such chapter.  
[Eff 12/31/90; am 5/1/92; am 11/4/93; comp   
 ] (Auth: HRS §368-3) (Imp: HRS §§368-12, 368-13, 
515-18) 
 
 
 
 §12-46-16  Compliance review and reports.  (a)  
Proof of a respondent's compliance with the applicable 
chapter or part of HRS in accordance with the terms of 
the predetermination settlement, conciliation 
agreement, or order shall be obtained by the 
commission's executive director [before the case is 
closed.]. 
 (b) In order to obtain proof of compliance, the 
commission's executive director may require any party 
to submit to it reports that the commission deems 
necessary to show the manner of compliance with the 
terms of the predetermination settlement, conciliation 
agreement, or order.  [Eff 12/31/90; am 5/1/92; am and 
comp                ] (Auth: HRS §368-3) (Imp: HRS 
§§368-15, 368-17) 
  
 
 
 §12-46-17  Demand letter.  (a)  If the 
commission's executive director has been unable to 
eliminate the alleged unlawful discriminatory practice 
through conference, conciliation, and persuasion 
within one hundred eighty days of the filing of a 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-31 

 
 
 

complaint alleging violations of chapters 368, 378, or 
489, HRS, or within one hundred days of the filing of 
a complaint alleging violations of chapter 515, HRS, 
or within an extended period of time granted by the 
commission, the commission's executive director shall 
terminate conciliation efforts. 
 (b) The commission's executive director, upon 
termination of conciliation efforts, shall send the 
respondent:  
 (1) A letter by certified mail, return receipt 

requested, or by personal service, demanding 
that the respondent: 

  (A) Cease and desist from engaging in the 
alleged unlawful discriminatory 
practices; and 

  (B) Take appropriate remedial action; and 
 (2) A proposed conciliation agreement, 

containing a provision requiring the 
respondent to report on the manner of 
compliance with the proposed conciliation 
agreement. 

 (c) Within fifteen days after receipt of the 
demand letter and the proposed conciliation agreement, 
the respondent shall either: 
 (1) Sign the conciliation agreement as written 

and return it to the commission; or 
 (2) Request, in writing, the continuation of 

conciliation efforts, stating in the request 
good cause why conciliation should continue.  
The commission's executive director may 
grant or deny the request. 

 (d) If the respondent does not either sign and 
return the enclosed conciliation agreement or request 
the continuation of conciliation efforts within 
fifteen days after receiving the demand letter, or if 
the respondent requests the continuation of 
conciliation efforts, yet no conciliation agreement 
can subsequently be secured, the commission's 
executive director shall find that conciliation 
efforts will not resolve the complaint and shall give 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-32 

 
 
 

written notice to the complainant, respondent, and 
commission of such finding.  [Eff 12/31/90; am 5/1/92; 
am 8/18/94; comp   ] (Auth: HRS §368-3) 
(Imp: HRS §§368-13, 368-14) 
 
 
 
 §12-46-18  Commencement of proceedings before 
hearings examiner.  A proceeding shall commence by the 
appointment of a hearings examiner either fifteen days 
after service of the final conciliation demand or 
after the expiration of any continuation of 
conciliation efforts granted pursuant to section 12-
46-17.  The hearings examiner shall docket the 
complaint and assign a docket number to the complaint.  
[Eff 12/31/90; am 11/4/93; comp   ] (Auth: 
HRS §§91-2, 368-3) (Imp: HRS §§91-2, 368-3) 
 
 
 
 §12-46-19  Scheduling conference.  (a) Within 
thirty days after the appointment of the hearings 
examiner the hearings examiner shall order the holding 
of a scheduling conference.  All parties receiving 
notice of the scheduling conference shall attend in 
person or by counsel and shall be prepared to discuss 
the following subjects: 
 (1) Anticipated motions, and deadlines as to the 

filing and hearing of motions; 
 (2) Anticipated discovery; 
 (3) Further proceedings, including setting dates 

for the prehearing conference and hearing; 
 (4) Prospects for settlement; and 
 (5) Any other matters which may be conducive to 

the just, efficient and economical determination 
of the proceeding, including the definition or 
limitation of issues.  [Eff 12/31/90; comp  
 ] (Auth: HRS §368-3) (Imp: HRS §368-3) 

 
 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-33 

 
 
 

 
§12-46-20  Notice of right to sue.  (a)  A notice 

of right to sue shall authorize: 
(1)  A complainant alleging violations of 

chapters 368, 378, or 489, HRS, to bring a 
civil suit pursuant to section 368-12, HRS, 
within ninety days after receipt of the 
notice;   

(2) A complainant alleging violations of chapter 
515, HRS, issued such notice before a 
finding of reasonable cause pursuant to 
section 515-9(2), HRS, to bring a civil suit 
within ninety days of receipt of the notice 
or one year after the filing of the 
complaint, whichever is later; or 

(3) The executive director to file a civil suit 
within ninety days of the receipt of the 
notice of right to sue by a party filing a 
timely notice of election to file civil 
action under subsection (b)(3) or one year 
after the filing of the complaint, whichever 
is later. 

 (b) A request, in writing, may be made to the 
executive director to issue a notice of right to sue: 

(1) At any time after the filing of a complaint 
with the commission, and no later than three 
days after the conclusion of the scheduling 
conference provided for in section 12-46-19, 
by a complainant alleging violations of 
chapters 368, 378, or 489, HRS;    

(2) At any time after the filing of a complaint 
with the commission but before a finding of 
reasonable cause under section 515-9(2), 
HRS, by a complainant alleging violations of 
chapter 515, HRS; or 

(3) Within twenty days after receipt of the 
notice of election to file a civil action 
under section 515-9(3), HRS, by any party to 
a complaint alleging violations of chapter 
515, HRS. 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-34 

 
 
 

 (c) The commission's executive director shall 
issue a notice of right to sue provided that the 
commission has not: 
 (1) Previously issued a notice; 

(2) Entered into a conciliation agreement to 
which the complainant is a party; or 

 (3) Filed a civil action. 
 (d) The commission's executive director shall 
issue a notice of right to sue: 
 (1) Upon dismissal of the complaint pursuant to 

section 12-46-11;  
(2) Where the commission has entered into a 

conciliation agreement to which the 
complainant is not a party pursuant to 
section 12-46-15(d); 

(3) Upon timely receipt of a notice of election 
to file a civil action under subsection 
(b)(3); or 

(4) If a civil action alleging similar facts has 
been filed pursuant to section 515-9(b), 
HRS. [Eff 12/31/90; am 11/4/93; am 10/6/13; 
comp   ] (Auth: HRS §368-3) (Imp: 
HRS §§368-12, 515-9) 

 
 
 
§12-46-21  Record keeping requirements.  (a)  Any 

personnel or employment record made or kept by an 
employer, employment agency, or labor organization 
shall be preserved by the employer for one year from 
the date of the making of the record or the personnel 
action involved, whichever occurs later.  The records 
shall include but not be limited to forms, 
applications, and records having to do with: 
 (1) Hiring; 
 (2) Promotion; 
 (3) Demotion; 
 (4) Layoff or termination; 
 (5) Rates of pay or other terms of compensation; 
 (6) Labor organization membership; 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-35 

 
 
 

 (7) Selection for training or apprenticeship; 
and 

 (8) Employment referrals. 
 (b) In the case of involuntary termination of an 
employee, the personnel records of the individual 
terminated shall be kept for one year from the date of 
termination. 
 (c) Where a complaint has been filed or civil 
action has been brought against a respondent under 
chapters 489 or 515 or part I of chapter 378, HRS, the 
respondent shall preserve all records, including any 
personnel records, relevant to the complaint or action 
until final disposition of the complaint or action. 
 (1) "Personnel records relevant to the 

complaint" include: 
  (A) Personnel or employment records 

relating to the complainant and to all 
other employees holding positions 
similar to that held or sought by the 
complainant; and 

  (B) Application forms or test papers 
completed by the complainant and by all 
other candidates for the same position 
as that for which the complainant 
applied and was rejected. 

 (2) "Final disposition of the complaint or 
action" means: 

  (A) A conciliation agreement is approved by 
the [commission]executive director; 

  (B) The date of expiration of the statutory 
period within which the complainant may 
bring an action in circuit court; or 

  (C) Where civil action is brought against 
the respondent by the complainant, the 
date on which the litigation is 
terminated by entry of a final order 
and time for filing a notice of appeal 
has expired. [Eff 12/31/90; comp  
 ] (Auth: HRS §368-3) (Imp: HRS 
§§368-3, 378-6) 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-36 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 §12-46-22  Representation by counsel.  A party, 
at the party's own expense, may be represented by 
counsel, who may be an attorney, at any stage of the 
proceeding before the hearings examiner or commission.  
[Eff 12/31/90; comp   ] (Auth: HRS §§91-2, 
368-3) (Imp: HRS §§91-9, 368-3) 
 
 
 
 §12-46-23  Individual representing party.  When 
an individual, acting in a representative capacity on 
behalf of a party, appears in a proceeding or signs a 
document submitted to the commission or hearings 
examiner, that personal appearance or signature shall 
constitute a representation that the individual is 
lawfully authorized and qualified to so act.  The 
individual at any time, however, may be required by 
the commission or hearings examiner to furnish proof 
of authorization and qualification to act in that 
capacity.  [Eff 12/31/90; comp   ] (Auth: 
HRS §§91-2, 368-3) (Imp: HRS §§91-2, 368-3) 
 
 
 
 §12-46-24  Substitution of parties.  Upon motion 
and for good cause shown, substitution of parties may 
be ordered provided that the substitution shall: 

(1) Be conducive to effectuating the ends of 
justice; 

(2) Not unduly delay the proceeding; and 
(3) Not otherwise unduly harass, hinder, or 

prejudice the rights of any party. 
Except that in the case of the death or legal 
incapacity of any party, substitution may be ordered 
without the necessity of filing a motion therefor.  
[Eff 12/31/90; comp   ] (Auth: HRS §§91-2, 
368-3) (Imp: HRS §§91-2, 368-3) 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-37 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 §12-46-25  Intervention.  Upon timely motion and 
at the discretion of the hearings examiner, the 
commission's executive director or any person may be 
permitted to intervene and be admitted as a party in a 
proceeding before the hearings examiner if the 
commission or that person has a substantial interest 
in the outcome of the proceeding and which interest is 
not protected by the interests of any of the parties, 
or the intervention shall be conducive to effectuating 
the ends of justice and to achieving the goals and 
purposes of the commission; provided that no 
intervention shall be permitted if the intervention 
shall unduly delay the proceeding or harass, hinder, 
or prejudice the rights of any party to the 
proceeding.  [Eff 12/31/90; comp   ] (Auth: 
HRS §§91-2, 368-3) (Imp: HRS §§91-2, 368-3) 
 
 
 
 §12-46-26  Consolidation.  The hearings examiner, 
with the approval of the commission, or upon any 
party's motion timely made and for good cause shown, 
may consolidate two or more proceedings which involve 
substantially the same issues, arise out of the same 
general transaction, or involve the same person or 
persons, provided the consolidation shall be conducive 
to the ends of justice and shall not unduly delay the 
proceedings or hinder, harass, or prejudice any party.  
[Eff 12/31/90; comp   ] (Auth: HRS §§91-2, 
368-3) (Imp: HRS §§91-2, 368-3) 
 
 
 §12-46-27  Format and certification of pleadings.  
(a)   Petitions, motions, and other pleadings shall be 
typed in twelve point pica or equivalent type size 
upon good quality paper, 8-1\2 x 11 inches in size and 
of at least sixteen weight, except that documentary 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-38 

 
 
 

exhibits may be larger, if filed to the size of the 
pleadings to which they are attached. 
 (b) All copies shall be legible on paper 8-1\2 x 
11 inches in size and of at least sixteen weight.  [No 
"wet" type copies shall be accepted.] 
 (c) The first page of every pleading shall set 
forth the name, address, and phone number of the 
party, the party's attorney, if any, the title of the 
particular pleading, the docket number, and the name 
of the proceeding. 
 (d) All pleadings shall be signed in [black] ink 
by the party filing the pleadings or by the party's 
authorized agent.  The signature shall constitute 
certification that the person so signing has read the 
pleading and that to the best of the person's 
knowledge, information, and belief, the pleading is 
true or has good grounds to support it and is not 
submitted for the purpose of hindering, harassing, or 
delaying any party or proceeding. 
 (e) Unless otherwise provided, all pleadings, 
motions, memoranda, and other documents shall be filed 
with the commission hearings examiner.  [Eff 12/31/90; 
am and comp                ]  (Auth: HRS §§91-2, 368-
3)  (Imp: HRS §§91-2, 368-3) 
 
 
 
 §12-46-28  Service, generally.  Unless otherwise 
provided by this chapter or by other applicable law, 
whenever service is required to be made on any party 
to a proceeding before the commission, the service 
shall be made personally or by first class mail, the 
document to be served at the party's last known 
address or to the party's attorney of record or to any 
other individual representing the party in the 
proceeding[.], or by electronic mail upon agreement of 
the parties and hearings examiner.  If personal 
service or service by mail is unsuccessful the 
commission or hearings examiner may authorize service 
by publication if permitted by statute.  The 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-39 

 
 
 

commission or hearings examiner may require that 
personal service be attempted prior to permitting 
service by publication.  [Eff 12/31/90; am and comp 
   ] (Auth: HRS §§91-2, 368-3) (Imp: HRS 
§§91-2, 368-3) 
 
 
 
 §12-46-29  Service by whom.  (a)  Unless 
otherwise provided by this chapter, a party filing a 
pleading, motion, memorandum, document, or other paper 
shall cause a copy of the pleading, motion, 
memorandum, document, or other paper to be served upon 
each of the other parties to the proceeding, or upon 
any agent or attorney representing the other party.  
The party shall file a certificate of service. 
 (b) Unless otherwise provided by this chapter, 
the commission shall cause to be served all notices, 
documents, orders, and other papers issued by it or 
its hearings examiner.  [Eff 12/31/90; comp  
 ] (Auth: HRS §§91-2, 368-3) (Imp: HRS §§91-2, 
368-3) 
 
 
 
 §12-46-30  Extensions of time.  Unless otherwise 
provided, the hearings examiner may extend, by not 
more than ninety days, or as may be extended by the 
commission for good cause, the time within which any 
action shall be taken at the request of any party.  
The hearings examiner may require that the extension 
be stipulated to by all parties to the proceeding or 
that the request be by motion for good cause shown as 
to why the extension should be granted.  [Eff 
12/31/90; comp    ] (Auth: HRS §§91-2, 
368-3) (Imp: HRS §§91-2, 368-3) 
 
 
 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-40 

 
 
 

 §12-46-31  Motions.  (a)  An application for an 
order shall be by motion which, unless made during a 
hearing, shall be made in writing, shall state with 
particularity the grounds therefor, and shall set 
forth the relief or order sought. 
 (b) Motions referring to facts not of record 
shall be supported by [affidavits] affidavit(s) or 
declaration(s) and, if involving a question of law, 
shall be accompanied by a memorandum in support. 
 (c) If a hearing is held on the motion, the 
hearings examiner shall provide notice to be served 
upon all parties not later than seven days before the 
hearing and the opposing party shall file and serve 
any counter [affidavits] affidavit(s) or 
declaration(s) and memorandum in opposition not less 
than two days before the hearing. 
 (d) All motions shall be filed with and decided 
by the hearings examiner. 
 (e) Failure to comply with the requirements of 
this section may be the basis for denial of any 
motion. 
 (f) The decision on the motion may be made 
orally at the time of the hearing on the motion, or in 
writing, or as part of the hearings examiner's 
decision.  [Eff 12/31/90; am and comp         ] 
(Auth: HRS §§91-2, 368-3) (Imp: HRS §§91-2, 368-3) 
 
 
 
 §12-46-32  Powers of the hearings examiner in 
conducting hearing.  The hearings examiner shall have 
in addition to powers as are conferred by law, the 
powers, in conducting a hearing, without limitation: 
 (1) To hold hearings and issue notices; 
 (2) To administer oaths and affirmations; 
 (3) To consolidate hearings or sever 

proceedings, provided that those actions 
shall be conducive to the ends of justice 
and shall not unduly delay the proceedings 
or hinder, harass, or prejudice any party; 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-41 

 
 
 

 (4) To allow and supervise discovery as deemed 
reasonable and necessary; 

 (5) To subpoena and examine witnesses; 
 (6) To issue subpoenas; 
 (7) To rule upon offers of proof, to receive 

relevant evidence, and to exclude evidence 
which is irrelevant, immaterial, 
repetitious, cumulative, or merely 
scandalous, and accordingly may restrict 
lines of questioning or testimony; 

 (8) To regulate the course and conduct of the 
hearing; 

 (9) To regulate the manner of any examination so 
as to prevent the needless and unreasonable 
harassment, intimidation, or embarrassment 
of any witness or party at the hearing; 

 (10) To remove disruptive individuals, including 
any party, legal counsel, witness, or 
observer; 

 (11) To hold conferences, including prehearing 
conferences, before or during the hearing 
for the settlement or simplification of 
issues; 

 (12) To rule on motions and to dispose of 
procedural matters; 

 (13) To certify any question to the commission 
for its consideration and disposition; 

 (14) To submit in writing any decision together 
with the findings of fact and conclusions of 
law and a proposed order to the commission 
for its consideration and final disposition; 
and 

 (15) To dispose of any other matter that normally 
and properly arises in the course of the 
proceedings and to take any action 
authorized by this chapter, chapter 91, HRS, 
or any other related laws.  [Eff 12/31/90; 
comp    ] (Auth: HRS §§91-2, 
368-3) (Imp: HRS §§91-16, 368-3) 

 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-42 

 
 
 

 
 
 §12-46-33  Subpoenas.  (a)  The hearings 
examiner, at the request of a party, shall have the 
power to issue subpoenas requiring the attendance of 
witnesses or the production of documents prior to or 
at the hearing.  The hearings examiner may require 
that any request for the issuance of a subpoena 
identify with particularity, the person to be 
subpoenaed or the documents desired.  Witnesses 
summoned shall be paid the same fees and mileage as 
are paid witnesses in courts in the State and the fees 
and mileage shall be paid by the party or commission 
at whose instance the subpoena issues. 
 (b) Upon motion timely made, or without 
suggestion, the hearings examiner may: 
 (1) Quash or modify the subpoena if it is 

unreasonable and oppressive; or 
 (2) Condition denial of the motion upon 

advancement by the requesting party of the 
costs of producing the documents.  [Eff 
12/31/90; comp    ] (Auth: HRS 
§§91-2, 368-3) (Imp: HRS §§91-16, 368-3) 

 
 
 
 §12-46-34  Absence of hearings examiner.  When a 
complaint has been assigned to a hearings examiner for 
hearing, the powers and duties to be performed by the 
hearings examiner in connection with the proceeding, 
without abatement of the proceeding, may be assigned 
to another hearings examiner, provided no hearings 
examiner shall render a written decision to the 
commission unless that hearings examiner was present 
at all arguments and the presentations of evidence 
concerning those matters.  [Eff 12/31/90; comp   
   ] (Auth: HRS §§91-2, 368-3) (Imp: HRS 
§§91-2, 368-3) 
 
 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-43 

 
 
 

 
 §12-46-35  Disqualification of hearings examiner 
or commissioner.  (a)  No matter shall be heard by a 
hearings examiner or commissioner who: 
 (1) Has any pecuniary interest in the matter 

being heard; 
 (2) Is related within the third degree by blood 

or marriage to any party to the proceeding;  
 (3) Has initiated the complaint of the 

proceeding, has participated in the 
investigation preceding the institution of 
the proceeding or has participated in the 
development of the evidence to be introduced 
in the proceeding; 

 (4) Has a personal bias or prejudice concerning 
a party, or personal knowledge of disputed 
evidentiary facts concerning the proceeding; 
or 

 (5) Has served as a lawyer in the matter in 
controversy, or a lawyer with whom the 
hearing's examiner or commissioner 
previously practiced law, served during such 
association as a lawyer concerning the 
matter, or such lawyer, hearings examiner, 
or commissioner has been a material witness 
concerning it. 

 (b) A hearings examiner or commissioner may be 
disqualified from hearing a matter sua sponte, or upon 
motion of any party.  Any motion to disqualify a 
hearings examiner or commissioner shall be filed and 
decided prior to the evidentiary portion of the 
hearing.  [Eff 12/31/90; comp    ] (Auth: 
HRS §§91-2, 368-3) (Imp: HRS §§91-2, 368-3) 
 
 
 
 §12-46-36  Evidence at hearing.  (a)  The 
admissibility of evidence at the hearing shall not be 
governed by the laws of evidence, and all relevant 
oral or documentary evidence shall be admitted if it 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-44 

 
 
 

is the sort of evidence on which responsible persons 
are accustomed to rely in the conduct of serious 
affairs.  Irrelevant, immaterial, or unduly 
repetitious material shall not be admitted into 
evidence.  The hearings examiner shall give effect to 
the privileges recognized at law.  Documentary 
evidence may be received in the form of copies, 
provided that, upon request, all other parties to the 
proceeding shall be given an opportunity to compare 
the copy with the original.  If the original is not 
available, a copy may still be admissible, but the 
nonavailability of the original and the reasons 
therefor shall be considered by the hearings examiner 
when considering the weight of the documentary 
evidence.  The hearings examiner may take notice of 
judicially recognizable facts and of generally 
recognized technical or scientific facts.  The 
parties, whenever possible, shall be notified before 
the hearing of the material to be so noticed and shall 
be afforded an opportunity at the hearing to contest 
the facts so noticed. 
 (b) Except as otherwise provided by law, the 
burden of proof, including the burden of producing the 
evidence and the burden of persuasion, shall be upon 
the party initiating the proceeding.  Proof of a 
matter shall be by a preponderance of the evidence.  
[Eff 12/31/90; comp    ] (Auth: HRS §§91-
2, 368-3) (Imp: HRS §§91-10, 368-3) 
 
 
 

§12-46-37  Decision, generally.  (a) A final 
order or final decision is issued by the commission in 
accordance with section 368-2(b), HRS. 

[(a)](b)  Unless otherwise provided, every 
decision and order issued by the commission or 
hearings examiner shall be in writing or stated in the 
record.  A hearings examiner's decision shall be 
accompanied by separate findings of fact and 
conclusions of law. 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-45 

 
 
 

 [(b)](c) The commission shall cause a certified 
copy of the decision and order together with the 
findings of fact and conclusions of law to be 
transmitted by hand or by certified or registered 
mail, return receipt requested, to each party within a 
reasonable time. 
 [(c)](d) Where notice of the hearing has been 
served by publication and the party so served has 
failed to appear at the hearing, service of the 
commission's decision is complete upon transmission by 
registered or certified mail, return receipt  
requested, to the party at the party's last known 
address.  [Eff 12/31/90; am and comp    ] 
(Auth: HRS §§91-2, 368-3) (Imp: HRS §§91-12, 368-3) 
 
 
 
 
 
 

§12-46-38  Motion for reconsideration.  Any party 
within ten days after receipt of any final order may 
move the commission to reconsider its final order or 
decision.  The motion shall be filed with the 
commission and shall state specifically what points of 
law or fact the hearings examiner or commission has 
overlooked or misunderstood, or any newly discovered 
evidence, together with brief arguments on the points 
raised.  No answer or reply to the motion shall be 
considered unless requested by the commission.  Oral 
argument on the motion shall be with the discretion of 
the commission.  Only one motion for reconsideration 
may be filed by each party and the filing of the 
motion shall not operate as a stay of the commission's 
final order or decision.  [Eff 12/31/90; comp  
  ] (Auth: HRS §§91-2, 368-3) (Imp: HRS §§91-
2, 368-3) 
 
 
 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-46 

 
 
 

 §12-46-39  Judicial review.  (a)  Any party 
aggrieved by a final decision or order of the 
commission or by a preliminary ruling or order of the 
commission of such a nature that deferral of review 
pending the entry of a subsequent final order would 
deprive that party of adequate relief is entitled to 
judicial review in conformance with sections 91-14 and 
368-16, HRS. 
 (b) Any party requesting judicial review in 
writing, including any cross appeal, shall notify the 
hearings examiner or commission and all other parties 
to the proceeding of the request within the time 
permitted for requesting judicial review.   
[Eff 12/31/90; comp    ] (Auth: HRS §§91-
2, 368-3, 368-16) (Imp: HRS §§91-14, 368-3, 368-16) 
 
 
 
 §12-46-40  Ex parte communications.  (a)  Because 
of the commission's role as final arbiter and because 
the commission will not be involved in pre-hearing 
stages, in any proceedings before a hearings examiner 
or the commission: 
 (1) Neither the commission's staff nor any 

person, either in private or public life, 
shall communicate privately on the merits of 
the case with any member of the commission 
or with the hearings examiner designated to 
hear and decide the matter unless 
specifically provided for by law; and 

 (2) No member of the commission's staff or any 
other government agency who participates in 
the hearing as a witness or counsel shall 
privately communicate on the merits of the 
case with any member of the commission or 
with the hearings examiner designated to 
hear and decide the matter, unless 
specifically provided for by law. 

 (b) It shall be improper for the commission's 
staff or any person interested in a proceeding to seek 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-47 

 
 
 

to influence the judgment of the commission or 
hearings examiner. 
 (c) It shall be improper for the commission's 
staff: 
 (1) To disclose or reveal to any member of the 

commission or hearings examiner designated 
to hear and decide the matter the contents 
of any investigatory report, prepared by the 
commission, concerning the matter before the 
commission or hearings examiner; or 

 (2) To furnish the report or a copy thereof to 
any member of the commission or hearings 
examiner designated to hear and decide the 
matter. 

 (d) Nothing in this section, which is intended 
to prohibit the ex parte disclosure of the 
investigatory report, shall prohibit the introduction 
of the report at the hearing pursuant to and in 
conformance with sections 12-46-41 and  
12-46-44.  
 (e)  Nothing in this section shall prohibit 
commission from retaining legal counsel not involved 
in the prosecution of complaints or representation of 
complainants before the commission.  [Eff 12/31/90; 
comp    ] (Auth: HRS §§91-2, 368-3) (Imp: 
HRS §§91-2, 91-9, 368-3) 
 
 
 
 §12-46-41  Disclosure.  (a)  A copy of the 
investigation report, in order to be admitted at 
hearing, shall be provided to respondent not later 
than seven days prior to the hearing.  If a copy of 
the investigation report is not provided to 
respondent, the report shall not be permitted to be 
introduced at the hearing. 
 (b) Any party, by timely written demand filed 
with the hearings examiner, and served upon any other 
party, may request of another party to the proceeding, 
the full disclosure of: 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-48 

 
 
 

 (1) The identity of all witnesses to be called 
by the party, including their addresses and 
phone numbers, if known; 

 (2) The identity of all persons, including their 
addresses and phone numbers, known by the 
party to have material knowledge relevant to 
the proceeding; and 

 (3) All documents to be introduced at the 
hearing.  The requesting party shall have 
the right to examine the documents and make 
copies thereof. 

 (c) All demands for disclosure are standing 
demands and the party to whom the demand is directed 
shall be under a duty to disclose the information 
requested as and when it becomes available. 
 (d) The information requested shall be disclosed 
to the requesting party at least seven days prior to 
the hearing.  The failure to comply with disclosure 
requirements may result in the evidence subject to the 
disclosure request not being permitted to be 
introduced at the hearing.  [Eff 12/31/90; comp  
   ] (Auth: HRS §§91-2, 368-3) (Imp: HRS 
§§91-2, 368-3) 
 
 
 
 §12-46-42  Prehearing conference.  Before the 
hearing the hearings examiner shall order that a 
prehearing conference be conducted and attended by all 
parties to the proceeding, the purpose of which shall 
be to explore the possibilities of informal 
satisfaction of the complaint and the simplification 
of issues.  At the prehearing conference the hearings 
examiner may require all parties to disclose to the 
other parties the identity of all witnesses to be 
called, together with their addresses and phone 
numbers if known, and the documents to be introduced.  
The hearings examiner may set the time, date, and 
place of the hearing at the prehearing conference. 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-49 

 
 
 

[Eff 12/31/90; comp    ] (Auth: HRS §§91-
2, 368-3) (Imp: HRS §§91-2, 368-3) 
 
 
 
 §12-46-43  Testimony at hearing.  (a)  Testimony 
adduced at the hearing may be electronically recorded 
and need not be transcribed.  Unless otherwise 
provided, the cost of the transcription of the 
electronic recording of the testimony shall be paid by 
the requesting party. 
 (b) Any party may request that all of the 
testimony adduced at the hearing be taken by a court 
reporter.  The request shall be made prior to the date 
of the hearing and shall be within the sole discretion 
of the hearings examiner to grant or deny.  The 
transcript of the proceeding shall constitute the 
official record of the testimony adduced at the 
hearing, and shall remain in the possession of the 
hearings examiner or commission.  The cost of the 
transcript shall be paid for by the requesting party.  
If a party desires a copy of the transcript for the 
party's personal use, the requesting party shall pay 
the cost of a copy of that transcript. 
 (c) The hearings examiner shall make the 
electronic recording of the testimony available to the 
parties for use in preparing exceptions to a proposed 
decision or recommended decision. 
 (d) If judicial review is requested, the 
commission shall cause a transcript of the hearing to 
be prepared if requested as part of the record on 
appeal.  If a party desires a copy of the transcript 
for their personal use, the requesting party shall pay 
the cost of a copy of that transcript. 
 (e) Unless the commission has been notified in 
writing of a party's request for judicial review 
within the time permitted for requesting the review, 
the commission, after the time for requesting judicial 
review has passed, may destroy the electronically 
recorded testimony.  A transcript need not be prepared 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-50 

 
 
 

unless expressly requested and paid for by the 
requesting party.  [Eff 12/31/90; comp      ] 
(Auth: HRS §§91-2, 368-3) (Imp: HRS §§91-2, 368-3) 
 
 
 
 §12-46-44  Record of hearing.  (a)  The record 
shall consist of the following: 
 (1) All pleadings, motions, memoranda and 

intermediate rulings; 
 (2) All evidence received or considered, 

including without limitation, oral 
testimony, exhibits, and matters officially 
noted by the commission or hearings 
examiner; 

 (3) All offers of proof and rulings thereon; 
 (4) All proposed findings and exceptions; 
 (5) The proposed decision of the hearings 

examiner who presided at the hearing; and 
 (6) The investigatory report shall not be made 

part of the record or disclosed to the 
hearings examiner unless the report has been 
provided to the respondent and introduced at 
the hearing pursuant to section 12-46-41. 

 (b) Unless the commission has been notified in 
writing of a party's request for judicial review 
within the time permitted for requesting judicial 
review, the commission, after the time for requesting 
judicial review has passed, may cause exhibits to be 
returned to the party introducing the exhibits or if 
the party does not wish their return, order the 
disposal or destruction of the exhibits.   [Eff 
12/31/90; comp    ] (Auth: HRS §§91-2, 
368-3) (Imp: HRS §§91-2, 91-9, 368-3) 
 
 
 
 §12-46-45  Notice of hearing.  Unless otherwise 
provided by statute or the parties, all parties shall 
be given written notice of the hearing at least 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-51 

 
 
 

fifteen days before the hearing.  The notice shall 
include: 

(1) The date, time, place, and nature of 
hearing; 

(2) The legal authority under which the hearing 
is to be held; 

(3) The particular sections of HRS and rules 
involved; and 

(4) A short and concise statement of the issues 
involved and the facts giving rise to the 
petition.  Attachment of a copy of the 
complaint to the hearing notice satisfies 
this requirement. 

The notice shall further apprise each party of the 
party's right to retain legal counsel if so desired.  
[Eff 12/31/90; comp    ] (Auth: HRS §§91-
2, 368-3) (Imp: HRS §§91-9, 91-9.5, 368-3) 
 
 
 
 §12-46-46  Hearings.  All hearings shall be 
conducted pursuant to chapter 91, HRS, and this 
chapter.  A hearing shall take place no later than one 
hundred eighty days after the appointment of the 
hearings examiner except as may be extended by the 
commission for good cause.  All hearings shall be 
heard before a duly designated hearings examiner.  All 
parties shall be afforded full opportunity to present 
evidence and argument on all issues involved.  The 
hearing shall be at the time and place set forth in 
the notice of hearing, but at that time and place may 
be continued from day to day or adjourned to a later 
day or to a different place without notice other than 
the announcement thereof at the hearing.  The hearings 
examiner, if there is no dispute as to the facts 
involved in a particular matter, may permit the 
parties to proceed by memoranda of law in lieu of a 
hearing unless the procedure would unduly burden any 
party or is otherwise not conducive to the ends of 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-52 

 
 
 

justice.  [Eff 12/31/90; comp    ] (Auth: 
HRS §§91-2, 368-3) (Imp: HRS §§91-9, 92-16, 368-3) 
 
 
 
 §12-46-47 Procedure at hearing.  Unless otherwise 
stipulated by the parties, which stipulation is 
approved by the hearings examiner, all hearings shall 
proceed as follows: 
 (1) The parties shall have the opportunity to 

make opening statements before any evidence 
is presented, unless they waive the 
opportunity.  The opening statement shall be 
heard in the following order: 

  (A) Complainant's opening statement; and 
  (B) Respondent's opening statement, unless 

respondent chooses to reserve same 
until after presentation of 
petitioner's evidence; 

 (2) The complainant's evidence shall be 
presented first, and shall be followed by 
the presentation of evidence in support of 
respondent's case; 

 (3) After presentation of the evidence in 
support of their respective cases, the 
parties shall have the opportunity to 
introduce rebuttal evidence.  Rebuttal 
evidence shall be introduced in the same 
order as was followed with respect to the 
introduction of evidence in support of their 
respective cases; 

 (4) Each witness shall be examined first by the 
party calling the witness before cross-
examination by the opposing party; 

 (5) After all evidence, including rebuttal 
evidence, has been presented, the parties 
shall have the opportunity to make final 
argument.  Final argument shall proceed as 
follows: 

  (A) Complainant's final argument; 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-53 

 
 
 

  (B) Respondent's final argument; and 
  (C) Complainant's final argument in 

rebuttal which shall be limited to 
countering matters raised in 
respondent's final argument; and 

 (6) The hearing shall be deemed closed after 
completion of all final arguments or upon 
filing of all permitted memoranda and other 
post hearing submissions or upon the 
expiration of the time allowed for filing 
submissions, unless the time is extended, or 
upon the completion of taking further 
evidence pursuant to section 12-46-49, 
whichever is later.  [Eff 12/31/90; comp 
   ] (Auth: HRS §§91-2, 368-3) 
(Imp: HRS §§91-2, 368-3) 

 
 
 
 §12-46-48  Motion to dismiss.  (a)  After all 
evidence has been presented by complainant in support 
of complaint, the respondent may move for the hearings 
examiner for an order denying or dismissing the 
complaint or for similar affirmative relief. 
 (b) If the motion is denied or taken under 
advisement, respondent shall have the right to 
continue with the proceeding as fully as if the motion 
had never been made.  [Eff 12/31/90; comp   
 ] (Auth: HRS §§91-2, 368-3) (Imp: HRS §§91-2, 
368-3) 
 
 
 §12-46-49  Taking of further evidence.  At any 
time prior to the filing of the hearings examiner's 
proposed decision, the hearings examiner may, without 
suggestion or upon motion for good cause shown, reopen 
a hearing for the purpose of taking further evidence.  
The reopening shall be at the sole discretion of the 
hearings examiner.  Further evidence may be taken 
either through oral hearing or by certification of 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-54 

 
 
 

questions to the parties.  [Eff 12/31/90; comp  
   ] (Auth: HRS §§91-2, 368-3) (Imp: HRS 
§§91-2, 368-3) 
 
 
 
 §12-46-50  Proposed findings of fact and 
conclusions of law.  (a)  The parties, upon first 
obtaining the permission of the hearings examiner, may 
file and serve upon all other parties to the 
proceeding written proposed findings of fact and 
conclusions of law together with the reasons therefor, 
within fifteen days after the close of the hearing, or 
as ordered by the hearings examiner, which, wherever 
possible, shall contain specific references to the 
record and shall state the authorities relied upon.  
Proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law that 
find an unlawful discriminatory practice shall include 
a proposed remedy. 
 (b) The grant of permission shall be at the sole 
discretion of the hearings examiner.  [Eff 12/31/90; 
am and comp    ] (Auth: HRS §§91-2, 
368-3) (Imp: HRS §§91-2, 91-12, 368-3) 
 
 
 §12-46-51  Proposed decision.  The hearings 
examiner, within sixty days or as may be extended by 
the commission after the close of the hearing, shall 
file with the commission a decision together with 
separate findings of fact, conclusions of law, and 
shall include a remedy when there is a finding of an 
unlawful discriminatory practice.  Any order 
recommended by the hearings examiner shall be based 
upon the whole record and supported by the reliable 
probative and substantial evidence, including facts of 
which the hearings examiner properly took judicial 
notice.  [Eff 12/31/90; comp    ] (Auth: HRS 
§§91-2, 368-3, 368-14) (Imp: HRS §§91-11, 91-12, 368-
3, 368-14) 
 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-55 

 
 
 

 
 
 §12-46-52  Service of proposed decision.  The 
commission shall cause a copy of the decision, 
including therein findings of fact, conclusions of 
law, and any recommended order, to be served upon each 
party by personal service or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested.  Service of 
the proposed decision shall be deemed complete upon 
its mailing to the party's last known address.  [Eff 
12/31/90; comp    ] (Auth: HRS §§91-2, 
368-3, 368-14) (Imp: HRS §§91-11, 368-3, 368-14) 
 
 
 
 §12-46-53  Decision, exceptions.  Any party 
adversely affected by the hearings examiner's decision 
within fifteen days after the receipt of a copy of the 
decision, may file with the hearings examiner written 
exceptions to the whole or any part of the decision 
and request review by the commission.  Each written 
exception shall specify the portions of the record and 
authorities relied upon to sustain each point.  A copy 
of the written exceptions shall be served by the party 
so excepting upon each party to the proceeding.  
Unless the time has been extended, no written 
exceptions shall be filed or accepted for filing after 
the time specified, except by leave of the commission 
for good cause shown.  [Eff 12/31/90; comp   
   ] (Auth: HRS §§91-2, 368-3, 368-14) 
(Imp: HRS §§91-11, 368-3, 368-14) 
 
 
 
 §12-46-54  Statement in support of decision.  Any 
party may file with the hearings examiner and serve 
upon all other parties a statement in support of the 
decision within fifteen days after receipt of a copy 
of the written exceptions.  [Eff 12/31/90; comp  



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-56 

 
 
 

   ] (Auth: HRS §§91-2, 368-3, 368-14) 
(Imp: HRS §§91-11, 368-3, 368-14) 
 
 
 
 §12-46-55  Transmittal to commission.  The 
hearings examiner shall transmit to the commission the 
entire record together with the decision, any timely 
filed exceptions, and any timely filed statement in 
support.  [Eff 12/31/90; comp    ] (Auth: 
HRS §§91-2, 368-3, 368-14) (Imp: HRS §§91-11, 368-3, 
368-14) 
 
 
 
 §12-46-56  Argument on written exceptions.  
Whenever written exceptions have been timely filed and 
a party has requested the opportunity to present oral 
argument, all parties to the proceedings shall be 
afforded the opportunity to present oral argument to 
the commission concerning the decision.  The 
commission shall personally consider the whole record 
or portions of the record as may have been cited by 
the parties either in support of or in opposition to 
the decision.  All parties shall be served with notice 
of the time and place of argument at least five days 
prior to the time for argument.  The commission shall 
issue a written final decision and order, either 
adopting, modifying, or reversing, in whole or in 
part, the hearings examiner's decision in complaints 
alleging violations of chapters 368, 378, or 489, HRS, 
within a reasonable time after argument has been 
heard.  The commission shall issue a written final 
decision and order in complaints alleging violations 
of chapter 515, HRS, within one year of the date of 
the filing of the complaint, unless the commission 
finds it impracticable to do so.  In complaints 
alleging violations of chapter 515, HRS, complainants 
and respondents shall be provided with written notice 
if the commission cannot issue a written final 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-57 

 
 
 

decision and order within one year of the date of the 
filing of the complaint.  [Eff 12/31/90; am 11/4/93; 
comp    ]  (Auth:  HRS §§91-2, 368-3, 368-
14)  (Imp:  HRS §§91-11, 368-3, 368-14, 515-9) 
 
 
 
 §12-46-57  No written exceptions.  When no 
written exceptions have been filed, the commission, in 
complaints alleging violations of chapters 368, 378, 
or 489, HRS, shall issue a written final decision and 
order, either adopting or modifying or reversing, in 
whole or in part, the hearings examiner's decision, 
within a reasonable time after the hearings examiner's 
decision has been filed.  The commission shall issue a 
written final decision and order in complaints 
alleging violations of chapter 515, HRS, within one 
year of the date of the filing of the complaint, 
unless the commission finds it impracticable to do so.  
In complaints alleging violations of chapter 515, HRS, 
complainants and respondents shall be provided written 
notice if the commission cannot issue a written final 
decision and order within one year of the date of the 
filing of the complaint.  The commission shall state 
with specificity in the final decision the reasons for 
any modification or reversal, in whole or in part, of 
the hearings examiner's decision.  [Eff 12/31/90; am 
11/4/93; comp    ]  (Auth:  HRS §§91-2, 
368-3, 368-14)  (Imp:  HRS §§91-11, 368-3, 368-14, 
515-9) 
 
 
 §12-46-58  Savings clause.  If any provision of 
these rules, or the application thereof to any person 
or circumstance is held invalid, the invalidity does 
not affect other provisions or applications of these 
rules which can be given effect without the invalid 
provision or application, and to this end the 
provisions of these rules are severable.  [Eff 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-58 

 
 
 

12/31/90; comp    ] (Auth: HRS §368-3) 
(Imp: HRS §358-3) 
 
  



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-59 

 
 
 

 
SUBCHAPTER 2 

 
DECLARATORY RELIEF 

 
 
 §12-46-61  Contents of petition for declaratory 
relief.   The commission's executive director or any 
interested person may petition the commission for a 
declaratory ruling as to the applicability of any HRS 
provision or of any rule adopted by the commission to 
a factual situation.  Each petition shall state 
concisely and with particularity the facts giving rise 
to the petition, including the petitioner's interest, 
reasons for filing the petition, and the names of any 
potential respondents, the provision or rule in 
question, the issues raised, and petitioner's position 
or contentions with respect thereto.  [Eff 12/31/90; 
comp    ] (Auth: HRS §§91-8, 368-3) (Imp: 
HRS §§91-8, 368-3) 
 
 
 
 §12-46-62  Memorandum of authorities in support 
of petition.  Petitioner shall also file, together 
with any petition for declaratory relief and at the 
time the petition is filed, a memorandum of 
authorities in support of the petition which shall 
contain a full discussion of the reasons, including 
legal authorities, supportive of the petitioner's 
position.  [Eff 12/31/90; comp   ] (Auth: 
HRS §§91-8, 368-3) (Imp: HRS §§91-8, 368-3) 
 
 
 
 §12-46-63  Disposition of petition.  (a)  The 
commission, as expeditiously as possible after the 
filing of a petition for declaratory relief, may 
refuse to consider any petition for declaratory 
relief.  Without limiting the generality of the 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-60 

 
 
 

foregoing, the commission may refuse consideration 
where: 
 (1) The petition fails to substantively conform 

with section 12-46-61 or is not supported by 
a memorandum of authorities in support of 
the petition; 

 (2) The petition is frivolous; 
 (3) The matter is not within the jurisdiction of 

the commission; 
 (4) The petition is based on hypothetical or 

speculative facts of either liability or 
damages; or 

 (5) There is a genuine controversy of material 
fact, the resolution of which is necessary 
before any order or declaratory relief may 
issue. 

 (6) There is any other reason justifying denial 
of the petition. 

 (b) With respect to each petition to be 
considered, and as expeditiously as possible, the 
commission shall: 
 (1) Summarily, and in writing, deny the 

petition, setting forth the reasons for the 
denial and advise petitioner of the right to 
request reconsideration or judicial relief 
or grant the relief sought either as prayed 
for or as modified by the commission, 
setting forth the reasons therefor and 
advise respondent, if any, of the right to 
request reconsideration or judicial relief; 

 (2) Set the petition for argument before the 
commission in accordance with this 
subchapter; or 

 (3) At its sole discretion, assign the petition 
to the hearings examiner for further 
proceedings in accordance with this 
subchapter.  [Eff 12/31/90; comp   
   ] (Auth: HRS §§91-8, 368-3) 
(Imp: HRS §§91-8, 368-3) 

 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-61 

 
 
 

 
 
 §12-46-64  Parties.  Unless a petition has been 
summarily disposed of pursuant to section 12-46-63, in 
all petitions for declaratory relief where the 
commission's executive director is not the petitioner, 
the executive director shall be made a party 
respondent to the proceedings and shall be served 
accordingly.  [Eff 12/31/90; comp   ] (Auth: 
HRS §§91-8, 368-3) (Imp: HRS §§91-8, 368-3) 
 
 
 
 §12-46-65  Memorandum in opposition.  Each 
respondent, within fifteen days after the receipt of 
the petition, may file and serve upon the petitioner a 
memorandum in opposition stating concisely and fully 
the respondent's position or contentions and reasons, 
including legal authorities.  [Eff 12/31/90; comp  
   ] (Auth: HRS §§91-8, 368-3) (Imp: HRS 
§§91-8, 368-3) 
 
 
 
 §12-46-66  Intervention and intervenor's 
memorandum of  authorities.  Unless the petition has 
been summarily disposed of pursuant to section 12-46-
65 and subject to section 12-46-25, any interested 
person may request intervention in a proceeding for 
declaratory relief.  Any person permitted to intervene 
in a proceeding for declaratory relief may file and 
serve upon petitioner, a memorandum of authorities 
which shall state concisely and fully the intervenor's 
position or contentions and reasons, including legal 
authorities. 
 The commission's executive director shall be 
deemed a party without the necessity of formal 
intervention.  [Eff 12/31/90; comp    ] 
(Auth: HRS §§91-8, 368-3) (Imp: HRS §§91-8, 368-3) 
 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-62 

 
 
 

 
 
 §12-46-67  Request for additional facts or 
supplemental memorandum.  The commission or the 
hearings examiner at any time may request of the 
petitioner or any party, a statement of additional 
facts or a memorandum, the purpose of which is to 
clarify a specific factual issue, position, 
contention, or issue provided the request shall aid 
the commission in effectuating the ends of justice, or 
in achieving its purposes, and shall not unduly delay 
the proceedings or hinder, harass, or unreasonably 
prejudice any part.  [Eff 12/31/90; comp   
   ] (Auth: HRS §§26-9, 91-8) (Imp: HRS 
§§26-9, 91-8) 
 
 
 
 §12-46-68  Notice of argument.  All parties shall 
be given written notice of the hearing of argument at 
least fifteen days before the time of the argument.  
The notice shall include: 

(1) The date, time, place, and nature of the 
argument; 

 (2) The legal authority under which the argument 
is to be heard; 

 (3) Particular sections of the statutes and 
rules involved; and 

 (4) A short and concise statement of issues 
involved, the basic facts giving rise to the 
petition. 

The notice shall further apprise each party of their 
right to retain legal counsel if so desired.  [Eff 
12/31/90; comp    ]  (Auth: HRS §§91-8, 
368-3) (Imp: HRS §§91-8, 91-9, 91-9.5, 368-3) 
 
 
 
 §12-46-69  Argument.  Argument shall be heard 
either before the commission or a hearings examiner 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-63 

 
 
 

duly designated.  All parties shall be afforded full 
opportunity to present argument on all issues 
involved.  The argument shall be at the time and place 
set forth in the notice of argument but at that time 
and place may be continued from day to day and 
adjourned to a later day or to a different place 
without notice other than the announcement thereof at 
the hearing.  [Eff 12/31/90; comp    ] 
(Auth: HRS §§91-8, 368-3) (Imp: HRS §§91-8, 91-9, 368-
3) 
 
 
 
 §12-46-70  Material issue of fact, public 
interest.  If, at any time, it appears that there 
exists a genuine controversy of material fact the 
resolution of which is necessary before any order of 
declaratory relief may issue, or that the petition 
raises issues of public concern and interest that a 
proceeding for rule relief would more fairly and 
effectively aid the commission in achieving its 
purposes and goals and protect that public concern or 
interest, the commission or hearings examiner may: 
 (1) Without suggestion or on motion of any party 

dismiss the petition for declaratory relief 
and allow same to be refiled as a complaint 
or petition for hearing or rule relief; 

 (2) Convert the proceeding to one of hearing or 
rule relief and proceed thereafter as if the 
complaint or petition had been brought 
originally for hearing or rule relief.  If 
the proceeding is converted to a proceeding 
for hearing relief, the issues may be 
restricted to those material facts in issue.  
[Eff 12/31/90; comp    ] (Auth: 
HRS §§91-8, 368-3) (Imp: HRS §§91-8, 368-3) 

 
 
 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-64 

 
 
 

 §12-46-71  Proposed findings of fact and 
conclusions of law.  (a)  The parties, upon first 
obtaining the permission of the commission or hearings 
examiner, may file and serve upon all other parties to 
the proceeding, written proposed findings of fact and 
conclusions of law together with the reasons therefor 
within fifteen days after the close of the argument or 
submission of requested or permitted memoranda, 
whichever is later.  The submission, wherever 
possible, shall contain specific references to the 
record and shall state the authorities relied upon. 
 (b) Any grant of permission shall be at the sole 
discretion of the commission or hearings examiner.  
When the argument has been conducted by a hearings 
examiner, the parties shall not, under any 
circumstances, file proposed findings of fact and 
conclusions of law with the commission.  [Eff 
12/31/90; comp    ] (Auth: HRS §§91-8, 
368-3) (Imp: HRS §§91-8, 91-12, 368-3) 
 
 
 
 §12-46-72  Commission's decision.  (a)  When the 
argument has been held before the commission, the 
commission, as expeditiously as possible after the 
close of the argument or submission of all permitted 
or requested memoranda, whichever is later, shall 
issue its final decision and order. 
 (b) When the petition has been contested, and 
the commission's decision and order is adverse to any 
party, the commission shall also issue and serve upon 
each party to the proceeding, together with its final 
decision and order, separate findings of fact and 
conclusions of law. 
 (c) All final decisions and orders and any 
findings of fact and conclusions of law issued by the 
commission shall be based upon the whole record and 
supported by reliable probative and substantial 
evidence, including those facts on which the 
commission properly took judicial notice.  [Eff 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-65 

 
 
 

12/31/90; comp    ] (Auth: HRS §§91-8, 
368-3) (Imp: HRS §§91-8, 91-12, 368-3) 
 
 
 
 §12-46-73  Hearing Examiner's Decision.  (a)  
When the argument has been held before a hearings 
examiner, the hearings examiner, as expeditiously as 
possible after the close of the argument or submission 
of all requested or permitted memoranda, whichever is 
later, shall file with the commission the hearings 
examiner's decision and any proposed order. 
 (b) When the petition has been contested and the 
decision and order is adverse to any party, the 
hearings examiner shall file with the decision and 
order separate findings of fact and conclusions of 
law. 
 (c) The decision, findings of fact, conclusions 
of law, and any order proposed by the hearings 
examiner shall be based upon the whole record and 
supported by the reliable, probative, and substantial 
evidence, including those facts of which the hearings 
examiner properly took official notice. 
 (d) The hearings examiner shall serve a copy of 
the decision and any proposed order, together with any 
findings of fact and conclusions of law upon each 
party by personal service or by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested.  Where 
notice of the argument has been served by publication 
and the party so served has failed to appear at the 
argument, service of the decision is complete upon its 
mailing to the party at the party's last known 
address.  [Eff 12/31/90; comp    ] (Auth: 
HRS §§91-8, 368-3) (Imp: HRS §§91-8, 91-11, 368-3) 
 
 
 
 §12-46-74  Commission's action on proposed 
decisions.  (a)  Where the petition has been 
contested, any party adversely affected by the 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-66 

 
 
 

hearings examiner's decision within fifteen days after 
the receipt of a copy of the decision, may file with 
the commission written exceptions to the whole or any 
part of the decision and request review by the 
commission.  Each written exception shall specify the 
portions of the record and authorities relied upon to 
sustain each point.  A copy of the written exceptions 
shall be served by the party so excepting upon each 
party to the proceeding, and upon the hearings 
examiner.  Unless the time has been extended, no 
written exceptions shall be filed or accepted for 
filing after the time specified, except by leave of 
the commission for good cause shown. 
 (b) Where the petition has been contested and 
written exceptions filed, any party may file and serve 
upon all other parties and the hearings examiner a 
statement in support of the decision within fifteen 
days after receipt of a copy of the written 
exceptions. 
 (c) Where the petition has been contested and 
whenever written exceptions have been timely filed, 
all parties to the proceedings shall be afforded the 
opportunity to present oral argument to the commission 
concerning the proposed decision.  The commission 
shall personally consider the whole record or portions 
of the record as may have been cited by the parties 
either in support or in opposition to the decision.  
All parties shall be served with notice of the time 
and place of argument at least five days prior to the 
time for argument.  Within a reasonable time after 
argument has been heard, the commission shall issue a 
final decision and order, either affirming, modifying, 
or reversing, in whole or in part, the hearing 
examiner's decision. 
 (d) Where the petition has not been contested, 
or if no written exceptions have been filed, the 
commission, within a reasonable time after the 
hearings examiner's decision has been filed, shall 
issue a written final decision and order, either 
adopting modifying, or reversing, in whole or in part, 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-67 

 
 
 

the hearings examiner's proposed decision.  The 
commission shall state with specificity in the final 
decision the reasons for any modification or reversal, 
in whole or in part, of the hearings examiner's 
proposed decision.  [Eff 12/31/90; comp    
   ] (Auth: HRS §§91-8, 368-3) (Imp: HRS 
§§91-8, 91-11, 91-12, 368-3) 
 
 
 
 §12-46-75  Order, effect.  Any decision and order 
of declaratory relief, whether granting or denying the 
petition, shall have the same force and effect as 
other decisions and orders issued by the commission.  
[Eff 12/31/90; comp    ] (Auth: HRS §§91-
8, 368-3) (Imp: HRS §§91-8, 368-3) 
 
  



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-68 

 
 
 

SUBCHAPTER 3 
 

RULE RELIEF 
 
 
 §12-46-81  Contents of petition for rule relief.  
The commission's executive director or any interested 
person may petition the commission for the amendment, 
adoption, or repeal of a rule.  The petition for rule 
relief shall set forth the test of the rule to be 
repealed, or the test of any proposed rule, the 
adoption of which is being sought, or the test of any 
existing rule, the amendment of which is being sought, 
together with the proposed amendment.  The petition 
shall further state concisely and with particularity 
the facts and circumstances giving rise to the 
petition, including the petitioner's interest and 
reasons for filing the petition, the necessity for the 
relief and the anticipated effect or impact of the 
relief, the questions or issues raised and 
petitioner's position or contentions with respect 
thereto.  [Eff 12/31/90; comp    ] (Auth: 
HRS §§91-6, 368-3) (Imp: HRS §§91-6, 368-3) 
 
 
 
 §12-46-82  Disposition.  (a)  The commission, 
within the time permitted by chapter 91, HRS, shall 
either deny the petition further consideration, or 
initiate public rulemaking procedures in accordance 
with this subchapter and chapter 91, HRS. 
 (b) Without limiting the generality of the 
foregoing, the commission may deny any petition which: 
 (1) Fails to substantially conform with the 

requirements of section 12-46-81; 
 (2) Discloses no sufficient reasons justifying 

the institution of public rulemaking 
procedures; or 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-69 

 
 
 

 (3) Is frivolous.  [Eff 12/31/90; comp   
   ] (Auth: HRS §§91-6, 368-3) 
(Imp: HRS §§91-6, 368-3) 

 
 
 §12-46-83  Notice of determination.  The 
commission shall promptly notify the petitioner in 
writing of a determination not to consider the 
petition and shall further state the reasons therefor.  
[Eff 12/31/90; comp    ] (Auth: HRS §§91-
6, 368-3) (Imp: HRS §§91-6, 368-3) 
 
 
 
 §12-46-84  Determination final.  Unless otherwise 
provided by law, the petitioner shall have no right to 
move the commission for reconsideration or to seek 
judicial review of any determination.  [Eff 12/31/90; 
comp    ] (Auth: HRS §§91-6, 368-3) (Imp: 
HRS §§91-6, 368-3) 
 
 
 
 §12-46-85  Additional facts or supplemental 
memorandum.  The commission may require the petitioner 
or any person or the commission's executive director 
to submit a statement of additional facts or a 
memorandum, the purpose of which is to clarify a 
specific factual issue, position, or contention which 
will reasonably aid the commission.  [Eff 12/31/90; 
comp    ]  (Auth: HRS §§91-6, 368-3) (Imp: 
HRS §§91-6, 368-3) 
 
 
 
 §12-46-86  Public hearing.  Subject to sections 
91-4 and 91-17, HRS, a public hearing shall be held 
for a petition for rule relief considered by the 
commission.  Notice of the public hearing shall be 
given at least thirty days before the public hearing 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-70 

 
 
 

is held.  The hearing shall be at the time and place 
set forth in the notice of public hearing but at that 
time and place may be continued from day to day or 
adjourned to a later day or to a different place 
without notice other than the announcement thereof at 
the hearing.  The commission shall afford, the 
commission's chief attorney and all interested persons 
an opportunity to present data, their views or 
arguments, orally or in writing.  [Eff 12/31/90; comp 
   ] (Auth: HRS §§91-6, 368-3) (Imp: HRS 
§§91-3, 368-3) 
 
 
 
 §12-46-87  Notice of public hearing.  (a)  The 
commission shall publish notice of the public hearing 
in a newspaper of general circulation throughout the 
State, and which is printed and issued at least twice 
weekly.  The notice shall be published once in two 
consecutive weeks, and the last published notice shall 
appear at least thirty days prior to the hearing. 
 (b) The commission shall further transmit, by 
first class mail, the notice to all interested persons 
who have timely requested in writing the notice. 
 (c) The notice shall state the time, date, and 
place for the public hearing and shall contain the 
substance of the proposed rule change to be considered 
at the public hearing.  [Eff 12/31/90; comp   
   ] (Auth: HRS §§91-6, 368-3) (Imp: HRS 
§§91-3, 92-41, 368-3) 
 
 
 
 §12-46-88  Procedure at public hearing.  At the 
commencement of the public hearing the member of the 
commission presiding at the public hearing shall read 
the notice of hearing and shall then briefly prescribe 
the procedure to be followed at the public hearing.  
All witnesses testifying at the public hearing shall 
state their name, address, and who, if anyone, the 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-71 

 
 
 

witness represents, and other information as the 
presiding member of the commission may request.  Every 
witness shall be subject to questioning by members of 
the commission or by any other representative of the 
commission.  Questioning of the witnesses by other 
persons shall not be permitted except when the 
presiding member of the commission expressly permits 
that questions.  [Eff 12/31/90; comp   
 ]  (Auth: HRS §§91-6, 368-3) (Imp: HRS §§91-3, 
368-3) 
 
 
 
 §12-46-89  Transcript of the testimony.  
Testimony given at the public hearing shall not be 
recorded verbatim unless the commission at its sole 
discretion, either without suggestion or upon the 
request of any interested party, orders otherwise.  
All written documents shall be received and made part 
of the public record at the discretion of the 
commission.  [Eff 12/31/90; comp    ] 
(Auth: HRS §§91-6, 368-3) (Imp: HRS §§91-6, 368-3) 
 
 
 
 §12-46-90  Decision.  (a)  The commission shall 
render its decision at the public hearing or at a 
time, date, and place as is announced at the public 
hearing.  The commission, upon the request of any 
interested person, shall issue a concise statement of 
the principle reasons for and against its decision.  
In making its decision, the commission shall consider 
all written and oral submissions respecting the 
proposed rule relief.  Unless otherwise provided by 
law, the requirements of section 12-46-37 shall not 
apply to a decision rendered pursuant to this section. 
 (b) Unless otherwise provided by law, any 
decision rendered pursuant to this section shall not 
be subject to a motion for reconsideration or judicial 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-72 

 
 
 

review.  [Eff 12/31/90; comp    ] (Auth: 
HRS §§91-6, 368-3) (Imp: HRS §§91-3, 368-3) 
 
 
 
 §12-46-91  No restriction on commission.  Nothing 
contained in this subchapter shall be construed to 
prohibit or restrict the right of the commission from 
initiating its own rulemaking proceeding on any 
matter, whether disclosed in any petition or not.  
[Eff 12/31/90; comp    ] (Auth: HRS §§91-
6, 368-3) (Imp: HRS §§91-3, 368-3) 
 
  



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-73 

 
 
 

SUBCHAPTER 4 
 

SEX DISCRIMINATION 
 
 
 §12-46-101  General provisions.  (a)  Chapter 
378, HRS, prohibits any employer or other covered 
entity from discriminating in employment because of 
sex including gender identity or expression and sexual 
orientation except where sex is a bona fide 
occupational qualification (BFOQ).  Chapter 378, HRS, 
and this subchapter apply to[males and females 
[alike.] all forms of sex discrimination based on an 
individual’s actual or perceived gender identity or 
expression or sexual orientation, and regardless of 
whether an individual’s gender-related identity or 
expression or sexual orientation is the same as or 
different from that traditionally associated with the 
individual’s sex at birth. 
 (b) The principle of non-discrimination requires 
that individuals be considered on the basis of 
individual capacities and not on the basis of any 
characteristics generally attributed to a group.  [Eff 
12/31/90; am and comp              ] (Auth: HRS §§368-
3, 378-8) (Imp: HRS §§368-3, 378-8) 
 
 
 
 §12-46-102  Bona fide occupational qualification 
(BFOQ).  (a)  The burden of proving that sex is a BFOQ 
rests upon the employer or other covered entity 
seeking the exception. 
 (b) The BFOQ exception as to sex shall be 
strictly and narrowly construed.  The commission 
believes that most jobs can be performed equally well 
by [a male or a female,] persons without regard to 
sex, and that individual differences rather than sex 
differences are the determining factors. 
 (c) An employer or other covered entity may make 
an inquiry of the commission as to whether sex is a 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-74 

 
 
 

BFOQ for a particular job.  The commission shall give 
informal opinions in response to such inquiries. 
 (d) The following situations do not constitute 
BFOQ exceptions to chapter 378, HRS: 
 (1) The refusal to hire or promote a female 

because of her sex based on assumptions of 
the comparative employment characteristics 
of females in general, e.g., the assumption 
that the absence or turnover rate among 
females is higher than among males; or 

 (2) The refusal to hire or promote an individual 
based on stereotyped characterizations of 
the sexes, e.g., that males are less capable 
of assembling intricate equipment; that 
females are less capable of being aggressive 
salespersons; or 

 (3) The refusal to hire, refer, recommend, or 
consider for a position, or promote an 
individual because of preferences or sense 
of propriety of co-workers, the employer, 
client, or customer; or 

 (4) The fact that the employer may have to 
provide separate facilities because of a 
person's sex will not justify discrimination 
under the BFOQ exception unless the expense 
would clearly be unreasonable. 

(e) The following situations are recognized as 
those in which a distinction based on sex may be a 
bona fide occupational qualification: 
 (1) Where it is necessary for the purpose of 

authenticity or genuineness, e.g., an actor 
to play a male role or a female to model 
feminine apparel; or 

 (2) Where public morals demand that one sex be 
given preference over the other in 
performing a particular function, e.g., a 
masseuse to work at a women's health club; a 
male to work as an attendant in a man's 
washroom; a female to work as a fitter of 
feminine apparel. 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-75 

 
 
 

 (f) Employers or other covered entities shall 
assign job duties and make other reasonable  
accommodations so as to minimize the number of jobs 
for which sex is a BFOQ.  [Eff 12/31/90; am and comp 
   ] (Auth: HRS §§368-3, 378-8) (Imp: HRS 
§§368-3, 378-3, 378-8) 
 
 
 §12-46-103  Pre-employment practices.  (a)  
Employers or other covered entities engaged in 
recruiting activity shall recruit employees [of both 
sexes] without regard to sex for all jobs.  Employers 
or other covered entities placing advertisements 
indicating any sex preference, limitation, 
specification, or discrimination are in violation of 
chapter 378, HRS, unless sex is a BFOQ for the 
particular position involved. 
 (b) It shall be unlawful for any publication or 
other media to separate listings of job openings into 
"male" and "female" classifications or use job titles 
which specify one sex. 
 (c) A pre-employment inquiry shall not ask 
"male---, female---" or "Mr., Mrs., Miss, Ms." unless 
the inquiry is a BFOQ.  [Eff 12/31/90; am and comp 
     ] (Auth: HRS §§368-3, 378-8) 
(Imp: HRS §§368-3, 378-2) 
 
 
 
 §12-46-104  Employee selection.  (a)  Tests of 
physical agility or strength shall not be used unless 
the test is administered pursuant to a BFOQ.  No 
applicant or employee shall be refused the opportunity 
to demonstrate that he or she has the requisite 
strength or agility to perform the job in question. 
 (b) Use of height or weight standards which 
discriminate against one sex or the other is unlawful 
unless pursuant to a BFOQ.  [Eff 12/31/90; comp  
   ] (Auth: HRS §§368-3, 378-8) (Imp: HRS 
§§368-3, 378-2) 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-76 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 §12-46-105  Terms, conditions, and privileges of 
employment.  (a)  Wages shall not be related to or 
based on the sex of the employees. 
 (b) The employer shall not restrict one sex to 
certain job classifications.  The employer shall make 
jobs available to all qualified employees in all 
classifications without regard to sex. 
 (c) Employees [of both sexes] shall be treated 
equally, without regard to sex, in regard to all 
training programs, opportunities for promotions, and 
fringe benefits.  [Eff 12/31/90; am and comp      
] (Auth: HRS §§368-3, 378-8) (Imp: HRS §§368-3, 378-2) 
 
 
 
 §12-46-106  Pregnancy, childbirth, and related 
medical conditions; general policy.  [Females] 
Individuals shall not be penalized in their terms or 
conditions of employment because they require time 
away from work [on account of disability] for a known 
limitation due to or resulting from pregnancy, 
childbirth, or [related] medical conditions[.] related 
to pregnancy or childbirth.  [Eff 12/31/90; am and 
comp    ] (Auth: HRS §§368-3, 378-8) (Imp: 
HRS §§368-3, 378-8) 
 
 
 
 §12-46-107  Hiring, retention, and accommodation 
of pregnant [females.] individuals.  (a)  An employer 
shall not exclude from employment a pregnant [female] 
applicant because of [her] pregnancy. 
 (b) It is an unlawful discriminatory practice to 
discharge [a female] a pregnant individual from 
employment or to penalize [her] the employee in terms, 
conditions, and privileges of employment because [she] 
the employee requires time away from work for 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-77 

 
 
 

[disability] a known limitation due to or resulting 
from pregnancy, childbirth, or related medical 
conditions. 
 (c) An employer shall make every reasonable 
accommodation to the needs of the [female] individual 
affected by [disability due to and resulting from] 
pregnancy, childbirth, or related medical conditions.  
[Eff 12/31/90; am and comp                ] (Auth: HRS 
§§368-3, 378-8) (Imp: HRS §§368-3, 378-1, 378-2) 
 
 
 
 §12-46-108  Leave due to pregnancy, childbirth, 
or related medical conditions.  (a) [Disability due to 
and resulting from pregnancy] Pregnancy, childbirth, 
or related medical conditions shall be considered by 
the employer to be justification for a leave, with or 
without pay, by the [female] pregnant employee for a 
reasonable period of time.  "Reasonable period of 
time" as used in this section shall be determined by 
the employee's physician, with regard for the 
employee's physical condition and the job 
requirements. 
 (b) The employer may request a doctor's 
certificate estimating the length of leave and the 
estimated commencement and termination dates of leave 
required by the employee. 
 (c) [A female] An employee who has taken leave 
due to pregnancy or related medical conditions shall 
be reinstated to [her] the employee’s original job or 
to a position of comparable status and pay, without 
loss of accumulated service credits and privileges.  
The employer may request, prior to the employee's 
return, a medical certificate from the employee's 
physician attesting to [her] the employee’s physical 
condition and approving [her] the employee’s return to 
work. 
 (d) Chapter 378, HRS, does not require any 
employer to grant paid or unpaid child care leave of 
absence.  Any employer providing such leaves shall do 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-78 

 
 
 

so without regard to the sex of the employee applying 
for such leave.  [Eff 12/31/90; am and comp      
] (Auth: HRS §§368-3, 378-8) (Imp: HRS §§368-3, 378-1, 
378-2) 
 
 
 
 §12-46-109  Sexual harassment.  (a)  Harassment 
on the basis of sex is a violation of chapter 378, 
HRS.  Unwelcome sexual advances, requests for sexual 
favors, and other verbal or physical conduct or visual 
forms of harassment of a sexual nature constitute 
sexual harassment when: 
 (1) Submission to that conduct is made either 

explicitly or implicitly a term or condition 
of an individual's employment; or 

 (2) Submission to or rejection of that conduct 
by an individual is used as the basis for 
employment decisions affecting that 
individual; or 

 (3) That conduct has the purpose or effect of 
unreasonably interfering with an 
individual's work performance or creating an 
intimidating, hostile, or offensive working  
environment. 

 (b) In determining whether alleged conduct 
constitutes sexual harassment, the commission will 
look at the record as a whole and at the totality of 
the circumstances, such as the nature of the sexual 
advances and the context in which the alleged 
incidents occurred.  The determination 
 of the legality of a particular action will be made 
from the facts, on a case by case basis. 
 (c) An employer shall be responsible for its 
acts and those of its agents and supervisory employees 
with respect to sexual harassment regardless of 
whether the specific acts complained of were 
authorized or even forbidden, and regardless of 
whether the employer or other covered entity knew or 
should have known of their occurrence.  The commission 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-79 

 
 
 

will examine the circumstances of the particular 
employment relationship and the job functions 
performed by the individual in determining whether an 
individual acted in either a supervisory or agency 
capacity. 
 (d) With respect to conduct between employees, 
an employer shall be responsible for acts of sexual 
harassment in the workplace where the employer or its 
agents or supervisory employees knows or should have 
known of the conduct and fails to take immediate and 
appropriate corrective action.  An employee who has 
been sexually harassed on the job by a co-worker 
should inform the employer, its agent, or supervisory 
employee of the harassment; however, an employee's 
failure to give such notice may not be an affirmative 
defense. 
 (e) An employer may be responsible for the acts 
of non-employees, with respect to sexual harassment of 
employees at the workplace, where the employer knows 
or should have known of the conduct and fails to take 
immediate and appropriate corrective action.  In 
reviewing these cases, the commission will consider 
the extent of the employer's control and any other 
legal responsibility which the employer may have with 
respect to the conduct of the non-employees. 
 (f) Where employment opportunities or benefits 
are granted because of an individual's submission to 
the employer's sexual advances or requests for sexual 
favors, the employer may be held liable for unlawful 
sex discrimination against other persons who were 
qualified for but denied that employment opportunity 
or benefit. 
 (g) Prevention is the best tool for the 
elimination of sexual harassment.  Employers should 
affirmatively raise the subject, express strong 
disapproval, develop appropriate sanctions, inform 
employees of their right to raise and how to raise the 
issue of sexual harassment, and take any other steps 
necessary to prevent sexual harassment from occurring.   



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-80 

 
 
 

[Eff 12/31/90; comp    ] (Auth: HRS §§368-
3, 378-8) (Imp: HRS §§368-3, 378-2) 
 
 
 
 §12-46-110  Employment agencies.  (a)  Employment 
agencies shall not: 
 (1) Refer or refuse to refer applicants for jobs 

upon the basis of the sex of the applicant; 
 (2) Maintain separate application forms or 

separate files for male and female jobs and 
job candidates; 

 (3) Accept or process any job order which 
contains or expresses directly or indirectly 
any limitation, specification, preference, 
or discrimination as to sex, unless based on 
a BFOQ; and 

 (4) Solicit and interview applicants on the 
basis of sex unless sex is a BFOQ. 

 (b) Employment agencies which deal exclusively 
with one sex are engaged in an unlawful discriminatory 
practice, except to the extent that those agencies 
limit their services to furnishing employees for 
particular jobs for which sex is a BFOQ. 
 (c) An employment agency that receives a job 
order containing an unlawful sex specification shall 
share responsibility with the employer placing the job 
order if the agency fills the order knowing that sex 
specification is not a BFOQ.  [Eff 12/31/90; comp  
   ] (Auth: HRS §§368-3, 378-8) (Imp: HRS 
§§368-3, 378-2) 
 
 
 
 §12-46-111  Labor organizations.  (a)  Labor 
organizations shall not utilize information on 
applications for membership which would signify the 
sex of an applicant. 
 (b) It shall be an unlawful discriminatory 
practice for a labor organization to indicate in any 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-81 

 
 
 

manner that an individual is ineligible for membership 
because of sex or that there are different standards 
which are based on sex. 
 (c) Apprenticeship programs shall be open [to 
both sexes] without regard to sex in all jobs for 
which sex is not a BFOQ. 
 (d) A labor organization shall represent all 
members fairly without regard to sex.  Female and male 
members shall be granted the same privileges, powers, 
rights, duties, and responsibilities. 
 (e) Labor organizations maintaining union hiring 
halls shall be bound by the rules applicable to 
employment agencies in section 12-46-110.  [Eff 
12/31/90; am and comp    ] (Auth: HRS 
§§368-3, 378-8) (Imp: HRS §§368-3, 378-2) 
 
 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-82 

 
 
 

SUBCHAPTER 5 
 

MARITAL STATUS DISCRIMINATION 
 
 
 §12-46-121  General policy.  Chapter 378, HRS, 
prohibits any employer or other covered entity from 
discriminating in employment because of the 
individual's marital status.  Chapter 378, HRS, and 
policies apply to males and females alike.  
[Eff 12/31/90; comp    ] (Auth: HRS §§368-
3, 378-8) (Imp: HRS §§368-3, 378-8) 
 
 
 
 §12-46-122  Bona fide occupational qualification 
(BFOQ).  The BFOQ exception as to marital status shall 
be strictly and narrowly construed.  The burden of 
proving that marital status is a BFOQ rests upon the 
employer or other covered entity seeking to rely on 
the exception.  The determination of the legality of 
an alleged BFOQ will be made from an examination of 
the employer's business requirements and the totality 
of the circumstances, on a case by case basis.  [Eff 
12/31/90; comp    ] (Auth: HRS §§368-3, 
378-8) (Imp: HRS §§368-3, 378-3) 
 
 
 
 §12-46-123  Pre-employment practices and 
policies.  (a)  An employer or other covered entity 
placing a help wanted advertisement indicating any 
marital status preference, limitation, or 
specification may request an advisory determination 
from the commission as to whether it is a violation of 
the statute.  The commission shall give informal 
opinions in response to such requests. 
 (b) A pre-employment inquiry or application 
shall not ask: 
 (1) Mr., Mrs., Miss, Ms., or 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-83 

 
 
 

 (2) Single, married, divorced, widowed, 
separated, etc.; or 
 (3) Name and ages of spouse and children; or 
 (4) Spouse's place of employment. 
 (c) An applicant may be asked whether he or she 
has used another name in order that the applicant's 
past work record may be checked.  [Eff 12/31/90; comp 
   ] (Auth: HRS §§368-3, 378-8) (Imp: HRS 
§§368-3, 378-2) 
 
 
 
 §12-46-124  Employee selection.  An employment 
decision shall not be based on an individual's marital 
status.  [Eff 12/31/90; comp    ] (Auth: 
HRS §§368-3, 378-8) (Imp: HRS §§368-3, 378-2) 
 
 
 
 §12-46-125  Terms, conditions, and privileges of 
employment.  (a)  It shall be unlawful for an employer 
or other covered entity to discriminate on the basis 
of marital status with regard to wages, job duties, 
fringe benefits, or other terms, conditions, and 
privileges of employment. 
 (b) It is violation of chapter 378, HRS, for an 
employer to: 
 (1) Give different fringe benefits to married 

employees as opposed to single employees; or 
 (2) Make available fringe benefits for wives of 

male employees which are not made available 
to single female employees; or 

 (3) Make available fringe benefits for the 
husbands of female employees which are not 
make available to single male employees; or 

 (4) To condition fringe benefits upon whether an 
employee is "head of household", "principal 
wage earner", "secondary wage earner", or 
other similar status. 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-84 

 
 
 

 (c) Married and single employees shall have 
equal access to all training programs and 
opportunities for promotion.  [Eff 12/31/90; comp  
  ] (Auth: HRS §§368-3, 378-8) (Imp: HRS 
§§368-3, 378-2) 
 
 §§12-46-126 to 12-46-130 (Reserved) 
 
  



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-85 

 
 
 

SUBCHAPTER 6 
 

AGE DISCRIMINATION 
 
 
 
 §12-46-131  General policy.  Chapter 378, HRS, 
prohibits any employer or other covered entity from 
discriminating in employment because of a person's 
age, except where age is a bona fide occupational 
qualification (BFOQ).  [Eff 12/31/90; comp      
   ] (Auth: HRS §§368-3, 378-8) (Imp: HRS 
§§368-3, 378-2, 378-3) 
 
 
 
 §12-46-132  Bona fide occupational qualification 
(BFOQ).  (a)  Whether occupational qualifications will 
be deemed to be "bona fide" to a specific job and 
"reasonably necessary to the normal operation of the 
particular business" shall be determined on the basis 
of all the pertinent facts surrounding each particular 
situation.  This concept of a BFOQ shall have limited 
scope and application, and shall be narrowly 
construed. 
 (b) An employer or other covered entity 
asserting a BFOQ defense has the burden of proving 
that: 
 (1) The age limit is reasonably necessary to the 

essence of the business; and either 
 (2) All or substantially all individuals 

excluded from the job involved are in fact 
disqualified; or 

 (3) Some of the individuals so excluded possess 
a disqualifying trait that cannot be 
ascertained except by reference to age. 

If the employer or other covered entity's objective in 
asserting a BFOQ is the goal of public safety, the 
employer or covered entity shall prove that the 
challenged practice does in fact effectuate that goal 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-86 

 
 
 

and that there is no acceptable alternative which 
would better advance it or equally advance it with 
less discriminatory impact. 
 (c) An age requirement specified by law, rule, 
or regulation, shall be considered a BFOQ where the 
requirement is related to the work which the employee 
must perform.  [Eff 12/31/90; comp    ] 
(Auth: HRS §§368-3, 378-8) (Imp: HRS §§368-3, 378-3) 
 
 
 
 §12-46-133  Pre-employment practices.  (a)  Where 
an employer or other covered entity, as a part of its 
recruitment process, advertises job openings through 
the media, employment agencies, posting of notices, or 
through other means, it is discrimination on the basis 
of age for the employer to express or cause to be 
expressed a preference for individuals of a particular 
age or range of ages unless there is a BFOQ for the 
position.  Phrases such as "young", "college student", 
"girl", "boy", "recent college graduate", "retired 
person", supplement your pension", or others of a 
similar nature are prohibited unless there is a BFOQ 
for the position. 
 (b) No newspaper or other publication published 
within the State shall accept, publish, print, or 
otherwise cause to be advertised any notice of an 
employment opportunity from an employer or other 
covered entity containing any indication of a 
preference, limitation, or specification based on age, 
unless the newspaper of publication has obtained the 
approval of the department indicating that the 
preference, limitation, or specification is a BFOQ. 
 (c) Any pre-employment inquiry in connection 
with prospective employment which expresses directly 
or indirectly any limitation, specification, or 
discrimination as to age shall be unlawful unless 
based on a BFOQ.  An applicant shall not be: 
 (1) Asked his or her age or date of birth; or 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-87 

 
 
 

 (2) Required to produce proof of age in the form 
of a birth certificate or baptismal record. 

 (d) Nothing in subsection (c) shall be construed 
to prohibit: 
 (1) Any inquiry as to whether or not the 

applicant meets the minimum age requirement 
set by statute or rule.  If the applicant is 
under eighteen years of age, the employer 
may require proof of age in the form of an 
employment certificate or certificate of 
age; or 

 (2) An employer, after an applicant has been 
hired, to inquire as to the applicant's age 
where those inquiries serve legitimate 
record-keeping purposes.  [Eff 12/31/90; 
comp    ] (Auth: HRS §§368-3, 
378-8) (Imp: HRS §§368-3, 378-2) 

 
 
 
 §12-46-134  Employee selection.  (a)  It is 
unlawful for an employer or other covered entity to 
discriminate in employment by giving preference 
because of age.  Thus, if two people of different ages 
apply for the same position, the employer or other 
covered entity may not lawfully turn down either one 
on the basis of age but shall make the decision on the 
basis of some other factor. 
 (b) Nothing in this section shall be construed 
to preclude an employer from selecting from among all 
applicants an individual who is in fact better 
qualified for a position over one who is less 
qualified or from hiring an individual on the basis of 
experience and training superior to other applicants.  
[Eff 12/31/90; comp    ] (Auth: HRS §§368-
3, 378-3) (Imp: HRS §§368-3, 378-2) 
 
 
 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-88 

 
 
 

 §12-46-135  Physical or medical examination of 
applicants and employees.  It is discrimination on the 
basis of age for any employer or other covered entity 
to require an applicant or employee who is within a 
certain age group to undergo a physical or medical 
examination to determine whether or not the applicant 
or employee meets the job-related physical or medical 
standards when the examinations are not required of 
all applicants or employees.  [Eff 12/31/90; comp  
   ] (Auth: HRS §§368-3, 378-8) (Imp: HRS 
§§368-3, 378-2) 
 
 
 
 §12-46-136  Bona fide employee benefit plan.  An 
employer may observe the terms of any bona fide 
employee benefit plan, such as a retirement, pension, 
or insurance plan, which is not a subterfuge to evade 
the purposes of chapter 378, HRS, in regards to age 
discrimination.  However, no benefit plan shall be 
used as a reason for not hiring or for terminating any 
individual on the basis of age.  [Eff 12/31/90; comp 
   ] (Auth: HRS §§368-3, 378-8) (Imp: HRS 
§§368-3, 378-8)  
 
 
 
 §12-46-137  Prohibition of mandatory retirement.  
(a) Before April 30, 1984, nothing in chapter 378, 
HRS, was deemed to affect the operation of the terms 
or conditions of any bona fide retirement, pension, 
employee benefit, or insurance plan.  This authorized 
involuntary retirement regardless of age provided that 
the retirement is pursuant to the terms of a bona fide 
retirement or pension plan.  The involuntary 
retirement provision had to be contained in a bona 
fide pension or retirement plan and be required by the 
terms of the plan and not be optional. 
 (b) Effective April 30, 1984, section 378-3(4), 
HRS, prohibits mandatory retirement by modifying the 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-89 

 
 
 

exception for bona fide pension and retirement plans.  
To allow time for the adjustment of existing 
collective bargaining agreements and other retirement 
and pension systems, section 378-3(4), HRS, provides a 
grace period of up to two years ending April 30, 1986, 
or until the termination of the plan or agreement, 
whichever occurs first. 
 (c) It is not the intent of Act 85, SLH 1984, to 
require other changes in a bargaining agreement or 
retirement and pension plan.  An employer or other 
covered entity is not required to provide benefits 
which were not provided prior to the removal of 
mandatory retirement provisions from an employee 
retirement or pension plan. 
 (d) It shall not be unlawful for a plan to 
permit individuals to elect early retirement at a 
specified age at their own option.  Nor is it unlawful 
for a plan to require early retirement for reasons 
other than age.  [Eff 12/31/90; comp      ] 
(Auth: HRS §§368-3, 378-8) (Imp: HRS §§368-3, 378-3)  
 
 
 
 §12-46-138  Bona fide seniority systems.  (a)  It 
shall not be unlawful for an employer or other covered 
entity to observe the terms of a bona fide seniority 
system which is not a subterfuge to evade the purposes 
of chapter 378, HRS. 
 (b) A seniority system which gives those with 
longer service lesser rights and results in discharge 
or less favored treatment to those in certain age 
groups, depending upon the circumstances, may be a 
"subterfuge to evade the purposes" of chapter 378, 
HRS. 
 (c) Though a seniority system may be qualified 
by such factors as merit, capacity, or ability, any 
bona fide seniority system shall be based upon length 
of service as the primary criterion for the equitable 
allocation of available employment opportunities and 
prerogatives among younger and older workers. 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-90 

 
 
 

 (d) Unless the essential terms and conditions of 
an alleged seniority system have been communicated to 
the affected employees and can be shown to be applied 
uniformly to all of those affected, regardless of age, 
it will not be considered a bona fide seniority system 
within the meaning of chapter 378, HRS.  [Eff 
12/31/90; comp    ] (Auth: HRS §§368-3, 
378-8) (Imp: HRS §§368-3, 378-2)  
 
 
 §12-46-139  Reduction in force.  Any reduction in 
work force that causes a wholesale discharge of older 
workers for no apparent rational reason other than age 
is a violation of chapter 378, HRS.  An employer may 
not justify such a reduction on the basis that older 
employees are paid more than younger employees.  [Eff 
12/31/90; comp    ](Auth: HRS §§368-3, 
378-8) (Imp: HRS §§368-3, 378-2)  
 
  



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-91 

 
 
 

SUBCHAPTER 7  
 

RELIGIOUS DISCRIMINATION 
 
 
  
 §12-46-151  General policies.  Chapter 378, HRS, 
prohibits any employer or other covered entity from 
discriminating in employment because of a person's 
religion.  This subchapter serves as a standard for 
determining whether employment policies concerning an 
employee's religious belief conform with the basic 
purposes of chapter 378, HRS. The commission shall 
review each case on an individual basis in an effort 
to seek an equitable application of this subchapter to 
the variety of situations which arise due to the 
varied religious practices of the people of this 
State.  [Eff 12/31/90; comp    ] (Auth: 
HRS §§368-3, 378-8) (Imp: HRS §§378-3, 378-8) 
 
 
 
 §12-46-152  Pre-employment practices.  (a)  It is 
a violation of chapter 378, HRS, for an employer or 
other covered entity to: 
 (1) Ask about an applicant's religious 

affiliation; 
 (2) Ask if an applicant attends religious 

services or a house of worship; or 
 (3) Ask an applicant any questions that might 

indicate or identify that person's religious 
denomination or practices. 

 (b) An employer shall justify by business 
necessity, inquiries concerning availability.  
Employers who have a legitimate interest in knowing 
the availability of their applicants prior to 
selection, shall consider procedures which would serve 
this interest without excluding persons whose 
religious practices need accommodation.  For example, 
an employer may ask:  "Apart from absences for 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-92 

 
 
 

religious observances, will you be available for work 
at the following times?"  After a position is offered, 
the employer may inquire into the need for a religious 
accommodation, if any, and determine whether an 
accommodation is possible in accordance with this 
subchapter. 
 (c) When a test or other selection procedure is 
scheduled at a time when an employee or prospective 
employee cannot attend because of his or her religious 
practices, the employer or other covered entity shall 
accommodate the employee or prospective employee 
unless undue hardship would result.  [Eff 12/31/90; 
comp    ] (Auth: HRS §§368-3, 378-8) (Imp: 
HRS §§368-3, 378-2) 
 
 
 
 §12-46-153  Employee selection.  (a)  An employer 
shall not permit an applicant's religion or the need 
for religious accommodation to affect in any way its 
decision to hire the applicant, unless the employer 
can demonstrate that it cannot reasonably accommodate 
the applicant's religious practices without undue 
hardship. 
 (b) It shall be prima facie evidence that the 
need for religious accommodation influenced a decision 
to reject an applicant when: 
 (1) Prior to selection, the employer elicits 

information which would determine an 
applicant's need for a religious 
accommodation; 

 (2) This procedure is not justified by business 
necessity; and 

 (3) The employer rejects a qualified applicant 
after the employer has determined the 
applicant's need for accommodation. 

The burden is then on the employer to demonstrate that 
factors other than need for an accommodation were the 
reasons for rejecting the qualified applicant, or that 
reasonable accommodation without undue hardship was 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-93 

 
 
 

not possible.  [Eff 12/31/90; comp      ] 
(Auth: HRS §§368-3, 378-8) (Imp: HRS §§368-3, 378-2) 
 
 
 §12-46-154  Reasonable accommodation.  (a)  After 
an employee or prospective employee notifies the 
employer or other covered entity of his or her need 
for a religious accommodation, the employer or other 
covered entity shall reasonably accommodate the 
individual's religious practices.  A refusal to 
accommodate is justified only when an employer or 
other covered entity can demonstrate that an undue 
hardship would result from each available alternative 
method of accommodation.  A mere assumption that many 
more people, with the same religious practices as the 
person being accommodated, may also need accommodation 
is not evidence of undue hardship. 
 (b) When there is more than one method of 
accommodation available which would not cause undue 
hardship, the commission will determine whether the 
accommodation offered is reasonable by examining: 
 (1) The alternatives for accommodation 

considered by the employer or other covered 
entity; and 

 (2) The alternatives for accommodation, if any, 
actually offered to the individual requiring 
accommodation. [Eff 12/31/90; comp   
   ] (Auth: HRS §§368-3, 378-8) 
(Imp: HRS §§368-3, 378-2) 

 
 
 
 §12-46-155  Alternatives for accommodating 
religious practices.  Employees and prospective 
employees most frequently request an accommodation 
because their religious practices conflict with their 
work schedules or work assignments.  The following 
alternatives are ways of accommodating the conflict 
between work schedules and religious practices which 
the commission believes the employers should consider 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-94 

 
 
 

as part of their obligation to accommodate.  These 
suggestions are not meant to be all-inclusive, as 
there are other alternatives which may reasonably 
accommodate an individual's religious practices.  
However, some alternatives for accommodating an 
individual's religious practices could, to varying 
degrees, disadvantage the individual in terms of 
wages, desirability of position, or career 
opportunities.  The obligation to provide equal 
employment opportunity to the maximum extent possible, 
irrespective of religious beliefs, requires that the 
employer or other covered entity offer the alternative 
which least disadvantages the individual requesting 
the accommodation and does not cause undue hardship on 
the employer. 
 Some examples of alternatives for accommodating 
religious practices are: 
 (1) Voluntary substitutes: 
  (A) Reasonable accommodation without undue 

hardship is possible where a voluntary 
substitute with substantially similar 
qualifications is available. 

  (B) The obligation to accommodate requires 
that employers do everything possible 
to facilitate the securing of a 
voluntary substitute with substantially 
similar qualifications. 

  (C) Some means of doing this which would 
not involve substantial costs are to: 

   (i) Allow the individual seeking the 
accommodation to secure a 
substitute from co-employees; 

   (ii) Publicize policies regarding 
accommodation and voluntary 
substitution; 

  (iii)Promote an atmosphere in which 
such substitutions are favorably 
regarded; or 

   (iv) Provide a central file, bulletin 
board, or other means for matching 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-95 

 
 
 

voluntary substitutes with 
positions for which substitutes 
are needed. 

 (2) Flexible scheduling: 
  (A) The creating of flexible work schedule 

is one means of providing reasonable 
accommodation for the religious 
practices of employees or prospective 
employees. 

  (B) The following list is an example of 
areas in which flexibility might be 
introduced: 

   (i) Flexible arrival and departure 
times; 

   (ii) Floating or optional holidays; 
   (iii)Flexible work breaks; 
   (iv) Use of lunch time in exchange for 

early departure; 
   (v) Staggered work hours; or 
   (vi) Permitting an employee to make up 

lost time due to the observance of 
a religious practice.  [Eff 
12/31/90; comp    ] 
(Auth: HRS §§368-3, 378-8) (Imp: 
HRS §§368-3, 378-2) 

 
 
 
 §12-46-156  Payment of dues to labor 
organizations.  Some collective bargaining agreements 
include a provision that each employee must join the 
labor organization or pay the labor organization a sum 
equivalent to dues.  When an employee's religious 
practices do not permit compliance with such a 
provision, the labor organization shall accommodate 
the employee by not requiring the employee to join the 
organization and by permitting the employee to donate 
a sum equivalent to dues to a nonreligious, nonlabor 
related charitable organization exempt from taxation 
under section 501 of the Federal Internal Revenue 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-96 

 
 
 

Code.  [Eff 12/31/90; comp    ] (Auth: 
HRS §§368-3, 378-8) (Imp: HRS §§368-3, 378-2) 
 
 
 
 §12-46-157  Undue hardship.  (a)  The employer or 
other covered entity has the burden of proving that an 
undue hardship renders unreasonable the required 
accommodations to the religious needs of the 
individual. 
 (b) An employer may assert undue hardship to 
justify a refusal to accommodate an employee's need to 
be absent from his or her scheduled duty hours if the 
employer can demonstrate that the accommodation would 
require more than minimum cost.  What constitutes 
minimum cost shall be determined with due regard given 
to the identifiable cost in relation to the size and 
operating cost of the employer, and the number of 
individuals who will in fact need a particular 
accommodation.  For example, costs, such as regular 
payment of premium wages for substitutes, would 
constitute undue hardship; however, the infrequent 
payment of premium wages for a substitute or the 
payment of premium wages while a more permanent 
accommodation is being sought are costs of providing a 
reasonable accommodation.  Generally, the payment of 
administrative costs necessary for providing the 
accommodation will not constitute more than a minimum 
of cost.  Administrative costs, for example, include 
those costs involved in rearranging schedules and 
recording substitutions for payroll purposes. 
 (c) Undue hardship would also be shown where a 
variance from a bona fide seniority system is 
necessary in order to accommodate an employee's 
religious practices and when doing so would deny 
another employee a job or shift preference guaranteed 
by that system.  Arrangements for voluntary 
substitutes and swaps do not constitute undue hardship 
to the extent the arrangements do not violate a bona 
fide seniority system.  Nothing in chapter 378, HRS, 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-97 

 
 
 

or this subchapter precludes an employer and a union 
from including arrangements for voluntary substitutes 
and swaps as part of a collective bargaining 
agreement.  [Eff 12/31/90; comp    ] 
(Auth: HRS §§368-3, 378-8) (Imp: HRS §§368-3, 378-2) 
 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-98 

 
 
 

SUBCHAPTER 8  
 

ANCESTRY DISCRIMINATION 
  
 
 
 §12-46-171  General policies.  (a)  Chapter 378, 
HRS, prohibits any employer or covered entity from 
discriminating in employment because of ancestry, 
except where ancestry is a bona fide occupational 
qualification.  The commission defines ancestry 
discrimination broadly and will examine with 
particular concern charges alleging that individuals 
have been denied equal employment opportunity for 
reasons related to ancestry, such as: 
 (1) Marriage to or association with persons of 

an ancestral group; 
 (2) Membership in or association with an 

organization identified with or seeking to 
promote the interest of an ancestral group; 

 (3) Attendance or participation in schools, 
churches, temples, or mosques, generally 
used by persons of an ancestral group; 
[and]or 

 (4) Because an individual's name or spouse's 
name is associated with an ancestral group. 

 (b) Chapter 378, HRS, is intended to eliminate 
covert as well as overt practices of discrimination, 
and the commission will therefore examine charges of 
unlawful discrimination principles, such as disparate 
treatment and adverse impact.  [Eff 12/31/90; am and 
comp    ] (Auth: HRS §§368-3, 378-8) (Imp: 
HRS §§368-3, 378-8) 
 
 
 
 §12-46-172  Bona fide occupational qualification 
(BFOQ).  (a) The BFOQ exception as to ancestry shall 
be strictly and narrowly construed. 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-99 

 
 
 

 (b) The burden of proving that ancestry is a 
BFOQ rests upon the employer or other covered entity 
seeking the exception.  [Eff 12/31/90; comp   
   ] (Auth: HRS §§368-3, 378-8) (Imp: HRS 
§§368-3, 378-3) 
 
 
 
 §12-46-173  Citizenship requirements.  It shall 
be an unlawful discriminatory practice where 
citizenship requirements have the purpose or effect of 
discriminating against an individual on the basis of 
ancestry.  [Eff 12/31/90; comp    ] 
(Auth: HRS §§368-3, 378-8) (Imp: HRS §§368-3, 378-2) 
 
 
 
 §12-46-174  Language.  (a)  Any rule requiring 
employees to speak only English or other specific 
language at all times in the work place, including 
work breaks, shall be considered a violation of 
chapter 378, HRS. 
 (b) An employer may have a rule requiring that 
employees speak only English at certain times where 
the employer can show that the rule is justified by 
business necessity. 
 (c) If an employer [believes that it] has a 
business necessity for a speak-English-only rule at 
certain times, the employer shall inform its employees 
of the general circumstances when speaking only in 
English is required and of the consequences of 
violating the rule.  If an employer fails to 
effectively notify its employees of the rule and makes 
an adverse employment decision against an individual 
based on a violation of the rule, the commission shall 
consider the application of the rule as evidence of 
discrimination on the basis of ancestry. 
 (d) Discrimination on the basis of language, 
including speech peculiar to a certain ancestry, a 
foreign accent, vernacular language, and dialects 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-100 

 
 
 

within the same national group, shall be a violation 
of chapter 378, HRS, unless language is a BFOQ for the 
particular position involved.   [Eff 12/31/90; am and 
comp                ] (Auth: HRS §§368-3, 378-8) (Imp: 
HRS §§368-3, 378-2) 
 
 
 §12-46-175  Harassment.  (a)  Harassment on the 
basis of ancestry is a violation of chapter 378, HRS. 
 (b) Ethnic slurs and other verbal or physical 
conduct relating to an individual's ancestry 
constitute harassment when this conduct: 
 (1) Has the purpose or effect of creating an 

intimidating, hostile, or offensive working 
environment; 

 (2) Has the purpose or effect of unreasonably 
interfering with an individual's work 
performance; or 

 (3) Otherwise adversely affects an individual's 
employment opportunity. 

 (c) The employer has an affirmative duty to 
maintain a working environment free of harassment on 
the basis of ancestry. 
 (d) An employer is responsible for its acts and 
those of its agents and supervisory employees with 
respect to harassment on the basis of ancestry 
regardless of whether the specific acts complained of 
were authorized or even forbidden by the employer and 
regardless of whether the employer knew or should have 
known of their occurrence.  The commission will 
examine the circumstances of the particular employment 
relationship and the job functions performed by the 
individual in determining whether an individual acts 
in a supervisory or agency capacity. 
 (e) With respect to conduct between fellow 
employees, an employer shall be responsible for acts 
of harassment in the workplace on the basis of 
ancestry, where the employer, its agent, or 
supervisory employee, knows or should have known of 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-101 

 
 
 

the conduct, unless the employer can show that it took 
immediate and appropriate corrective action. 
 (f) An employer may be held responsible for acts 
of non-employees with respect to harassment of 
employees on the basis of ancestry, where the 
employer, its agent, or supervisory employee, knows or 
should have known of the conduct and fails to take 
immediate and appropriate corrective action.  In 
reviewing these cases, the commission will consider 
the extent of the employer's control and any other 
legal responsibility which the employer may have with 
respect to the conduct of those non-employees.   
[Eff 12/31/90; comp    ] (Auth: HRS §§368-
3, 378-8) (Imp: HRS §§368-3, 378-2) 
 
 
 
 §12-46-176  Employee selection.  (a)  Any test, 
requirement, or selection procedure which has an 
adverse impact or involves disparate treatment on the 
basis of ancestry is a violation of chapter 378, HRS. 
 (b) Because height and weight requirements tend 
to exclude individuals on the basis of ancestry, they 
shall not be used unless excepted as a BFOQ.  [Eff 
12/31/90; comp    ] (Auth: HRS §§368-3, 
378-8) (Imp: HRS §§368-3, 378-2) 
 
 
 
 §12-46-177  Pre-employment inquiries.  (a)  An 
employer or other covered entity shall recruit 
employees of all ancestries for all jobs.  An employer 
or other covered entity placing advertisements 
indicating specific language requirement is in 
violation of chapter 378, HRS, unless it is a BFOQ for 
the particular job involved. 
 (b) A pre-employment interview or an employment 
application form shall not include questions or 
requests for information that would tend to disclose a 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-102 

 
 
 

person's ancestry.  Examples of such questions or 
requests for information are: 
 (1) "Of what country are you a citizen?"; 
 (2) Whether applicant is naturalized or native-

born U.S. citizen; 
 (3) Requirement that applicant produce 

naturalization papers; 
 (4) Birthplace of applicant; 
 (5) Requirement that applicant submit proof of 

birth document prior to hiring; 
 (6) Applicant's nationality, ancestry, national 

origin, descent, or parentage; 
 (7) Language commonly used by applicant; 
 (8) How applicant acquired the ability to read, 

write, or speak a foreign language; and 
 (9) Names of organizations to which the 

applicant belongs if that information would 
indicate through character or name the 
ancestry of the membership.  [Eff 12/31/90; 
comp    ] (Auth: HRS §§368-3, 
378-8) (Imp: HRS §§368-3, 378-2) 

 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-103 

 
 
 

SUBCHAPTER 9 
 

DISABILITY DISCRIMINATION 
 
 
 

§12-46-181  General provisions.  Chapter 378, 
HRS, prohibits any employer or other covered entity 
from discriminating in employment against individuals 
or persons because of a disability.  Persons with a 
disability are entitled to equal employment 
opportunities as are available to persons without a 
disability.  In 2009 the Legislature passed Act 30 and 
in 2010 the Legislature passed Act 139, which directed 
the commission to adopt administrative rules to 
conform, at minimum, to the definitions contained in 
the Americans with Disabilities Act Amendments Act 
(ADAAA), P.L. 110-325.  Consistent with the ADAAA and 
its implementing regulations, the definition of 
disability is to be construed broadly in favor of 
expansive coverage to the maximum extent permitted by 
[Chapter]chapter 378, HRS.  The primary object of 
attention in cases brought under [Chapter]chapter 378, 
HRS and these administrative rules should be whether 
covered entities have complied with their obligations 
and whether discrimination has occurred, not whether 
the person meets the definition of disability.  The 
determination of whether a person has a disability 
should not demand extensive analysis. The examples are 
used to provide guidance to the public and only 
illustrate the particular point or principle to which 
they relate in the rules.  They should not be taken 
out of context as statements of policy that would 
apply in different circumstances.  To the greatest 
extent possible, the commission will interpret the 
rules consistent with the examples, however, the 
commission shall review each case on an individual 
basis in an effort to seek an equitable application of 
this subchapter.  [Eff 8/18/94; am 3/5/12; am and comp 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-104 

 
 
 

     ] (Auth:  HRS §368-3) (Imp:  HRS 
§§378-1, 378-2) 
 
  
 

§12-46-182  Definitions.  As used in this 
subchapter, unless the context otherwise requires: 

"Being regarded as having such an impairment" 
means is subjected to a prohibited action because of 
any actual or perceived physical or mental impairment 
that is not both transitory and minor, whether or not 
that impairment substantially limits, or is perceived 
to substantially limit, a major life activity. For 
purposes of this subchapter, “transitory” is defined 
as lasting or expected to last six months or less. 
 
Example: 
If an employer refuses to hire an applicant because of 
skin graft scars, the employer has regarded the 
applicant as a person with a disability. 
 
Example: 
If an employer terminates an employee because he has 
cancer, the employer has regarded the employee as a 
person with a disability. 
  

"Bona fide occupational qualification" means:  
(1) Standards, tests, criteria, methods of 

administration, or other employment actions 
which exclude or discriminate against a 
class of persons on the basis of a specified 
physical or mental impairment, medical 
condition, or disability; and:  
(A) All or substantially all persons with 

the impairment, condition, or 
disability: 
(i) Are unable to perform the 

essential job functions with or 
without reasonable accommodation; 
or 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-105 

 
 
 

(ii) Pose a direct threat which cannot 
be eliminated or reduced by 
reasonable accommodation; and  

(B) The essence of the business would be 
undermined if all persons with the 
impairment, condition, or disability 
were not excluded. 

   
Example:  

A policy of not hiring any person with 
a particular back condition excludes a class 
of persons based upon a specified physical 
impairment.  In order to justify the policy 
as a bona fide occupational qualification, 
the employer must establish through factual 
evidence that all or substantially all 
persons with the back condition cannot do 
the essential functions of the particular 
job or pose a direct threat to self or 
others and no reasonable accommodations are 
possible.  It is not enough to show that 
"some" people cannot do the job or pose a 
direct threat.  The employer must also 
establish that the essence (central purpose 
or principal function) of the business would 
be undermined without the exclusionary 
policy.   

 
(2) The bona fide occupational qualification 

exception will be strictly and narrowly 
construed and based upon an examination of 
the employer's business requirements and the 
totality of circumstances on a case-by-case 
basis.     

 
 "Contractual or other arrangement" means, but is 
not limited to, a relationship with an employment or 
referral agency; labor union, including collective 
bargaining agreements; an organization providing 
fringe benefits to an employee of the employer or 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-106 

 
 
 

other covered entity; or an organization providing 
training and apprenticeship programs. 
 
 "Direct threat" means:   

(1) A significant risk of substantial harm to 
the health or safety of the person or others 
that cannot be eliminated or reduced by 
reasonable accommodation based upon an 
individualized assessment.  The risk of harm 
should be identifiable, substantial, 
current, and probable. 

  (2) The factors to be considered include: 
(A) The harm that may result if the person 

with a disability performed the 
essential job functions; 

(B) The duration of the risk of harm; 
(C) The nature and severity of the 

potential harm;  
(D) Whether the harm may be "significantly 

greater" than if a non-disabled person 
performed the essential job functions; 

(E) The likelihood that the potential harm 
will occur; 

(F) The imminence of the potential harm; 
and 

(G) Whether a reasonable accommodation can 
eliminate or reduce the risk of harm 
below the level of direct threat. 

 
 Example: 

 An employee with epilepsy who works with 
hazardous machinery may not automatically pose a 
direct threat to self or others.  The employer 
must first make an individualized evaluation 
taking into account such factors as the type of 
job; the aspect of the disability and harm it may 
cause if the employee performed the essential job 
functions; the duration of the risk of harm; the 
types of seizures which have occurred; whether 
there is warning of seizures; the degree of 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-107 

 
 
 

seizure control; the employee's reliability in 
taking medication; any side effects; whether the 
harm resulting from the employee's epilepsy is 
significantly greater than for employees without 
epilepsy; and possible reasonable accommodations.  
Persons who have had no seizures because they 
regularly take medication, or who have sufficient 
advanced warning of a seizure so that they can 
stop hazardous activity, would not pose a direct 
threat to self or others because the risk of harm 
was not substantial, current, or probable.  

 
(3) The belief that a person may pose a direct 

threat to self or others shall not be based 
upon subjective perceptions, irrational 
fears, patronizing attitudes, or stereotypes 
about the nature and effect of a particular 
disability or disabilities in general.  
Generalized fears about risks from the 
employment environment, such as exacerbation 
of the disability caused by stress, cannot 
be used to disqualify a person with a 
disability.  

 
 Example: 

 A person with a history of disabling mental 
illness cannot be rejected by an employer because 
of a generalized fear that the work would trigger 
a relapse of the illness.  The mere possibility 
that a person with a disability may harm the 
health or safety of self or others is 
insufficient to establish a direct threat because 
the risk of harm is not identifiable, 
substantial, current, or probable.   

  
"Disability" means:   
(1) With respect to a person: 

(A) Having a physical or mental 
impairment which substantially 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-108 

 
 
 

limits one or more major life 
activities; 

(B) Having a record of such an 
impairment; or 

(C) Being regarded as having such an 
impairment, as in these rules. 

(2) [Disability does not include 
transvestism, transsexualism, or gender 
identity disorders not resulting from 
physical impairments.]  Disability 
[also] does not include pedophilia, 
exhibitionism, voyeurism, other sexual 
behavior disorders, compulsive 
gambling, kleptomania, pyromania, or 
psychoactive substance use disorders 
resulting from current illegal use of 
drugs.  

   
 "Drug" means a controlled substance, as defined 
in the Uniform Controlled Substances Act, chapter 329, 
HRS.  Illegal use of drugs means the use of drugs not 
taken under the supervision of a licensed health care 
professional or other use not authorized by the 
Uniform Controlled Substances Act[.], excluding the 
use of medical cannabis pursuant to state law. 
  

"Essential functions" means:   
(1) The fundamental job duties of the employment 

position the person with a disability holds 
or desires.  The term "essential functions" 
does not include the marginal functions of 
the position.   

(2) In determining whether a job function is 
essential, the focus should be on the 
purpose and importance of the function as it 
relates to the result to be accomplished, 
rather than on the manner in which the 
function is presently performed.  Although 
it may be essential that a certain function 
be performed, often it is not essential that 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-109 

 
 
 

it be performed in a particular way, as long 
as the same result is achieved. 

(3) A job function may be considered essential 
for any of several reasons, including, but 
not limited to, the following: 
(A) The function may be essential because 

the reason the position exists is to 
perform that function; 

(B) The function may be essential because 
of the limited number of employees 
available among whom the performance of 
that job function can be distributed; 
or 

(C) The function may be highly specialized 
so that the incumbent in the position 
is hired for his or her expertise or 
ability to perform the particular 
function. 

(4) Evidence of whether a particular function is 
essential should reflect the actual 
functioning and circumstances of the 
particular job.  Factors to be considered 
include, but are not limited to: 
(A) The employer's judgment as to which 

functions are essential; 
(B) Written job descriptions prepared 

before advertising or interviewing 
applicants for the job; 

(C) The amount of time spent on the job 
performing the function; 

(D) The consequences of not requiring the 
incumbent to perform the function; 

(E) The terms of a collective bargaining 
agreement; 

(F) The work experience of past incumbents 
in the job; or 

(G) The current work experience of 
incumbents in similar jobs. 

 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-110 

 
 
 

 "Having a record of such impairment" means having 
a history of, or having been misclassified as having, 
a mental or physical impairment that substantially 
limits one or more major life activities. 
 
 Example: 

 Persons who have had cancer, heart disease, 
other debilitating illnesses, or mental illness, 
which substantially limited a major life 
activity, and whose illnesses are either cured, 
controlled, or in remission, have a history of 
having a physical impairment that substantially 
limits a major life activity. 

 
 "Job-related and consistent with business 
necessity" means:   

(1) A legitimate measure or qualification for a 
specific job which has a substantial 
relationship to successful performance of 
essential job functions.  Factors to be 
considered include, but are not limited to:   
(A) Ability to perform the essential job 

functions; 
(B) Manifest relationship to the job in 

question; 
(C) Manifest relationship to a legitimate 

job performance objective of the 
employer, such as safety and 
efficiency; or 

(D) Unavailability of any less 
discriminatory alternatives. 

(2) Factors that are not to be considered 
include, but are not limited to:  

  (A) Customer preference;  
(B) Employee morale;  
(C) Corporate image;  

  (D) Convenience; 
(E) Future need to fill other positions in 

a line of progression where the other 
positions have qualification standards 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-111 

 
 
 

or other criteria, which are bona fide 
occupational qualifications based upon 
disability, not applicable to the 
particular position;  

(F) Possibility of increased insurance 
costs because of disability; and  

(G) Possibility that the person may have a 
high rate of absenteeism in the future 
because of disability.   

 
 "Major life activities" means: 

(1) Basic activities that most people in the 
general population can perform with little 
or no difficulty, including, but not limited 
to, caring for oneself, performing manual 
tasks, walking, seeing, hearing, speaking, 
breathing, learning, reading, sitting, 
standing, lifting, reaching, eating, 
sleeping, bending, concentrating, thinking, 
communicating, interacting with others, and 
working; and   

(2) The operation of a major bodily function, 
including, but not limited to, functions of 
the immune system, special sense organs and 
skin; normal cell growth; and digestive, 
genito-urinary, bowel, bladder, 
neurological, brain, respiratory, 
circulatory, cardiovascular, endocrine, 
hemic, lymphatic, musculoskeletal, and 
reproductive functions.  The operation of a 
major bodily function includes the operation 
of an individual organ within a body. 

 
     "Physical or mental impairment" means:   

(1) In general:  
(A) Any physiological disorder, or 

condition, cosmetic disfigurement, or 
anatomical loss affecting one or more 
of the following body systems:  
neurological, musculoskeletal, special 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-112 

 
 
 

sense organs, respiratory (including 
speech organs), cardiovascular, 
reproductive, digestive, genito-
urinary, immune, circulatory, hemic and 
lymphatic, skin, and endocrine; or 

(B) Any mental or psychological disorder, 
such as an intellectual disability 
(formerly termed mental retardation), 
organic brain syndrome, emotional or 
mental illness, and specific learning 
disabilities. 

(2) Physical or mental impairments include, but 
are not limited to, such conditions, 
diseases, and infections as: orthopedic, 
visual, speech, and hearing impairments; 
deafness; blindness; partially or completely 
missing limbs; mobility impairments 
requiring the use of a wheelchair; autism; 
cerebral palsy; epilepsy; muscular 
dystrophy; multiple sclerosis; AIDS; HIV 
infection or seropositivity; cancer; heart 
disease; diabetes; alcoholism; intellectual 
disability (formerly termed mental 
retardation); emotional illness; specific 
learning disabilities; developmental 
disabilities; bipolar disorder; post 
traumatic stress disorder; obsessive 
compulsive disorder; schizophrenia; and 
major depression.  

(3) Physical or mental impairments do not 
include physical, psychological, 
environmental, cultural, or economic 
characteristics, such as, but not limited 
to, eye or hair color; left-handedness; 
height, weight, or muscle tone that do not 
result from a physiological disorder; a 
characteristic predisposition to illness or 
disease; pregnancy; personality traits such 
as poor judgment or a quick temper when they 
are not symptoms of a mental or 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-113 

 
 
 

psychological disorder; poverty; a lack of 
education or illiteracy; a prison record; 
and sexual orientation. However, a 
pregnancy-related impairment that 
substantially limits a major life activity 
is a disability under the first prong of the 
definition.  Alternatively, a pregnancy-
related impairment may constitute a “record 
of” a substantially limiting impairment, or 
may be covered under the "regarded as" prong 
if it is the basis for a prohibited 
employment action and is not transitory and 
minor. 

(4) Drug use shall be considered a mental or 
physical impairment when a person: 
(A) Has successfully completed a supervised 

drug rehabilitation program and is no 
longer engaging in current illegal use 
of drugs; 

(B) Has otherwise been rehabilitated 
successfully and is no longer engaging 
in current illegal use of drugs; 

(C) Is participating in a supervised 
rehabilitation program, a recognized 
self-help program, or an employee 
assistance program, and is under the 
supervision of a licensed health care 
professional for the treatment of drug 
use and is no longer engaging in 
current illegal use of drugs; or 

(D) Is erroneously regarded as engaging in 
such use, but is not engaging in such 
use. 

 
  "Qualification standards" means:   

(1) The personal and professional attributes 
including the skill, experience, education, 
physical, medical, safety, and other job-
related requirements established by an 
employer or other covered entity as 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-114 

 
 
 

requirements which a person must meet in 
order to be eligible for the position held 
or desired. 

(2) The term "qualification standard" may 
include a requirement that a person shall 
not pose a direct threat to the health or 
the safety of the person or others in the 
workplace.   

  
"Qualified" with respect to a person with a 

disability means a person with a disability who 
satisfies: 

(1) The requisite skill, experience, education, 
and other job-related qualification 
standards of the employment position such 
person holds or desires; and  

(2) Who, with or without reasonable 
accommodation, can perform the essential 
functions of such position. 

 
"Reasonable accommodation" means:   
(1)  In general: 

(A) Modifications or adjustments to a job 
application process that enable an 
applicant with a disability to be 
considered for the position such 
applicant desires;  

(B) Modifications or adjustments to the 
work environment, or to the manner or 
circumstances under which the position 
held or desired is customarily 
performed, that enable a person with a 
disability to perform the essential 
functions of that position;  

(C) Modifications or adjustments that 
enable a covered entity's employee with 
a disability to enjoy the same or equal 
benefits and privileges of employment 
as are enjoyed by its other similarly 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-115 

 
 
 

situated employees without 
disabilities; or 

(D)  Modifications or adjustments to 
schedules or leave policies to enable 
an employee with record of an 
impairment that previously 
substantially limited, but no longer 
substantially limits a major life 
activity, to attend follow-up or 
monitoring appointments from a health 
care provider. 

(2) Reasonable accommodation may include, but is 
not limited to: 
(A) Making existing facilities used by 

employees readily accessible to and 
usable by persons with disabilities; 
and 

(B) Job restructuring; part-time or 
modified work schedules; reassignment 
to a vacant position; acquisition or 
modifications of equipment or devices; 
appropriate adjustment or modifications 
of examinations, training materials, or 
policies; the provision of qualified 
readers or interpreters; and other 
similar accommodations for persons with 
disabilities. 

 
"Substantially limits": 
(1) In general means limited in the ability to 

perform a major life activity as compared to 
most people in the general population.  An 
impairment need not prevent, or severely or 
significantly restrict, a person from 
performing a major life activity in order to 
be considered substantially limiting. 

(2) The following factors may be considered in 
determining whether a person is 
substantially limited in a major life 
activity: 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-116 

 
 
 

(A) The condition under which the person 
performs the major life activity; 

(B) The duration of time it takes the 
person to perform the major life 
activity; and 

(C) The manner in which the person performs 
the major life activity. 

(3) Certain impairments such as blindness, 
deafness, an intellectual disability 
(formerly termed mental retardation), 
partially or completely missing limbs, 
mobility impairments requiring the use of a 
wheelchair, autism, cancer, cerebral palsy, 
diabetes, epilepsy, multiple sclerosis, 
muscular dystrophy, major depressive 
disorder, bipolar disorder, post-traumatic 
stress disorder, obsessive compulsive 
disorder, schizophrenia, HIV infection, and 
AIDS should easily be concluded to be 
substantially limiting.  

(4) The limitation resulting from an impairment 
is determined without regard to mitigating 
measures such as medicines; medical 
supplies, equipment or appliances; low 
vision devices; prosthetics including limbs 
and devices; hearing aid(s) and cochlear 
implant(s) or other implantable hearing 
devices; mobility devices; oxygen therapy 
equipment and supplies; use of assistive 
technology; reasonable accommodations; 
auxiliary aids or services; learned 
behavioral or adaptive neurological 
modifications; or psychotherapy, behavioral 
therapy or physical therapy. 

(5) Non-ameliorative effects of mitigating 
measures, such as negative side effects of 
medication or burdens associated with 
following a particular treatment regimen, 
may be considered when determining whether 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-117 

 
 
 

an individual’s impairment substantially 
limits a major life activity. 

(6) An impairment that is episodic or in 
remission is a disability if it would 
substantially limit a major life activity 
when active. Examples of impairments that 
may be episodic or in remission include, but 
are not limited to, epilepsy, multiple 
sclerosis, cancer, hypertension, diabetes, 
asthma, major depressive disorder, bipolar 
disorder and schizophrenia. 

(7) An impairment substantially limits the major 
life activity of "working" if it 
substantially limits a person’s ability to 
perform either a class of jobs or a broad 
range of jobs in various classes as compared 
to most people having comparable training, 
skills, and abilities. The inability to 
perform a single, particular job does not 
constitute a substantial limitation in the 
major life activity of working. 

 
Example: 

A baseball pitcher who develops a shoulder 
injury and can no longer pitch would not be 
substantially limited in working because of not 
being able to perform the single, particular job 
of pitching in baseball. 

 
Example: 

A person whose job requires heavy lifting 
develops a disability that prevents her from 
lifting more than fifty pounds and from 
performing not only her existing job but also 
other jobs that would similarly require heavy 
lifting.  That person would be substantially 
limited in working because she is substantially 
limited in performing the class of jobs that 
require heavy lifting. 

 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-118 

 
 
 

(8) Multiple impairments that combine to 
substantially limit one or more major life 
activities can constitute a disability. 

(9) In determining whether a person has a 
disability under the "actual disability" or 
"record of" prongs of the definition of 
disability, the focus is on how a major life 
activity is substantially limited, and not 
on what outcomes an individual can achieve. 

 
Example: 

A person with a learning disability may 
achieve a high level of academic success, but may 
nevertheless be substantially limited in the 
major life activity of learning because of the 
additional time or effort he or she must spend to 
read, write, or learn compared to most people in 
the general population. 

  
 "Undue hardship" means:  

(1) Significant difficulty or expense incurred 
by an employer or other covered entity with 
respect to the provision of an 
accommodation. 

(2) In determining whether an accommodation 
would impose an undue hardship on an 
employer or other covered entity, factors to 
be considered include: 
(A) The nature and net cost of the 

accommodation needed under this part, 
taking into consideration the 
availability of tax credits and 
deductions or outside funding, or both; 

(B) The overall financial resources of the 
facility or facilities involved in the 
provision of the accommodation, the 
number of persons employed at such 
facility, and the effect on expenses 
and resources; 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-119 

 
 
 

(C) The overall financial resources of the 
employer or other covered entity, the 
overall size of the business of the 
employer or other covered entity with 
respect to the number of its employees, 
and the number, type, and location of 
its facilities; 

(D) The type of operation or operations of 
the employer or other covered entity, 
including the composition, structure 
and functions of the work force, and 
the geographic separateness and 
administrative or fiscal relationship 
of the facility or facilities in 
question to the employer or other 
covered entity; 

(E) The impact of the accommodation upon 
the operation of the facility, 
including the impact on the ability of 
other employees to perform their duties 
and the impact on the facility's 
ability to conduct business; and   

(F) The impact of the accommodation upon 
collective bargaining agreements or 
civil service laws.  [Eff 8/18/94; am 
3/5/12; am and comp     ] 
(Auth:  HRS §368-3) (Imp:  HRS §§378-1, 
378-2, 378-3) 

 
 
 

§12-46-183  Discrimination prohibited.  (a)  It 
is unlawful for an employer or other covered entity to 
discriminate on the basis of disability against a 
qualified person in regard to: 

(1) Recruitment, advertising, and job 
application procedures; 

(2) Hiring, upgrading, promotion, award of 
tenure, demotion, transfer, layoff, 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-120 

 
 
 

termination, right of return from layoff, 
and rehiring; 

(3) Rates of pay or any other form of 
compensation and changes in compensation; 

(4) Job assignments, job classifications, 
organizational structures, position 
descriptions, lines of progression, and 
seniority lists; 

(5) Leaves of absence, sick leave, or any other 
leave; 

(6) Fringe benefits available by virtue of 
employment, whether or not administered by 
the employer or other covered entity; 

(7) Selection and financial support for 
training, including apprenticeships, 
professional meetings, conferences, and 
other related activities, and selection for 
leaves of absence to pursue training; and 

(8) Any other term, condition, or privilege of 
employment, including activities sponsored 
by an employer or other covered entity such 
as social and recreational programs. 

 (b) The term discrimination includes, but is not 
limited to, the acts made unlawful in sections  
12-46-184 through 191, inclusive.  [Eff 8/18/94;  
am 3/5/12; comp    ] (Auth: HRS §368-
3) (Imp:  HRS §§378-1, 378-2) 
 
 
 
 §12-46-184  Limiting, segregating, and 
classifying.  It is unlawful for an employer or other 
covered entity to limit, segregate, or classify a job 
applicant or employee in a way that adversely affects 
his or her employment opportunities or status on the 
basis of disability.  [Eff 8/18/94; comp   
 ] (Auth:  HRS §368-3) (Imp:  HRS §§378-1, 378-2)   
 
 
 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-121 

 
 
 

 §12-46-185  Contractual or other arrangements.  
(a) It is unlawful for an employer or other covered 
entity to participate in a contractual or other 
arrangement or relationship that has the effect of 
subjecting the employer's or entity's own qualified 
applicant, employee, member, beneficiary, apprentice, 
trainee, or other related person with a disability to 
the discrimination prohibited by this subchapter. 
 (b) This section applies to an employer or other 
covered entity, with respect to its own applicants, 
employees, members, beneficiaries, apprentices, 
trainees, or other related persons whether the 
employer or entity offered the contract or initiated 
the relationship, or whether the employer or entity 
accepted the contract or acceded to the relationship.  
An employer or other covered entity is not liable for 
the actions of the other party or parties to the 
contract which only affect that other party's 
employees, applicants, or other related persons.  [Eff   
8/18/94; comp    ] (Auth:  HRS §368-3) 
(Imp:  HRS §§378-1, 378-2) 
 
 
 
 §12-46-186  Standards, criteria, or methods of 
administration.  It is unlawful for an employer or 
other covered entity to use standards, criteria, or 
methods of administration: 

(1) That have the effect of discriminating on 
the basis of disability; or 

(2) That perpetuate the discrimination of others 
who are subject to common administrative 
control; unless the employer or covered 
entity justifies the need for having the 
standard, criterion, or method of 
administration.  Standards, criteria, or 
methods of administration which exclude a 
class of persons on the basis of a specified 
physical or mental impairment, medical 
condition, or disability must be shown to be 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-122 

 
 
 

bona fide occupational qualifications.  
Other standards, criteria, or methods of 
administration which have the effect of 
discriminating on the basis of disability or 
perpetuate the discrimination of others 
subject to common administrative control 
must be shown to be job-related and 
consistent with business necessity.  [Eff 
8/18/94; comp    ] (Auth:  HRS 
§368-3)  (Imp:  HRS §§378-1, 378-2) 

 
 
 

§12-46-187  Failure to make reasonable 
accommodation[.], Interactive Process.  (a)  It is 
unlawful for an employer or other covered entity not 
to make reasonable accommodation to the known physical 
or mental limitations of an applicant or employee with 
a disability who is otherwise qualified, unless such 
employer or entity can demonstrate that the 
accommodation would impose an undue hardship on the 
operation of its business.  An employee does not have 
to specifically request a "reasonable accommodation", 
but must only let the employer know that some 
adjustment or change to the employer’s workspace or 
the employer’s policies, such as leave, zero-
tolerance, or drug testing policies, including but not 
limited to tests for medical cannabis, is needed by 
the employee to do a job because of limitations caused 
by a disability.  Nothing in this subsection shall be 
construed to require the employer to make an 
accommodation for the possession or use of drugs 
prohibited under state law, or require an employer to 
make an accommodation that would conflict with 
specific activities permitted under HAR §12-46-192. 
 (b)  To determine the appropriate reasonable 
accommodation, it shall be necessary for an employer 
or other covered entity to initiate an interactive 
process, after a request for an accommodation, with 
the person with a disability in need of the 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-123 

 
 
 

accommodation.  A request for a reasonable 
accommodation may be made by a third-party, such as a 
healthcare professional, acting on behalf of the 
individual in need of an accommodation.  This process 
shall identify the precise limitations resulting from 
the disability and potential reasonable accommodations 
that could overcome those limitations. 
 (c)  It is unlawful for an employer or other 
covered entity to deny employment opportunities to an 
applicant or employee with a disability based on the 
need of such employer or entity to make reasonable 
accommodation to such person's physical or mental 
impairments. 
 (d)  A person with a disability is not required 
to accept an accommodation, aid, service, opportunity, 
or benefit which such qualified person chooses not to 
accept.  However, if such person, after notice by the 
employer or other covered entity of the possible 
consequences of rejecting, rejects a reasonable 
accommodation, aid, service, opportunity, or benefit 
that enables the person to perform the essential 
functions of the position held or desired and cannot, 
as a result of that rejection, perform the essential 
functions of the position, the person will not be 
considered qualified. 

(e)  An employer or other covered entity is not 
required to make a reasonable accommodation to a 
person who meets the definition of disability solely 
under the "regarded as" prong.  Eff 8/18/94; am 
3/5/12; am and comp       ] (Auth:  HRS §368-
3) (Imp:  HRS §§378-1, 378-2, 378-3) 
 
 
 

§12-46-188  Qualification standards, tests, and 
other selection criteria.  (a)  It is unlawful for an 
employer or other covered entity to use qualification 
standards, employment tests, or other selection 
criteria that screen out or tend to screen out a 
person with a disability or a class of persons with 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-124 

 
 
 

disabilities unless the employer or other covered 
entity justifies the need for the standard, test, or 
selection criterion.  
 (b) Standards, tests, or selection criteria that 
screen out a person with a disability or a class of 
persons with disabilities based upon specified 
physical and mental impairments, medical conditions, 
or disabilities must be shown to be bona fide 
occupational qualifications.   
 
 Example: 

A qualification standard which excludes all 
persons who have back impairments would not be 
considered a bona fide occupational qualification 
unless the employer can establish that all or 
substantially all persons with back impairments 
cannot perform the essential job functions or 
pose a direct threat to self or others, with or 
without reasonable accommodation, and the essence 
of the business would be undermined without the 
standard.   

 
 (c) Other standards, tests, or selection 
criteria, not based upon specified physical or mental 
impairments, medical conditions, or disabilities, that 
screen out a person with a disability or a class of 
persons with disabilities must be shown to be job-
related for the position in question and consistent 
with business necessity.   
 
 Example: 

A qualification standard which excludes 
persons who cannot lift certain weights would not 
be considered job-related and consistent with 
business necessity unless the employer can 
establish that the lifting requirement  
was an essential job function and there is no 
reasonable accommodation available.  

 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-125 

 
 
 

 (d) It is unlawful for an employer or other 
covered entity to discriminate against a person with a 
disability for reasons related to safety unless the 
person poses a direct threat to self or others.  The 
determination that a person with a disability poses a 
"direct threat" shall be based on an individualized 
assessment of the person's present ability to safely 
perform the essential functions of the job, the 
person's past and current job history, and reasonable 
medical judgment that relies on the current medical 
knowledge or the best available objective or 
scientific evidence, not speculation, considering the 
factors defined in "direct threat".  The 
individualized assessment made by the employer or 
covered entity shall identify and document the aspect 
of the disability and specific risk of harm that would 
pose the direct threat to self or others.  If a person 
poses a direct threat, the employer or other covered 
entity must try to eliminate or reduce the threat to 
an acceptable level through provision of a reasonable 
accommodation. 
 (e) It is unlawful for an employer or other 
covered entity to use qualification standards, tests, 
or selection criteria to exclude a person with a 
disability or a class of persons with disabilities 
because the particular position is part of a line of 
progression to which persons in the particular 
position are expected to advance even though the 
qualification standard can be justified for some of 
the positions in the line unless the standard, test, 
or criterion can be justified for the particular 
position.  The justification for the qualification 
standard, test, or selection criterion shall be 
determined according to subsection (b), (c), or (d). 
 

Example: 
A deaf person cannot be denied an entry 

level position because the person to be hired is 
expected to progress to higher positions with 
qualification standards which may exclude the 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-126 

 
 
 

deaf.  Even though the exclusion of the deaf for 
any higher position can be shown to be a bona 
fide occupational qualification, the employer 
must also establish that excluding deaf persons 
in the entry level position is a bona fide 
occupational qualification.  

 
 (f) It is unlawful for an employer or other 
covered entity to fail to select or administer tests 
concerning employment in the most effective manner to 
ensure that, when a test is administered to a job 
applicant or employee who has a disability that 
impairs sensory, manual, or speaking skills, the test 
results accurately reflect the skills, aptitude, or 
whatever other factor of the applicant or employee 
that the test purports to measure, rather than 
reflecting the impaired sensory, manual, or speaking 
skills of such employee or applicant (except where 
such skills are the factors that the test purports to 
measure).  [Eff 8/18/94; comp    ] (Auth:  
HRS §368-3) (Imp:  HRS §§378-1, 378-2) 
 
 
 
 §12-46-189  Retaliation, coercion, interference, 
or intimidation.  (a)  It is unlawful to discriminate 
or take an adverse action against any person because 
that person has opposed any act or practice made 
unlawful by this subchapter or because that person 
made a charge, testified, assisted, or participated in 
any manner relating to an investigation, hearing, or 
proceeding to enforce any provision contained in this 
subchapter.   
 (b) It is unlawful to discriminate or take an 
adverse action against an employee based upon the 
employee's refusal to participate in a medical 
examination or inquiry under section 12-46-191(c), 
which is not job-related and consistent with business 
necessity, or a voluntary medical examination or 
inquiry under section 12-46-191(e). 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-127 

 
 
 

 (c) It is unlawful to coerce, intimidate, 
threaten, harass, or interfere with any person in the 
exercise or enjoyment of, or because that person 
aided, counselled, or encouraged any other person in 
the exercise of, any right granted or protected by 
this subchapter. 
 (d) It is unlawful to aid, abet, incite, or 
compel any person to engage in any act made unlawful 
by this subchapter. 
 (e) It is unlawful to attempt to engage in any 
act made unlawful by this subchapter.  [Eff  8/18/94; 
comp    ]  (Auth:  HRS §368-3) (Imp:  HRS 
§§378-1, 378-2) 
 
 
 
 §12-46-190  Prohibited medical examinations and 
inquiries.  (a)  Except as permitted by section 12-46-
191, it is unlawful for an employer or other covered 
entity to: 

(1) Conduct a medical examination of an 
applicant; or  

(2) Make inquiries as to whether an applicant is 
a person with a disability or as to the 
nature or severity of such disability. 

 (b) Except as permitted by section 12-46-191, it 
is unlawful for an employer or other covered entity 
to:  

(1) Require a medical examination of an 
employee; or   

(2) Make inquiries as to whether an employee is 
a person with a disability or as to the 
nature or severity of such disability.  [Eff  
8/18/94; comp    ] (Auth:  HRS 
§368-3)  (Imp:  HRS §§378-1, 378-2) 

 
 
 
 §12-46-191  Medical examinations and inquiries 
specifically permitted.  (a)  An employer or other 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-128 

 
 
 

covered entity may make pre-employment inquiries into 
the ability of an applicant to perform essential job 
functions and ask an applicant to describe or 
demonstrate how, with or without reasonable 
accommodation, the applicant will be able to perform 
essential job functions.   
 (b) An employer or other covered entity may 
require a medical examination or inquiry, or both, 
after making an offer of employment to a job applicant 
and before the applicant begins his or her employment 
duties, and may condition an offer of employment on 
the results of such examination or inquiry, or both, 
if all entering employees in the same job category are 
subjected to such an examination or inquiry, or both, 
regardless of disability.  Information obtained under 
this subsection shall not be used for any purposes 
inconsistent with this subchapter and must be 
maintained in accordance with subsection (f).  Such 
post-offer medical examinations conducted in 
accordance with this subsection do not have to be job-
related and consistent with business necessity. 

(1) If qualification standards, tests, or 
selection criteria are used to screen out a 
person with a disability or a class of 
persons with disabilities on the basis of a 
specified physical or mental impairment, 
condition, or disability, the criteria must 
be shown to be a bona fide occupational 
qualification.  Other qualification tests, 
standards, or selection criteria that screen 
out a person with a disability or class of 
persons with disabilities must be shown to 
be job-related and consistent with business 
necessity.   

(2) If any adverse consequences result from a 
post-offer medical examination, the employer 
or other covered entity shall base its 
action on a medical examination conducted in 
accordance with subsection (d). 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-129 

 
 
 

 (c)  An employer or other covered entity may 
require a medical examination or inquiry, or both, of 
an employee that is job-related and consistent with 
business necessity.  The employer or other covered 
entity bears the burden of establishing that such 
medical examination or inquiry, or both, is job-
related and consistent with business necessity and 
must provide specific instances or examples of the 
employee's conduct which raised concerns about his or 
her inability to perform essential job functions or 
direct threat to self or others, except where an 
employee is returning to work after receiving 
disability benefits, such as workers compensation. 
 
 Example: 

 In order to justify requiring an employee to 
undergo a medical examination, an employer must 
establish that an employee's recent work 
performance raised reasonable concerns that the 
employee could not perform essential job 
functions or posed a direct threat to self or 
others, with or without reasonable accommodation.  
The employer must articulate specific instances 
which raised such concerns, except where an 
employee is returning to work after receiving 
disability benefits.   

 
 (d)  An employer or other covered entity which 
requires an applicant or employee to undergo a medical 
examination shall provide every examiner with 
sufficient job information to assess the applicant's 
or employee's ability to perform essential job 
functions or the applicant's or employee's direct 
threat potential.  The job information shall include 
an accurate written description of the essential 
responsibilities and functions of the job, and the 
following rules:  the definition of reasonable 
accommodation in section 12-46-182 and section 12-46-
187.  If the employer believes that the applicant or 
employee may pose a direct threat to self or others, 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-130 

 
 
 

the employer shall provide the following rules:  the 
definition of direct threat in section 12-46-182 and 
section 12-46-188(d).  If the applicant or employee 
wishes to go to a second examiner, the employer or 
covered entity shall provide the examiner with the 
same job information.  Information obtained under this 
subsection shall be collected and maintained in 
accordance with subsection (f). 
 (e) An employer or other covered entity may 
conduct voluntary medical examinations and activities, 
including voluntary medical histories, which are part 
of an employee health program available to employees 
at the work site.  An employer or other covered entity 
may make inquiries into the ability of an employee to 
perform essential job functions.  Information obtained 
under this subsection shall be maintained in 
accordance with subsection (f). 
 (f) All information related to or obtained under 
subsections (b), (c), (d), and (e) regarding the 
medical examination, condition, or history of any 
applicant or employee shall be collected and 
maintained on separate forms and in separate medical 
files and be treated as a confidential medical record, 
except that: 

(1) Supervisors and managers may be informed 
regarding necessary restrictions on the work 
or duties of the employee and necessary 
accommodations; 

(2) First aid and safety personnel may be 
informed, when appropriate, if the 
disability might require emergency 
treatment; and 

(3)  Commission employees investigating 
compliance with this subchapter shall be  
provided any and all information on request. 

Information obtained under subsections (b), (c), (d), 
and (e) regarding the medical condition or history of 
any applicant or employee shall not be disclosed to 
persons who are not entitled to have access to the 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-131 

 
 
 

information or used for any purpose inconsistent with 
this subchapter. 
 (g) A test or inquiry to determine the illegal 
use of drugs is not considered a medical examination 
or inquiry under this subchapter.  [Eff 8/18/94; comp 
   ]   (Auth:  HRS §368-3) (Imp:  HRS 
§§378-1, 378-2) 
 
 
 

§12-46-192  Specific activities permitted.  (a)  
An employer or other covered entity: 

(1) May prohibit the illegal use of drugs and 
the consumption of alcohol at the workplace 
by all employees; 

(2) May require that employees not be under the 
influence of alcohol or be engaging in the 
use of illegal drugs at the workplace; 

(3) May hold an employee who engaged in the use 
of illegal drugs to the same qualification 
standards for employment or job performance 
and behavior to which the employer or other 
covered entity holds its other employees, 
even if any unsatisfactory performance or 
behavior is related to the employee's use of 
illegal drugs;  

(4) May hold an employee who is an alcoholic to 
the same qualification standards for 
employment or job performance and behavior 
to which the employer or other covered 
entity holds its other employees, even if 
any unsatisfactory performance or behavior 
is related to the employee's alcoholism, as 
long as reasonable accommodation, if 
requested, is provided for the performance 
of essential job functions; 

(5) May require that its employees employed in 
an industry subject to such regulations 
comply with the standards established in the 
regulations (if any) of federal agencies 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-132 

 
 
 

including, but not limited to, the 
Departments of Defense and Transportation, 
and of the Nuclear Regulatory Commission, 
regarding alcohol and the use of illegal 
drugs;  

(6) May require that employees employed in 
sensitive positions comply with the 
regulations (if any) of the United States 
Departments of Defense and Transportation 
and of the Nuclear Regulatory Commission 
that apply to employment in sensitive 
positions subject to such regulations; and 

(7) May require a medical examination or 
inquiry, or both, as permitted in section 
12-46-191, or a test or inquiry to determine 
the illegal use of drugs.  However, this 
subchapter does not encourage, prohibit, or 
authorize an employer or other covered 
entity to conduct drug tests of job 
applicants or employees to determine the 
illegal use of drugs or to make an 
employment decision based on such test 
results. 

 (b) Any information regarding the medical 
condition or history of any employee or applicant 
obtained from a test to determine the illegal use of 
drugs, except information regarding the illegal use of 
drugs, is subject to the requirements of section 12-
46-191(f).  
 (c) Under title I of the Americans with 
Disabilities Act, 42 U.S.C. §12113(d)(1), the 
Secretary of Health and Human Services is to prepare a 
list, to be updated annually, of infectious and 
communicable diseases which can be transmitted through 
the handling of food.  If a person with a disability 
is disabled by one of the infectious or communicable 
diseases included on this list, and if the risk of 
transmitting the disease associated with the handling 
of food cannot be eliminated by reasonable 
accommodation, an employer or other covered entity may 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-133 

 
 
 

refuse to assign or continue to assign such person to 
a job involving food handling.  However, if the person 
with a disability is a current employee, the employer 
shall consider whether he or she can be accommodated 
by reassignment to a vacant position not involving 
food handling for which he or she is qualified.  [Eff 
8/18/94; comp    ](Auth:  HRS §368-3) 
(Imp:  HRS §§378-1, 378-2) 
 
 

 
§12-46-193  Defenses.  An employer or other 

covered entity may raise defenses to an allegation of 
discrimination under this subchapter including, but 
not limited to, the following: 

(1) Inability to perform.  It may be a defense 
to a charge of discrimination brought under 
this subchapter that a person with a 
disability is unable to perform an essential 
job function with or without a reasonable 
accommodation. 

(2) Business necessity.  It may be a defense to 
a charge of discrimination brought under 
this subchapter that: 
(A) An alleged application of qualification 

standards, tests, or criteria used in 
the selection of employees screens out 
or tends to screen out or otherwise 
denies a job or benefit to a person 
with a disability; or  

(B) A uniformly applied standard, 
criterion, method of administration, or 
policy has a disparate impact on a 
person with a disability or a class of 
persons with disabilities; and the 
challenged standard, test, criterion, 
method, or policy has been shown by the 
employer or other covered entity to be 
job-related and consistent with 
business necessity in light of the 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-134 

 
 
 

factors in the definition of job-
related and consistent with business 
necessity; and performance of essential 
job functions cannot be accomplished 
with reasonable accommodation, as 
required under this subchapter.  

 
Example: 

A job applicant for a field sales 
representative position, who was not hired, 
challenges a driver's license requirement as 
discriminating against persons who cannot obtain 
licenses because of their disabilities.  An 
employer may be able to defend by showing that 
driving was an essential job function, no other 
transportation alternative (i.e. bus or 
paratransit service) having less adverse effects 
upon persons with disabilities was available; and 
any accommodation would cause an undue hardship 
because field sales representatives had to work 
alone. 

 
(3) Bona fide occupational qualification.  It 

may be a defense to a charge of 
discrimination that an application of 
qualification standards, tests, selection 
criteria, policies, or methods of 
administration which is applied to a class 
of persons on the basis of a specified 
physical or mental impairment, medical 
condition, or disability has been shown by 
the employer or other covered entity to be a 
bona fide occupational qualification. 

 
 Example:  

An employer which does not consider for 
employment a person with hypertension because of 
a policy against hiring persons with hypertension 
due to safety concerns must establish that all or 
substantially all persons with hypertension, 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-135 

 
 
 

regardless of severity, would pose a direct 
threat to self or others; no reasonable 
accommodations are possible; and the essence of 
the business would be undermined if all persons 
with hypertension were not excluded. 

 
(4) Undue hardship.  It may be a defense to a 

charge of not making reasonable 
accommodation that a requested or necessary 
accommodation would impose an undue hardship 
on the operation of the business.  

 
 Example: 

An employer would not be required to make 
unreasonable structural changes or expensive 
equipment alterations if there is significant 
difficulty or expense based upon the factors 
listed in the definition of undue hardship.  

 
(5) Direct threat.  It may be a defense to a 

charge of discrimination under this 
subchapter that a person with a disability 
posed a direct threat to the health or 
safety of the person or others that cannot 
be eliminated or reduced by reasonable 
accommodation. 

(6) Specific permitted activity.  It may be a 
defense to a charge of discrimination that 
the alleged discriminatory action is 
specifically permitted under this subchapter 
or by section 378-3, HRS. 

(7) Good faith.  If the employer or covered 
entity demonstrates good faith efforts, in 
consultation with the person with a 
disability who has requested an 
accommodation, to identify and make a 
reasonable accommodation that would not 
cause an undue hardship on the operation of 
the business, the employer or other covered 
entity may be liable for compensatory 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-136 

 
 
 

damages and other relief but would not be 
liable for punitive damages if the good 
faith offer of accommodation is found to be 
not reasonable.  

(8) Claims based on transitory and minor 
impairments under the "regarded as" prong.  
It may be a defense to a claim of 
discrimination by a person claiming coverage 
under the "regarded as" prong of the 
definition of disability that the impairment 
is or would be transitory and minor.  A 
covered entity must demonstrate that the 
impairment is both "transitory" and "minor."  
Whether the impairment is or would be 
transitory and minor is to be determined 
objectively.  An employer or other covered 
entity may not defeat "regarded as" coverage 
of a person simply by demonstrating that it 
subjectively believed the impairment was 
transitory and minor.  [Eff 8/18/94; am 
3/5/12; comp     ] (Auth:  HRS 
§368-3) (Imp:  HRS §§378-1, 378-2, 378-3) 

 
  



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-137 

 
 
 

SUBCHAPTER 20 
 

REAL PROPERTY TRANSACTION DISCRIMINATION 
 
 
 
 §12-46-301  General provisions.  The purpose of 
this subchapter is to implement laws prohibiting 
discrimination in real property transactions toward 
the goal of eliminating such discrimination and to 
implement changes made by Act 171, Session Laws of 
Hawaii 1992, to conform state law to Title VIII of the 
Civil Rights Act of 1968, as amended by the Fair 
Housing Amendments Act of 1988.  Chapter 515, HRS, 
prohibits discriminatory practices by an owner, any 
person engaging in a real property or real estate 
transaction, or a real estate broker or salesperson 
against another person because of a protected basis.  
The examples are used to provide guidance to the 
public and only illustrate the particular point or 
principle to which they relate in the rules.  They 
should not be taken out of context as statements of 
policy that would apply in different situations.  To 
the greatest extent possible, the commission will 
interpret the rules consistent with the examples, 
however, the commission shall review each case on an 
individual basis in an effort to seek an equitable 
application of this subchapter.  [Eff 10/15/93; comp 
   ]  (Auth:  HRS §§368-3, 515-9(7))  
(Imp: HRS §§368-1, 515)  
 
 
 
 §12-46-302  Definitions.  As used in this 
subchapter, unless the context otherwise requires: 
 "Accessible" means a housing accommodation 
constructed in conformity with the appropriate 
requirements of ANSI A117.1-1986 or the Fair Housing 
Accessibility Guidelines issued by the Department of 
Housing and Urban Development.  



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-138 

 
 
 

 
 "Age" means over the age of majority or 
emancipated minors. 
 "Ancestry" means national origin; [ and includes 
reasons related to ancestry, such as:] an individual's 
or ancestor's place of origin; or the physical, 
cultural, or linguistic characteristics of an ethnic 
group, or:  

(1) Marriage to or association with persons of 
an ancestral group; 

(2) Membership in or association with an 
organization identified with or seeking to 
promote the interests of an ancestral group; 

(3) Attendance or participation in schools, 
churches, temples, or mosques, generally 
used by persons of an ancestral group; [and] 
or  

(4) Because an individual's name or spouse's 
name is associated with an ancestral group. 

 "ANSI A117.1-1986" means the 1986 edition of the 
American National Standards Institute for buildings 
and facilities providing accessibility and usability 
for disabled persons. 
 "Application" means written, oral, or telephone 
inquiries. 
  "Assistance animal" means an animal that is 
needed to perform disability-related work, services or 
tasks for the benefit of a person with a disability, 
or is needed to provide emotional support that 
alleviates one or more identified symptoms or effects 
of a person’s disability. Assistance animals may 
include, but are not limited to, service animals, 
therapy animals, comfort animals or emotional support 
animals.  Assistance animals may have formal training 
or may be untrained, and may include species other 
than dogs. 
 "Business necessity" means a compelling and well 
established public purpose which also establishes that 
there is no reasonable alternative means of serving 
the same purpose with less discriminatory impact.  



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-139 

 
 
 

 "Commission" means the civil rights commission. 
 "Common use areas" means rooms, spaces, or 
elements inside or outside of a housing accommodation 
that are made available for the use of residents or 
the guests thereof.  These areas include hallways, 
lounges, lobbies, laundry rooms, refuse rooms, mail 
rooms, recreational areas, and passageways among and 
between housing accommodations.  
   "Complainant" means any person, including a 
tester or associates of a person with a protected 
basis, who claims to have been injured by a 
discriminatory real estate transaction practice or who 
believes that such person will be injured by a 
discriminatory real estate transaction practice that 
is about to occur and files a complaint in accordance 
with chapter 368, HRS, with the commission.  The law 
does not require such persons to expose themselves to 
the injury involved with the actual act of 
discrimination before filing a complaint. 
 "Controlled substance" means any drug, substance, 
or immediate precursor included in schedules I through 
V of part II of chapter 329, HRS. 
 "Covered multi-family housing accommodations" 
means buildings consisting of four or more housing 
accommodations, if such buildings have one or more 
elevators; and ground floor dwelling units in other 
buildings consisting of four or more housing 
accommodations.  

"Direct threat" means a significant risk of 
substantial harm to the health or safety of the person 
or others that cannot be mitigated or eliminated by a 
reasonable accommodation based upon an individualized 
assessment.  The risk of harm should be identifiable, 
substantial, current, or probable and not a remote or 
speculative risk. 
 "Disability" means having a physical or mental 
impairment which substantially limits one or more 
major life activities, having a record of such 
impairment, or being regarded as having such an 
impairment, including persons who have HIV or AIDS.  



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-140 

 
 
 

The term does not include current illegal use of or 
addiction to a controlled substance, or alcohol or 
drug abuse that threatens the property or safety of 
others. 
 "Discriminatory practice" means a practice 
designated as discriminatory under the terms of this 
subchapter.  
 "Domiciled" means residence or physical presence 
at a location and the intent to remain, and includes a 
minor child staying in a housing accommodation on a  
regular basis with a parent or relative because of 
visitation rights granted by a court, or because of 
written or unwritten permission from a legal parent. 
 "Fair Housing Accessibility Guidelines" means 
guidelines issued by the Department of Housing and 
Urban Development on March 6, 1991 to provide 
technical guidance on designing housing accommodations 
as required by the Fair Housing Amendments Act of 
1988.   
 "Familial status" means the presence of children 
under eighteen years old in a family, including, but 
not limited to, a person having custody and domiciled 
with a minor child or children; a person domiciled 
with a minor child or children who has written or 
unwritten permission from the legal parent, such as a 
hanai relationship; a person who is pregnant; or any 
person who is in the process of securing legal custody 
of a minor child or children. 

"Final Order" or "final decision" means an order 
issued by the commission in accordance with section 
368-2(b), HRS." 
 "Hanai relationship" includes a child who is 
taken permanently to reside, be educated, and reared 
by someone other than the natural parents, 
traditionally a grandparent or other relative, with 
the written or unwritten permission of the natural 
parents.  
 "Harassment" shall be as defined in section 12-
46-1. 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-141 

 
 
 

 "Housing accommodation" means any improved or 
unimproved real property, or part thereof, which is 
used or occupied, or is intended, arranged, or 
designed to be used or occupied, as the home or 
residence of one or more individuals; any building, 
structure, or portion thereof which is occupied as, or 
designed or intended for occupancy as a residence by 
one or more families; any vacant land which is offered 
for sale or lease for the construction or location 
thereon of any building, structure, or portion thereof 
as the home or residence of one or more individuals; 
including, but not limited to, houses, apartments, 
town houses, mobile home parks, trailer courts, 
condominiums, cooperatives, and time-sharing 
properties. 

"Legitimate [non-discriminatory]nondiscriminatory 
reason" means a bona fide and compelling justification 
for a practice, policy, or action established by 
objective proof or evidence, related to housing and 
applied equally to all applicants, which standing 
alone would have resulted in the same practice, 
policy, or action.  
 "Limitation" or "limit" includes actions which 
exclude individuals or persons or result in creating a 
preference for an individual or person. 
 "National origin" refers to ancestry and may 
include the national origin of an ancestor. 
 "Person" means an individual, corporation, firm, 
association, society, community, assembly, inhabitant  
of a district or neighborhood, person known and 
unknown, the public generally, legal representative,  
partnership, receiver, trust, trustee, trustee in 
bankruptcy, the State, or any governmental entity or 
agency, labor organization, mutual aid company, joint 
stock company, unincorporated organization, management 
company, tenant association, fair housing 
organization, or fiduciary. 
 "Protected basis" means [race, sex (including 
gender identity or expression), sexual orientation, 
color, religion, marital status, familial status, 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-142 

 
 
 

ancestry, disability, age, or HIV (human 
immunodeficiency virus) infection] any category listed 
in sections 368-1.5, 378-2(a)(1), 489-3 or 515-3, HRS.  

"Public use areas" means interior or exterior 
rooms or spaces of a housing accommodation that are 
made available to the general public.  Public use may 
be provided at a housing accommodation that is 
privately or publicly owned. 
 "Real estate broker or salesperson" means a 
person, whether licensed or not, who, for or with the 
expectation of receiving a consideration, lists, 
sells, purchases, exchanges, rents, or leases real 
property; or who negotiates or attempts to negotiate 
any of these activities; or who purports to be engaged 
in these activities; or who negotiates or attempts to 
negotiate a loan secured or to be secured by a 
mortgage or other encumbrance upon real property; or 
who is engaged in the business of listing real 
property in a publication; or a person employed by or 
acting on behalf of any of these. 
 "Real estate transaction" means the advertising, 
sale, exchange, rental, lease, management, or use of 
real property, including, but not limited to, any 
actions related to real property after the 
advertising, sale, exchange, rental, or lease; the 
cancellation or termination of a sale, exchange, 
rental, or lease of real property; and the imposition 
of rules, policies, and practices affecting the terms, 
conditions, enjoyment, and privileges of using real 
property.  It does not include commercial property 
that is advertised, sold, exchanged, rented, leased, 
managed, or used for the purposes of operating a 
business. 
 "Real property" means buildings, dwelling units,  
structures, real estate, lands, tenements, leaseholds, 
interest in real estate cooperatives, condominiums, 
mobile home parks, and hereditaments, corporeal and 
incorporeal, or any interest therein. 
 "Real property transaction" means real estate 
transaction as the term is used in this subchapter. 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-143 

 
 
 

"Reasonable assurance" means actions or promises 
which establish that certain other actions will be 
taken in the future; provided that the reasonableness 
of an assurance shall be examined by giving due 
consideration to the needs of a reasonable prudent 
person in the same or similar circumstances. 
 "Reasonable restriction" shall not include any 
restriction, prohibition, policy, practice, or rule 
that allows any owner or person to refuse to negotiate 
or refuse to engage in a real estate transaction 
because of another person's protected basis or to 
commit a discriminatory practice prohibited under this 
subchapter; provided that the reasonableness of a 
restriction shall be examined by giving due 
consideration to the needs of a reasonable prudent 
person in the same or similar circumstances. 
 "Religious institution" means any religious 
institution or organization, or any charitable or 
educational organization operated, supervised, or 
controlled by a religious institution or organization, 
which does not restrict membership to persons on the 
basis of race, color, or ancestry.  

"Respondent" means any person, owner of real 
property, real estate broker, or salesperson, against 
whom a complaint or petition has been filed with the 
commission; the party against whom relief is sought; 
or any party who contests or controverts a proceeding 
or petition. 
 "Steering" means the practice of directing 
persons who seek to enter into a real estate 
transaction toward or away from real property in order 
to deprive them of the benefits of living in a 
discrimination-free environment, and actions designed 
to discourage persons from seeking housing in a 
particular community, neighborhood, development, 
housing accommodation, or part thereof.  
 "Tester" means any person seeking to engage in a 
real estate transaction, regardless of the person's 
actual intent to engage in such a transaction, who has 
been subject to discriminatory practices in real 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-144 

 
 
 

estate transactions because of a protected basis, and 
tenant associations or fair housing organizations 
whose members include such persons.  [Eff 10/15/93; am 
5/3/99; am 10/6/13; am and comp                ]  
(Auth: HRS §§368-3, 515-9(7))  (Imp: HRS §§515-2, 515-
3, 515-8, 515-9) 
 
 
  

§12-46-303  Construction.  This subchapter shall 
be liberally construed according to the fair import of 
their terms toward the goal of eliminating  
discrimination in real estate transactions.  [Eff 
10/15/93; comp    ]  (Auth: HRS §§368-3, 
515-9(7))  (Imp: HRS §515-1) 
 
 
 
 §12-46-304  Record keeping requirements.  (a)  
Any records of real estate transactions made or kept 
by an owner, any person engaging in a real estate 
transaction, or real estate broker or salesperson 
involving the lease or rental of a housing  
accommodation: 

(1) In a building which has four or more housing 
accommodations; or 

(2) Which is owned by a person who owns three or 
more housing accommodations;  

shall be preserved for one year from the date of 
making the record or the occurrence of the real estate 
transaction practice, policy, or action involved, 
whichever is later.  The records shall include, but 
not be limited to, advertisements, applications, and 
any other information furnished by the person seeking 
the housing accommodation, lease or rental agreements, 
eviction records, any records affecting changes in the 
terms, conditions, privileges, or enjoyment of 
tenancy, occupancy, or use of the premises, and 
corporate or association minutes and resolutions 
adopting house rules affecting occupancy. 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-145 

 
 
 

 (b)  Any other records of real estate 
transactions, not involving a lease or rental, made or 
kept by an owner, any person engaging in a real estate 
transaction, or real estate broker or salesperson 
shall be preserved for one year from the date of 
making of the record or the occurrence of the real 
estate transaction practice, policy, or action 
involved, whichever is later. 
 (c) Where a complaint has been filed or a civil 
action has been brought against a respondent under 
chapter 368 or 515, HRS, the respondent shall preserve 
all records relevant to the complaint or action until 
final disposition of the complaint or action, as 
defined in section 12-46-21(c)(2). 
 (d) Where a respondent is required to preserve 
records under this section and the records have been  
destroyed or are unavailable, in an investigation or 
proceeding on a complaint filed with the commission or 
in a civil action it may be presumed that the evidence 
contained in the records was adverse to the interest 
or position of the respondent.  [Eff 10/15/93; comp                          
    ]  (Auth:  HRS §§368-3, 515-9(7))  
(Imp: HRS §§515-1, 515-3, 515-5, 515-6, 515-9) 
 
 
  §12-46-305  Discriminatory practices.   It is a 
discriminatory practice for an owner or any other 
person engaging in a real estate transaction, or for a 
real estate broker or salesperson because of a 
person's protected basis: 

(l) To refuse to engage in a real estate 
transaction, evict, or terminate a tenancy; 

(2) To discriminate in the terms, conditions, 
enjoyment, or privileges of a real estate 
transaction, or in the furnishing of 
facilities or services in connection 
therewith; 

(3) To refuse to receive or fail to transmit a 
bona fide offer to engage in a real estate 
transaction from a person; 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-146 

 
 
 

(4) To refuse to negotiate for a real estate 
transaction with a person; 

(5) To represent to a person that real property 
is not available for inspection, sale, 
rental, or lease when, in fact, it is 
available, or to fail to bring a property 
listing to the person's attention, or to 
refuse to permit the person to inspect real 
property, or to steer a person seeking to 
engage in a real estate transaction; 

(6) To discriminate against or deny a person 
access to, or membership or participation in 
any multiple listing service, real estate 
broker's organization, or facility involved 
either directly or indirectly in real estate 
transactions, or to discriminate against any 
person in the terms or conditions of such 
access, membership, or participation;  

(7) To engage in harassment; or  
(8) To institute or apply facially neutral 

policies or restrictions which result in a 
disparate adverse impact.  [Eff 10/15/93; am 
10/6/13; comp    ] (Auth: HRS 
§§368-3, 515-9(7))(Imp: HRS §515-3) 

 
 
 
§12-46-306  Discrimination on the basis of 

disability.  (a)  It is a discriminatory practice for 
an owner or any other person engaging in a real estate 
transaction, or for a real estate broker or 
salesperson:  

(1) To refuse to engage in a real estate 
transaction or to deny equal opportunity to 
use and enjoy a housing accommodation with a 
person with a disability because the person 
uses an assistance animal.  If the 
disability is not readily apparent, an owner 
or other person engaging in a real estate 
transaction may request information that 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-147 

 
 
 

verifies that the person has a disability, 
defined as a physical or mental impairment 
that substantially limits a major life 
activity. However, an owner or other person 
engaging in a real estate transaction may 
not request medical records or access to 
health care providers, and may not inquire 
as to the diagnosis, nature or severity of 
the person′s disability. If the disability-
related need for an assistance animal is not 
readily apparent, an owner or other person 
engaging in a real estate transaction may 
request verification that the assistance 
animal is needed to alleviate one or more 
symptoms of the person′s disability.  
Verification may be provided by a letter or 
other communication from the person′s 
treating health care professional, mental 
health professional, or social worker. 
Reasonable restrictions or prohibitions may 
be imposed upon the person with a disability 
regarding excessive noise or other problems 
caused by those animals including, but not 
limited to:  
(A) Observing applicable laws, including 

leash laws and pick-up laws; 
(B) Assuming responsibility for damage 

caused by the animal;  
(C) Cleaning the housing unit upon 

vacating, by fumigation, deodorizing, 
professional carpet cleaning, or other 
appropriate methods; 

(D) Cleaning the animal’s waste; 
(E) Having the animal licensed with the 

county, if licensing is required by the 
county; 

(F) Having the animal vaccinated with 
documentation of the vaccination; 

(G)  Having the animal under the control of 
the animal′s owner or handler by use of 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-148 

 
 
 

harness, leash, tether, cage, carrier, 
or other physical control in common 
areas.  If the nature of the person′s 
disability makes physical control 
impracticable, or if physical control 
would interfere with the assistance 
that the animal provides, the owner or 
other person engaging in a real estate 
transaction may require that the animal 
be otherwise under the control of the 
animal′s owner or handler by voice 
control, signals, or other effective 
means; or 

(H) Any other reasonable restriction that 
would leave the housing accommodation 
in the condition it was in prior to the 
occupancy of the tenant with a 
disability, except for reasonable wear 
and tear;  

 
Example: 

Sarah, a condominium owner with an 
anxiety disorder, asks for an exception to 
her condominium association’s ″no pets″ rule 
in order to keep an emotional support rabbit 
in her unit.  Because Sarah′s disability and 
need for an emotional support animal are not 
readily apparent, the condominium 
association may ask Sarah to provide 
verification of her disability and the 
disability-related need for the rabbit. 
Sarah provides a letter from her treating 
psychologist stating that Sarah has an 
impairment that substantially limits a major 
life activity and that the rabbit is needed 
to prevent or reduce the symptoms of that 
impairment. The accommodation is therefore 
needed to afford Sarah an equal opportunity 
to use and enjoy her condominium and is 
reasonable.  The association must allow the 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-149 

 
 
 

rabbit as an accommodation but may impose 
reasonable restrictions on its use. 

 
(2) To solicit or require as a condition of 

engaging in a real estate transaction that 
the buyer, renter, or lessee be tested for 
human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) 
infection; 

(3) To refuse to make reasonable accommodations 
in rules, policies, practices, or services, 
when such accommodations may be necessary to 
afford a person with a disability equal 
opportunity to use and enjoy a housing 
accommodation, including public and common 
use areas; or 

 
Example: 

Kanoa Gardens is a three hundred unit 
apartment complex with four hundred fifty parking 
spaces which are available to tenants and guests 
on a "first come first served" basis.  Paul 
applies for housing in Kanoa Gardens.  Paul has a 
mobility impairment and is unable to walk more 
than a short distance and therefore requests that 
a parking space near his unit be reserved for him 
so he will not have to walk very far to get to 
his apartment.  It is a violation of the law for 
the owner or manager of Kanoa Gardens to refuse 
to make this requested accommodation.  Without a 
reserved space Paul may not be able to live in 
Kanoa Gardens at all or, when he has to park in a 
space far from his unit, might have great 
difficulty getting from his car to his apartment 
unit.  The accommodation therefore is necessary 
to afford Paul an equal opportunity to use and 
enjoy a housing accommodation.  The requested 
accommodation is reasonable because it is 
feasible and practical because of the number of 
unassigned parking spaces available.  

 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-150 

 
 
 

(4) To refuse to permit, at the expense of a 
person with a disability, reasonable 
modifications of existing premises, occupied 
or to be occupied by the person, if the 
proposed modifications may be necessary to 
afford the person with a disability full 
enjoyment of the premises. 

 
Example: 

A tenant with a disability asks an owner or 
manager for permission to install grab bars in 
the bathroom at his or her own expense.  It is 
necessary to reinforce the walls with blocking 
between studs in order to affix the grab bars.  
It is unlawful for the owner or manager to refuse 
to permit the tenant, at the tenant's own 
expense, from making the modifications necessary 
to add the grab bars.    

 
An owner, any other person engaging in a real 
estate transaction, real estate broker, or 
salesperson may grant permission for a 
modification on the condition that the person 
with a disability give:  

(A) A reasonable description of the 
proposed modifications; 

(B) Reasonable assurances that the 
modifications will be done in a 
workmanlike manner and that any 
required building permits will be 
obtained; and  

(C) Reasonable assurances that the person 
with a disability will restore the 
interior of the premises to the 
condition that existed before the 
modification, reasonable wear 
and tear excepted; however, restoration 
will not be necessary of those 
modifications which do not interfere 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-151 

 
 
 

with the owner's or next tenant's use 
and enjoyment of the premises. 

 
  Example:  

An owner or manager may require the 
creation of an escrow fund and the payment 
of money into the fund to cover the costs of 
restoring the premises.  Any portion of the 
fund, including interest, that is not 
required for the restoration of the premises 
will be reimbursed to the person with a 
disability, who paid into the fund, within a 
reasonable time. 

 
Example:   

If a person with a disability receives 
permission to put in grab bars and widen the 
doorway, it is not necessary to remove the 
blocking or narrow the doorway to restore 
the premises because the reinforced walls 
and wider doorway will not interfere with 
the owner's or next tenant's use and 
enjoyment of the premises.  However, the 
tenant can be required to remove the grab 
bars and restore the wall to the condition 
that existed before the modification, 
reasonable wear and tear excepted. 

 
(b) All covered multifamily housing 

accommodations, designed and constructed for first 
occupancy after March 13, 1991, shall:   

(1) Be designed and constructed to have at least 
one accessible entrance, unless it is 
impractical to do so because of the terrain 
or unusual characteristics of the site; and 

 
Example:  

A real estate developer plans to construct 
six covered multifamily housing accommodations on 
a site with a hilly terrain.  Because of the 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-152 

 
 
 

terrain, it will be necessary to climb a long and 
steep stairway in order to enter the dwellings.  
Since there is no practical way to provide an 
accessible route to any of the housing 
accommodations, one need not be provided. 

 
(2) If built with an accessible building 

entrance, be designed and constructed in 
such a manner that:  
(A) Public use and common use portions of 

the housing accommodations, including 
recreation and laundry rooms, are 
accessible to and usable by persons 
with disabilities;  

(B) All doors designed to allow passage 
into and within all premises are 
sufficiently wide to allow passage by 
persons who use wheelchairs;  

(C) All premises contain an accessible 
route into and through the housing 
accommodation;  

(D) Light switches, electrical outlets, 
thermostats, and other environmental 
controls are in accessible locations;  

(E) Reinforcements in the bathroom walls 
allow later installation of grab bars; 
and  

(F) Kitchens and bathrooms are accessible 
to persons who use wheelchairs. 

 
Example:  

A developer plans to construct a one 
hundred unit condominium apartment building 
with one elevator.  In accordance with the 
law, the building has at least one 
accessible route leading to an accessible 
entrance.  All one hundred units are covered 
multifamily housing accommodations and they 
all must be designed and constructed so that 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-153 

 
 
 

they comply with the accessibility 
requirements of the law. 

 
For purposes of this subsection, a multifamily housing 
accommodation shall be deemed to be designed and 
constructed for first occupancy on or before March 13, 
1991, if it is occupied by that date or if the last 
building permit or renewal thereof for the covered 
multifamily housing accommodation is issued by a 
state, county or local government agency on or before 
June 15, 1990.  Accessibility will be determined based 
upon ANSI A117.1-1986 or the Fair Housing 
Accessibility Guidelines.  The burden of establishing 
impracticality because of terrain or unusual site 
characteristics is on the owner, person engaging in a 
real estate transaction, or real estate broker or 
salesperson.   

(c)  An owner or other person engaging in a real 
estate transaction is not required to make a 
reasonable accommodation to a person who meets the 
definition of disability solely under the ″record of 
impairment″ or ″regarded as″ prongs of the definition 
of disability in section 12-46-302. [Eff 10/15/93; am 
5/3/99; am 10/6/13; comp    ]  (Auth: HRS 
§§368-3, 515-9(7)(Imp: HRS §515-3) 
  
 
 
 §12-46-307  Discrimination on the basis of 
familial status.  It is a discriminatory practice for 
an owner or any person engaging in a real estate 
transaction, or for a real estate broker or 
salesperson to: 

(1) Refuse to engage in a real estate 
transaction with a person because of 
familial status;   

(2) Impose house rules, by-laws, or other 
provisions, established by a condominium 
association, cooperative association, 
apartment complex tenants', owners', or 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-154 

 
 
 

leaseholders' association, or any other 
organization or association, which by intent 
or effect discriminate against a person 
because of familial status;  

 
 Example:   

 House rules (e.g. "two person 
limit to a bedroom") which have the 
effect of discriminating ("adverse 
impact") against persons with children 
(because the overall square footage is 
large enough under housing code for 
three persons) are unlawful unless the 
rule can be justified by establishing a 
business necessity.  House rules (e.g. 
"no families with children") which 
intentionally discriminate against 
persons with children are unlawful 
unless there is a specific exemption 
for the rule under this subchapter or 
section 515-4 or 515-8, HRS.  

(3) Impose occupancy limits on a housing 
accommodation sought by a person 
because of familial status, unless such 
limits are justified by establishing a 
business necessity;   

 
 Example:   

 A person with children seeking a 
housing accommodation cannot be denied 
the accommodation on the basis of an 
occupancy limit unless it is based upon 
a compelling and well established 
public purpose, such as a county 
building code established to promote 
public safety, and there are no other 
reasonable means to serve the same 
purpose with less discriminatory 
impact. 

 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-155 

 
 
 

(4) Impose against a person because of familial 
status, by way of any action to evict, 
terminate the tenancy, or refuse to engage 
in a real estate transaction, occupancy 
limits on a housing accommodation which is 
currently occupied by such person, unless 
justified by business necessity by 
demonstrating that such limits are required 
by county building codes established to 
promote public safety, and if the person has 
asked the owner, person engaging in a real 
estate transaction, real estate broker, or 
salesperson to apply for a variance or 
exemption from the county, the application 
for variance or exemption has been denied; 

 
Example:  

  A current tenant whose family 
size exceeds occupancy limits, 
which are required by a county 
building code established to 
promote public safety, may ask an 
owner, any person engaging in a 
real estate transaction, or real 
estate broker or salesperson to 
apply for a variance or exemption 
to the county building code prior 
to being evicted from the 
accommodation.  The owner may 
apply for the variance or 
authorize the tenant to do so, in 
which case the owner shall 
reasonably assist the tenant and 
provide any necessary documents in 
the owner's possession.  If denied 
by the county agency, the 
occupancy limit can be used as the 
basis to evict.  The tenant asking 
that the exemption be sought can 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-156 

 
 
 

be required to pay any filing fee 
and associated costs.  

 
     (5)  Restrict or prohibit the use by children of 

common use or public use areas or 
recreational facilities, unless based upon 
business necessity;  

(6) Designate separate areas for use by children 
so as to justify separate areas where 
children are excluded;  

(7) Require the payment of a higher security 
deposit, surcharge, or additional fees 
because of familial status; or 

(8) Require a person to sign a waiver of 
liability as a condition of occupancy by 
children.  [Eff 10/15/93; comp      
   ]  (Auth: HRS §§368-3, 515-
9(7))  (Imp: HRS §515-3) 

 
 
 
 §12-46-308  Discriminatory financial practices.  
It is a discriminatory practice for a person, a 
representative of such person, or a real estate 
broker, appraiser, or salesperson, to whom an inquiry 
or application is made for financial assistance in 
connection with a real estate transaction or for 
construction, rehabilitation, repair, maintenance, or 
improvement of real property, because of a protected 
basis:  

(l) To discriminate against the applicant; 
(2) To use a form of application for financial 

assistance or to make or keep a record or 
inquiry in connection with applications for 
financial assistance which indicates, 
directly or indirectly, an intent to make a 
limitation, specification, or discrimination 
due to the person's protected basis, unless 
such records are required by federal law;  

 (3) To discriminate in the making or purchasing 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-157 

 
 
 

of loans or the provision of other financial  
assistance for purchasing, constructing,  
improving, repairing, or maintaining a  
housing accommodation, or the making or  
purchasing of loans or the provision of  
other financial assistance secured by 
residential real estate; or 

 (4) To discriminate in the selling, brokering, 
or appraising of residential real property. 
[Eff 10/15/93; comp   ]  (Auth: HRS  
§§368-3; 515-9(7))  (Imp: HRS §515-5) 

 
 
 
 §12-46-309  Blockbusting.  It is a discriminatory 
practice for a person, representative of a person, 
real estate broker, appraiser, or salesperson for the 
purpose of inducing a real estate transaction because 
of a protected basis:  

(1) To represent that a change has occurred or 
will or may occur in the composition of the 
owners or occupants in the block, 
neighborhood, or area in which the real 
property is located; or 

(2) To represent that this change will or may 
result in the lowering of property values, 
an increase in criminal or antisocial 
behavior, or a decline in the quality of the 
schools in the block, neighborhood, or area 
in which the real property is located; 

if such person, representative, broker, appraiser, or 
salesperson may benefit financially from the 
transaction, regardless of actual financial gain.  
[Eff 10/15/93; comp    ]  (Auth: HRS 
§§368-3, 515-9(7))  (Imp: HRS §515-7) 
 
 
 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-158 

 
 
 

 §12-46-310  Prohibited interference, coercion, or 
intimidation.  It is a discriminatory practice for a 
person, or for two or more persons to conspire: 

(1) To retaliate, threaten, or discriminate 
against a person because of the exercise or 
enjoyment of any right granted or protected 
by this subchapter, or because the person 
has opposed a discriminatory practice, or 
because the person has made a charge, filed 
a  complaint, testified, assisted, or 
participated in an investigation, 
proceeding, or hearing under this 
subchapter; 

(2) To aid, abet, incite, or coerce a person to 
engage in a discriminatory practice; 

 
Example:   
 A newspaper by publishing an 
advertisement which states a preference 
based upon a protected basis has aided 
a person engaging in a discriminatory 
practice. 

 
(3) To interfere with any person in the exercise 

or enjoyment of any right granted or 
protected by this subchapter or with the 
performance of a duty or the exercise of a 
power by the commission; 

(4) To obstruct or prevent a person from 
complying with this subchapter or an order 
issued thereunder; 

(5) To intimidate or threaten any person 
engaging in activities designed to make 
other persons aware of rights granted or 
protected by this subchapter or encouraging 
such other persons to exercise such rights; 
or  

(6) To threaten, intimidate, or interfere with 
persons in their enjoyment of a housing 
accommodation, or visitors or associates of 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-159 

 
 
 

such persons, because of the person's 
protected basis.  [Eff 10/15/93; comp  
  ] (Auth: HRS §§368-3; 515-9(7))  
(Imp: HRS §515-16) 

 
 
 
 §12-46-311  Other discriminatory practices.  (a)  
An attempt to commit, directly or indirectly, a 
discriminatory practice is a discriminatory practice.  
 (b)  A party to a conciliation agreement made 
under chapter 515, HRS, or this subchapter, who 
violates the terms of such agreement, has committed a 
discriminatory practice. 

(c)  It is a discriminatory practice for an owner 
or any other person engaging in a real estate 
transaction, or for a real estate broker or 
salesperson to print, circulate, post, or mail, or 
cause to be published a statement, advertisement, or 
sign, or to use a form of application for a real 
estate transaction, or to make a record or inquiry in 
connection with a prospective real estate transaction, 
which indicates, directly or indirectly, an intent to 
make a limitation, specification, or discrimination 
because of a person's protected basis.  

(d)  It is a discriminatory practice for an owner 
or any other person engaging in a real estate 
transaction, or for a real estate broker or 
salesperson to offer, solicit, accept, use, or retain 
a listing of real property with the understanding that 
a person may be discriminated against because of a 
person's protected basis in a real estate transaction 
or in the furnishing of facilities or services in 
connection therewith. [Eff 10/15/93; am 10/6/13; comp 
   ]  (Auth: HRS §§368-3, 515-9(7))  (Imp: 
HRS §§515-16, 515-17, 515-18(b)) 
 
 
 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-160 

 
 
 

 §12-46-312  Restrictive covenants and conditions.  
(a) Every provision in an oral agreement or a written 
instrument relating to real property which purports to 
forbid or restrict the conveyance, encumbrance, 
occupancy, use, or lease thereof to individuals 
because of their protected basis is void. 
 (b) Every condition, restriction, or 
prohibition, including a right of entry or possibility 
of reverter, which directly or indirectly limits the 
use or occupancy of real property because of a 
protected basis is void, except a limitation, on the 
basis of religion, in the use of real property held by 
a religious institution and used for religious or 
charitable purposes. 
 (c) It is a discriminatory practice to insert in 
a written instrument relating to real property a 
provision that is void under this section or to honor 
such a provision in the chain of title.  [Eff 
10/15/93; comp    ]  (Auth: HRS §§368-3, 
515-9(7))  (Imp: HRS §515-6) 
 
 
 

§12-46-313  Exemptions. (a)  Sections 12-46-305,  
-306, and -307 do not apply: 

(l) To the rental of a housing accommodation in 
a building which contains housing 
accommodations for not more than two 
families living independently of each other 
if the owner or lessor resides in one of the 
two housing accommodations; or 

(2) To the rental of a room or up to four rooms 
in a housing accommodation by an owner or 
lessor if the owner or lessor resides 
therein. 

 (b) Nothing in this subchapter regarding 
familial status or age shall apply to housing for 
older persons as defined by 42 U.S.C. section 
3607(b)(2).  [Eff 10/15/93; am 10/6/13; comp   



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-161 

 
 
 

 ]  (Auth: HRS §§368-3; 515-9(7)  (Imp: HRS §515-
4) 
 
  
 
 §12-46-314  Religious institutions.  It is not a 
discriminatory practice for a religious institution in 
a real estate transaction conducted for charitable or 
religious purposes to give preference to members of 
the same religion.  [Eff 10/15/93; comp    
   ]  (Auth: HRS §§368-3, 515-9(7))  (Imp: 
HRS §515-8) 
 
 
 
 §12-46-315  Public contractors.  (a)  In the case 
of a respondent who is found by the commission to have 
engaged in a discriminatory practice in the course of 
performing under a contract or subcontract with the 
State or a county, or agency thereof, if the 
discriminatory practice was authorized, requested, 
commanded, performed, or knowingly or recklessly 
tolerated by the board of directors of the respondent 
or by an officer or executive agent acting within the 
scope of the officer's or agent's employment, the 
commission shall mail or serve a certified copy of a 
commission decision finding that respondent has 
engaged in a discriminatory practice to the 
contracting agency.  Unless the commission's finding 
of a discriminatory practice is reversed in the course 
of judicial review, the finding of discrimination is 
binding on the contracting agency. 
 (b)  Upon receiving a certified copy of the 
decision under subsection (a), a contracting agency 
may take appropriate action to: 

(l) Terminate a contract, or portion thereof, 
previously entered into with the respondent, 
either absolutely or on condition that the 
respondent carry out a program of compliance 
with this subchapter; and   



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-162 

 
 
 

(2) Assist the State and all counties, and 
agencies thereof, to refrain from entering 
into further contracts, or extensions or 
other modifications of existing contracts, 
with the respondent until the commission is 
satisfied that the respondent will carry out 
policies in compliance with this subchapter.  
[Eff 10/15/93; comp    ]  (Auth: 
HRS §§368-3, 515-9(7))  (Imp: HRS §§515-
13(c), 515-19) 

 
 
 
 §12-46-316  Responsibility for discriminatory 
practices.  A person may be liable for discriminatory 
practices made unlawful under this subchapter 
including, but not limited to, the following 
situations: 

(1) An owner, any person engaging in a real 
estate transaction, or a real estate 
broker or salesperson is liable for any 
of its acts which constitute a 
discriminatory practice under this 
subchapter. 

(2) An owner, any person engaging in a real 
estate transaction, or a real estate 
broker or salesperson may be liable for 
the acts of agents or persons acting on 
their behalf regardless of whether the 
specified acts were authorized or even 
forbidden, if the owner, any person 
engaging in a real estate transaction, 
or a real estate broker or salesperson 
knew or should have known of their 
occurrence.  The commission will 
examine the circumstances of the 
particular agency or employment 
relationship and job functions of the 
person in determining whether the 
person acted as an agent or on behalf 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-163 

 
 
 

of the owner, any person engaging in a 
real estate transaction, or a real 
estate broker or salesperson.  
[Eff 10/15/93; comp    ]  
(Auth: HRS §§368-3, 515-9(7))  (Imp: 
HRS §§515-1, 515-2, 515-3, 515-5, 515-
6, 515-7, 515-9(7), 515-16, 515-17, 
515-20) 

 
 
 
 §12-46-317  Causation standard.  In determining 
whether a discriminatory practice constituting 
disparate treatment has been committed under this 
subchapter, it must be shown by a preponderance of the 
evidence:  

(1) That a causal connection existed 
between a person's protected basis and 
the alleged discriminatory conduct; and 

(2) That the protected basis was any part 
of the reason for the conduct.  [Eff 
10/15/93; comp    ] (Auth: 
HRS §§368-3; 515-9(7))  (Imp: HRS 
§§515-1, 515-2, 515-3, 515-5, 515-6, 
515-7, 515-9(7), 515-16, 515-17, 515-
20) 

 
 
 
  §12-46-318  Defenses.  (a)  Adverse impact.  It 
may be a defense to a claim that a facially-neutral 
practice, policy, or action has the effect of 
discriminating against a person because of a protected 
basis for an owner, any other person, real estate 
broker, or salesperson charged with discrimination to 
establish that there is a business necessity for the 
practice, policy, or action. 
 (b) Specific activity permitted.  It may be a 
defense to a claim that a practice, policy, or action 
discriminates against a person because of a protected 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-164 

 
 
 

basis for an owner, any other person, real estate 
broker, or salesperson charged with discrimination to 
establish that the alleged discriminatory practice, 
policy, or action is specifically permitted under this 
subchapter or by sections 515-4 or 515-8, HRS.   
 (c)  Refusal to allow the use of a particular 
assistance animal.  An owner or any other person 
engaging in a real estate transaction may refuse to 
allow a person with a disability the use of a 
particular assistance animal if: 

(1) The animal poses a direct threat to the 
health or safety of others and the animal′s 
owner or handler takes no effective action 
to control the animal so that the threat is 
mitigated or eliminated; 

(2) The animal would cause substantial physical 
damage to the property of others that cannot 
be reduced or eliminated by a reasonable 
accommodation; 

(3) The presence of the assistance animal would 
pose an undue financial and administrative 
burden to the owner or person engaging in a 
real estate transaction; or 

(4) The presence of the assistance animal would 
fundamentally alter the nature of the 
operations of the owner or person engaging 
in a real estate transaction. 

The determination of whether an assistance animal 
poses a direct threat and whether the animal′s owner 
or handler has taken effective action to control the 
animal so that the threat is mitigated or eliminated, 
must be based on an individualized assessment about 
the specific animal in question, such as the animal′s 
current conduct or recent history of overt acts.  The 
determination may not be based on the animal′s species 
or breed.  Factors to be considered include: the 
nature, duration and severity of the risk of injury; 
the probability that the potential injury will 
actually occur; whether reasonable modifications of 
rules, policies, practices, procedures, or services 



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-165 

 
 
 

will reduce the risk; and whether the animal′s owner 
has taken any action that has reduced or eliminated 
the risk, such as obtaining specific training, 
medication, or equipment for the animal.  Denial of 
the use of a particular animal does not preclude a 
request to use a different animal. 
 
Example: 
Michael, who lives in an apartment building that has a 
″no pets″ policy, has a disability and requires the 
use of Spot, an emotional support dog.  One day while 
Michael and Spot are riding in the elevator, Spot 
lunges and bites a guide dog owned by Cindy, who is 
blind and is in the elevator at the time.  Spot 
therefore poses a direct threat to the health and 
safety of others.  If the direct threat can be 
mitigated, for example by having Michael muzzle and 
hold Spot by a short leash when Spot is in common 
areas, and by having Michael and Spot refrain from 
riding in the same elevator and being in the same 
common areas as Cindy and her guide dog, Michael may 
continue to use Spot.  However, if the direct threat 
from Spot cannot be mitigated, or if Spot’s continued 
presence would cause an undue financial and 
administrative burden, the apartment manager may deny 
Michael′s use of Spot, though Michael may then request 
the use of a different emotional support animal." [Eff 
10/15/93; am 10/6/13; comp    ]  (Auth: 
HRS §§368-3, 515-9(7))  (Imp: HRS §§515-1, 515-2, 515-
3, 515-4, 515-5, 515-6, 515-7, 515-9, 515-16, 515-17)  
 
  



DRAFT – November 19, 2024 

 
46-166 

 
 
 

I certify that the foregoing are copies of the rules, 
drafted in the Ramseyer format pursuant to the 
requirements of section 91-4.1, Hawaii Revised 
Statutes, which were adopted on August 2, 1982 and 
filed with the Office of the Lieutenant Governor. 
 
 
 
           
      Marcus L. Kawatachi 

Director of Civil Rights 
Commission 

 
 
 
            

Jade T. Butay 
Director of Labor and 
Industrial Relations 

 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
 
      
Deputy Attorney General 



IV. New Business

A. Discussion and Action on the Small Business Impact 
Statement and Proposed New Rules and Regulations 
Relating to the Use of Parks and Park Facilities by 
Peddlers and Concessionaires, Part VI –Rules and 
Regulations Governing the Operation of 
Concessionaires at the Spouting Horn Park, 
promulgated by County of Kauai, Department of 
Parks and Recreation



  
 

 
  

 

   

 

  

  

  

  
     

   
 

  

  

 
    

 
  

  

                     
      

 

 
      

             

  
 

  
    

      

   

  
   

   

PRE-PUBLIC HEARING SMALL BUSINESS IMPACT STATEMENT 
TO THE 

SMALL BUSINESS REGULATORY REVIEW BOARD 
(Hawaii Revised Statutes §201M-2) 

Date: 

Department or Agency: 

Administrative Rule Title and Chapter: 

Chapter Name: 

Contact Person/Title: 

E-mail: Phone: 

A. To assist the SBRRB in complying with the meeting notice requirement in HRS §92-7, please attach
a statement of the topic of the proposed rules or a general description of the subjects involved.

B. Are the draft rules available for viewing in person and on the Lieutenant Governor’s Website
pursuant to HRS §92-7?

Yes No 

If “Yes,” provide details: 

I. Rule Description:
New Repeal Amendment Compilation 

II. Will the proposed rule(s) affect small business?
Yes No 

(If “No,” no need to submit this form.) 

* “Affect small business” is defined as “any potential or actual requirement imposed upon a small business . . . that will cause a
direct and significant economic burden upon a small business, or is directly related to the formation, operation, or expansion
of a small business.” HRS §201M-1

* “Small business” is defined as a “for-profit corporation, limited liability company, partnership, limited partnership, sole
proprietorship, or other legal entity that: (1) Is domiciled and authorized to do business in Hawaii; (2) Is independently owned
and operated; and (3) Employs fewer than one hundred full-time or part- time employees in Hawaii." HRS §201M-1

III. Is the proposed rule being adopted to implement a statute or ordinance that
does not require the agency to interpret or describe the requirements of the
statute or ordinance?

Yes No 
(If “Yes” no need to submit this form. E.g., a federally-mandated regulation that does not afford the 
agency thediscretion to consider less restrictive alternatives. HRS §201M-2(d)) 

IV. Is the proposed rule being adopted pursuant to emergency rulemaking? (HRS §201M-2(a))

Yes No 
(If “Yes” no need to submit this form.) 

* * * 

Revised 09/28/2018 

12/26/2024

County of Kauai, Department of Parks and Recreation

Operation of Concessionaires at the Spouting Horn Park

N/A

dagaran@kauai.gov 808-241-4456

Darcie Agaran, Executive Secretary to the Director

The proposed rules are available for viewing at the... (see attachment)

PalcovichD
Received



       

 
 

    
 

    
  

   

   

  

  

    

  

  
   

 

Pre-Public Hearing Small Business Impact Statement – Page 2 

If the proposed rule affects small business and are not exempt as noted above, 
please provide a reasonable determination of the following: 

1. Description of the small businesses that will be required to comply with the proposed rules
and how they may be adversely affected.

2. In dollar amounts, the increase in the level of direct costs such as fees or fines, and indirect
costs such as reporting, recordkeeping, equipment, construction, labor, professional
services, revenue loss, or other costs associated with compliance.

If the proposed rule imposes a new or increased fee or fine: 

a. Amount of the current fee or fine and the last time it was increased.

b. Amount of the proposed fee or fine and the percentage increase.

c. Reason for the new or increased fee or fine.

d. Criteria or methodology used to determine the amount of the fee or fine (i.e.,

Consumer Price Index, Inflation rate, etc.).

3. The probable monetary costs and benefits to the agency or other agencies directly affected,
including the estimated total amount the agency expects to collect from any additionally
imposed fees and the manner in which the moneys will be used.

Revised 09/28/2018 

N/A

N/A

N/A

None

N/A

The proposed minimum upset bid price for the monthly rental is $3,500.00.  No additional fees are being 
imposed.  The moneys collected for the monthly rental will be used to fund park maintenance in the
Koloa/Poipu areas; the same area the Concession stands are located.

The proposed rules will apply to Concessionaires at the Spouting Horn Park. The proposed rules
should not adversely affect Concessionaires at the Spouting Horn Park, as they generally follow the
conditions in the previously used Concession Bid document, including the Instructions to Bidders,
that became part of the Concessionaires' contracts in previous years.



       

  
 

  

 
  

   
  

 

 
 

 

Pre-Public Hearing Small Business Impact Statement – Page 3 

4. The methods the agency considered or used to reduce the impact on small business
such as consolidation, simplification, differing compliance or reporting requirements,
less stringent deadlines, modification of the fines schedule, performance rather than
design standards, exemption, or other mitigating techniques.

5. The availability and practicability of less restrictive alternatives that could be
implemented in lieu of the proposed rules.

6. Consideration of creative, innovative, or flexible methods of compliance for small
businesses. The businesses that will be directly affected by, bear the costs of, or
directly benefit from the proposed rules.

7. How the agency involved small business in the development of the proposed rules.

a. If there were any recommendations made by small business, were the
recommendations incorporated into the proposed rule? If yes, explain. If no,
why not.

Revised 09/28/2018 

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

While these rules are considered "new rules", most of these conditions were previously in effect for
previous Concessionaires, since they were in the Concession Bid document, which included the
Instructions to Bidders, that became part of their contracts.



       

 

  

   
      

    

  
    

 
 

   
 

  
  

 

 

   
   

      

Pre-Public Hearing Small Business Impact Statement – Page 4 

8. Whether the proposed rules include provisions that are more stringent than those 
mandated by any comparable or related federal, state, or county standards, with an 
explanation of the reason for imposing the more stringent standard. 

If yes, please provide information comparing the costs and benefits of the proposed rules to 
the costs and benefits of the comparable federal, state, or county law, including the following: 

a. Description of the public purposes to be served by the proposed rule. 

b. The text of the related federal, state, or county law, including information about 
the purposes and applicability of the law. 

c. A comparison between the proposed rule and the related federal, state, or 
county law, including a comparison of their purposes, application, and 
administration. 

d. A comparison of the monetary costs and benefits of the proposed rule with the 
costs and benefits of imposing or deferring to the related federal, state, or 
county law, as well as a description of the manner in which any additional fees 
from the proposed rule will be used. 

e. A comparison of the adverse effects on small business imposed by the 
proposed rule with the adverse effects of the related federal, state, or county 
law. 

* * * 

Small Business Regulatory Review Board / DBEDT 
Phone: (808) 586-2594 / Email: DBEDT.sbrrb.info@hawaii.gov 

This Statement may be found on the SBRRB Website at: http://dbedt.hawaii.gov/sbrrb/resources/small- business-impact-statements 

Revised 09/28/2018 

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A



Attachment 
 

A. Statement of the Topic of the Proposed Rule: 
 

The Department proposes to establish uniform regulations for the operation of 
Concessionaires at the Spouting Horn Park and uniform processes to acquire a Contract 
to operate a Concession at the Spouting Horn Park. 

 
B. …Department of Parks and Recreation.  In addition, the Department will send an 

electronic copy by email to any interested person upon request. 



1 
 

COUNTY OF KAUA‘I DEPARTMENT OF PARKS AND RECREATION 
RULES AND REGULATIONS RELATING TO THE USE OF PARKS AND PARK 

FACILITIES BY PEDDLERS AND CONCESSIONAIRES 
 

PART VI – RULES AND REGULATIONS GOVERNING THE OPERATION OF 
CONCESSIONAIRES AT THE SPOUTING HORN PARK 

 
Under and by virtue of the authority conferred upon him by Chapter 91 of the Hawai‘i Revised 
Statutes (HRS), Chapter 23, Article 3 of the Kaua‘i County Code 1987, as amended (KCC), and 
every other enabling power, the Director of Parks and Recreation of the County of Kaua‘i does 
hereby prescribe the following: 
 
 

Part I. General Provisions 
 

A. Applicability and Scope. 
These rules and regulations govern Concessionaire operations at the Spouting Horn Park, which are 
under the jurisdiction of the County of Kaua‘i, Department of Parks and Recreation. 
B. Purpose. 
Under the authority of Chapter 23, Article 3 of the Kaua‘i County Code 1987, as amended, and in 
accordance with Chapter 102 of the Hawai‘i Revised Statutes, these rules establish uniform 
regulations for the operation of Concessionaires at the Spouting Horn Park, and uniform processes to 
acquire a Contract to operate a Concession at the Spouting Horn Park. 
C. Definitions. 
Whenever used in these rules and regulations, the terms below have the following meanings: 

“Concession” has the same meaning as in Section 23-3.2 of the Kaua‘i County Code. 
“Concession stand premises” means the original individual Concession stand footprint; plus 
half the distance to the adjacent Concession stand(s) to the sides and back; and the area from 
the side of the Concession stand to the side roll-up gate, if any; plus any extension of the 
stand, whether temporary or permanent, not to exceed 12” (inches) outside the front of the 
Concession stand. 
“Concession stands” has the same meaning as in Section 23-3.2 of the Kaua‘i County Code. 
“Concessionaire” has the same meaning as in Section 23-3.2 of the Kaua‘i County Code. 
“Contract” means the written agreement, including the Invitation for Concession Bids, 
Instructions to Bidders, Exhibits, Concessionaire’s Bid Proposal, and any amendments, 
between the County and the Concessionaire, for a Concession. 
“County” means the County of Kaua‘i. 
“Department” means the Department of Parks and Recreation of the County of Kaua‘i. 
“Finance Director” means the Director of Finance of the County of Kaua‘i, or their 
authorized representative. 

PalcovichD
Received



2 
 

“Invitation for Concession Bids” means all documents, whether attached or incorporated by 
reference, used for soliciting bids for Concession stands at the Spouting Horn Park.  
“Parks Director” means the Director of Parks and Recreation of the County of Kaua‘i, or 
their authorized representative. 
“These Rules” means the Rules and Regulations Governing the Operation of Concessionaires  
at the Spouting Horn Park. 

 
Part II. Concession Procedures and Fees 

 
A. Bidding. 

1. Bidding procedures shall comply with the requirements of Chapter 102 of the Hawai‘i 
Revised Statutes. 

2. Prospective bidders shall: 
a. Not less than six calendar days prior to the day designated for opening bids, file a 

Notice of Intention to Bid and Application to Bid with the Department in accordance 
with the Invitation for Concession Bids; and 

b. Meet the minimum qualifications set forth in the Invitation for Concession Bids. 
i. The Finance Director may investigate the financial status, experience, and 

records of each prospective bidder, and require additional evidence and 
information from any prospective bidder, to determine satisfaction of 
minimum qualifications.  

ii. The Finance Director shall refuse to receive or consider any bid proposal 
submitted by a prospective bidder who fails to meet the minimum 
qualifications or fails to timely submit additional evidence and information 
requested by the Finance Director. Prior to rejecting a prospective bidder, the 
following procedures apply: 

a) The Finance Director shall provide the prospective bidder, in writing, 
the reason or reasons why the prospective bidder does not qualify to 
bid;  

b) The prospective bidder will be allowed to provide a written 
explanation or further documentation, or both, as proof of having met 
the minimum qualifications, due within ten calendar days of receiving 
the Finance Director’s reasons; and  

c) Within three business days of receipt of the prospective bidder’s 
written explanation or further documentation, or both, the Finance 
Director shall notify the prospective bidder in writing of the final 
decision on whether the prospective bidder has met the minimum 
qualifications to bid. The Finance Director’s decision is a final 
decision. 

  



3 
 

3. Bid Deposits. 
a. Each bid shall be accompanied by a deposit as required by Section 102-6 of the 

Hawai‘i Revised Statutes.  
b. The Parks Director shall identify the specific requirements of the bid deposit in the 

Invitation for Concession Bids. 
4. In accordance with Section 102-5 of the Hawai‘i Revised Statutes, the Finance Director may 

cancel or reject any and all bids, in whole or in part, or waive any defects, when in the 
Finance Director’s opinion, such cancellation, rejection, or waiver will be in the best interest 
of the County. 

a. Reasons that are “in the best interest of the County” include but are not limited to the 
following: 

i. Cancellation or rejection prior to opening bids: 
a) The County no longer requires the Concession Contracts; 
b) The Department’s proposed amendments to the Invitation for 

Concession Bids would be of a magnitude that a new Invitation for 
Concession Bids is desirable; or 

c) A determination by the Finance Director that a cancellation is in the 
public interest. 

ii. Cancellation, rejection, or waiver after opening bids but prior to award: 
a) The Concession Contracts are no longer required; 
b) Modification, addition, or deletion of specifications is needed; 
c) There is reason to believe that the bids may not have been 

independently arrived at in open competition, may have been 
collusive, or may have been submitted in bad faith; or 

d) A determination by the Finance Director that a cancellation, rejection, 
or waiver is in the public interest. 

b. A notice of cancellation, rejection, or waiver shall be posted, and the notice shall 
include a brief explanation of the reason for cancellation, rejection, or waiver; and 
where appropriate, an explanation that an opportunity will be given to compete on 
any re-solicitation. 

B. Advertising, Readvertising, and Rebidding. 
1. Each initial Invitation for Concession Bids for five-year contracts shall include all eight 

Concession stands.  
2. All advertisements for bid shall comply with the requirements of Section 102-4 of the 

Hawai‘i Revised Statutes. 
3. If all eight Concession stands are not awarded through the bidding process, the remaining 

Concession stands shall be readvertised for bid under the same terms and same duration of 
the current five-year term and any allowed Contract extension. 

4. If any Contract is relinquished or cancelled before the expiration of the Contract term, the 
Department shall readvertise and conduct new bidding for the resulting vacancy for the 
duration of the existing five-year term and any allowed Contract extension. 



4 
 

5. If any Concession stand becomes vacant during the two-year extension period, the 
Department shall readvertise the stand for bid for the duration of the Contract extension. 

6. Existing Concessionaires may bid on Concession stands that become available during their 
Contract term, if it is determined by the Finance Director to not be to the detriment of the 
County. However, any Concessionaire who is awarded another Concession stand under this 
section must relinquish their original Concession stand. 

a. In making this determination, the Finance Director shall consider the existing 
Concessionaire’s current monthly rent versus their bid amount.   

C. Upset Bid Price. 
1. Bidders shall bid the dollar amount they propose to pay as monthly rent. 
2. All bids shall be subject to an upset bid price which shall be in the Invitation for Concession 

Bids. 
3. The upset bid price shall be determined by the Parks Director, in consultation with the 

Finance Director, and shall not be less than three thousand five hundred dollars ($3,500.00) 
per month for each individual Concession stand, except for the following:  

a. If a Concession stand is readvertised for bid under Part II, Section B.4. or Part II, 
Section B.5. of these Rules, the upset bid price shall not be less than the lowest 
monthly concession rent in place at the time of readvertisement. 

4. The determination of the upset bid price shall include consideration of the following: 
a. The average of all Concessionaire bids received by the County, including non-

awarded bids, from the most recent regular solicitation for 5-year Concession 
contracts for the Concession stands at the Spouting Horn Park.  

b. The average Concessionaire monthly rent from the most recent regular solicitation for 
5-year Concession contracts for the Concession stands at the Spouting Horn Park.  

c. The cost to the County of maintenance, upkeep, and improvements for the concession 
facility at the Spouting Horn Park.  

d. The lease price for similar retail vendor facilities on Kauai, if any, with due 
consideration for the terms and conditions of a Concessionaire contract at the 
Spouting Horn Park, including the uniqueness of a retail space within the Spouting 
Horn Park that includes dedicated Concession stands.  

D. Contracts. 
1. All Contracts shall be processed and awarded in accordance with the requirements of Chapter 

102 of the Hawai‘i Revised Statutes. 
2. The Finance Director shall award a Contract, if any, to the responsible bidder proposing to 

pay the highest monthly rent, if such bidder qualifies by providing the performance bond as 
required by Section 102-11 of the Hawai‘i Revised Statutes and proof of insurance as 
required by Part II, Section F. of these Rules. 

a. Contracts shall be awarded in an ascending order until all Concession stands have 
been awarded, starting with Concession stand 1 and ending with Concession stand 8. 

b. A successful bidder awarded a Concession stand shall not be considered for any 
additional stand award. 



5 
 

c. In the event of a tie bid or bids, the Contract award shall be made by drawing lots at 
the place, time, and method prescribed by the Finance Director. 

3. Each Contract term shall be a period of five years, beginning on the date designated by the 
County in its “Notice to Proceed,” and expiring automatically after five years, without notice 
to the Concessionaire. 

a. The Finance Director may extend the term of a Contract for up to two additional 
years, on a month-to-month basis or for other terms or periods, if the Concessionaire 
is in compliance with all terms and conditions of their Contract and these Rules. 

b. Concessionaires who wish to extend their Contract term must make a request in 
writing to the Finance Director at least one hundred fifty calendar days before the end 
of the five-year term. If a request for a contract extension is not made within this time 
frame, or a request for contract extension is denied by the Finance Director, then the 
Contract will expire automatically as stated in Part II, Section D.3. of these Rules.  

4. The Concessionaire shall notify the Parks Director within five business days of any changes 
regarding the information provided in the Contract. 

5. Contracts are nontransferable. 
6. All Contracts shall include the following requirements, or similar statements expressing the 

intent of these requirements. The Parks Director may include further specifications for the 
below requirements, and include additional requirements, as deemed necessary, in the 
Invitation for Concession Bids.  

a. The Concessionaire shall agree to indemnify, defend, and hold harmless the County 
and its officers, employees, and agents from and against all liability, loss, damage, 
cost, and expense, including attorneys' fees, and all claims, suits, and demands, 
arising out of or resulting from the performance of the Contract and operation of the 
Concession, caused in whole or in part by any act or omission of the Concessionaire 
or the Concessionaire’s employees, officers, agents, or subcontractors, and to 
reimburse the County for any damages, losses, costs or expenses, including attorneys' 
fees, incurred in connection therewith. 

b. The Concessionaire shall assume the risk of any loss, damage, or theft to the 
Concessionaire’s property kept in the Spouting Horn Park, and the Concessionaire's 
use of the County's property shall be at the risk of the Concessionaire only.  

c. The Finance Director may cancel or pause a Concession Contract without cause, 
when the interests of the County so require, by giving the Concessionaire written 
notice of the cancellation or pause of the Contract. The written notice shall specify 
when the cancellation or pause becomes effective. Any rent payments already made 
by the Concessionaire for a time period after the cancellation or pause shall be 
refunded to the Concessionaire, on a pro rata basis if necessary. The Concessionaire 
shall bear any other expenses or losses in full, with no recourse against the County. 

d. The Concessionaire shall comply with all applicable federal, State, and County laws, 
ordinances, and rules and regulations. 

e. The Concessionaire shall conduct the Concessionaire’s activities and perform the 
Contract in a manner that does not discriminate against any person in violation of 
federal, State, or County law; and shall not discriminate against any employee or 
applicant for employment in violation of federal, State, or County law. 



6 
 

7. The Parks Director shall include a provision addressing breach of contract and any sanctions 
in the Invitation for Concession Bids. 

E. Performance Bond. 
1. Before any Contract is executed, the bidder who is awarded a Contract must give security for 

the full and faithful performance of the Contract as required by Section 102-11 of the 
Hawai‘i Revised Statutes.  

2. The performance bond shall be held by the County for the term of the Contract and shall be 
returned to the Concessionaire after the termination of the Contract if the Concessionaire is 
not in default.  

3. The Parks Director shall identify the specific requirements of the performance bond in the 
Invitation for Concession Bids.  

F. Insurance.  
1. Concessionaires must maintain, on a primary basis and at the Concessionaire’s sole expense, 

at all times during the life of the Concessionaire’s Contract, the insurance coverages and 
limits, including endorsements, described in the Insurance section of the Invitation for 
Concession Bids. The minimum limits and coverages shall be determined by the Finance 
Director. 

2. Concurrent with the execution of a Contract, the Concessionaire shall furnish the County 
with original certificates and endorsements effecting required coverage. 

G. Scope of Concession. 
1. Upon the execution of a Contract, a Concessionaire shall be given sole rights to conduct a 

specific commercial activity at a designated Concession stand at the Spouting Horn Park. 
2. The Concessionaire, by the Contract, and if approved by the Parks Director, shall have the 

right to sell curios, handcrafted jewelry, Polynesia goods, Kaua‘i made products, and other 
related products. 

a. Prior to the Contract execution, the Concessionaire awarded a Concession stand must 
furnish a list of products to be sold at the Concession stand to the Parks Director for 
review and approval. 

b. It is highly encouraged that items for sale at the Concession stand are made entirely 
or partly in Hawai‘i.  

3. Concessionaires shall not sell food items; clothing; watches; beverages; ice products; 
services; or any other commodities, goods, and products not approved by the Parks Director. 

4. Once a Contract is awarded, the Concessionaire shall not be allowed to change the 
commercial activity or Concession stand specified in their Contract, except if allowed by 
Section 102-10 of the Hawai‘i Revised Statutes or Section 102-13 of the Hawai‘i Revised 
Statutes. 

H. Stall Configuration and Plot Plan 
1. The location of each Concession stand numbered 1 to 8 is shown in Part II, Section H.5. of 

these Rules. 
2. Any extension of the Concession stand, whether temporary or permanent, cannot exceed 12” 

(inches) outside the front of the Concession stand. 
3. No extensions are permitted on the sides or rear of the Concession stand. 



7 
 

4. Concession stands shall not be moved, repositioned, or relocated from their original position. 
5. The stall configuration is as follows: 

 
 



8 
 

Part III. Concession Operations 
 

A. General Conditions. 
All Concessionaires are subject to the following general conditions. The Parks Director may include 
further specifications for the below conditions, and include additional conditions, as deemed 
necessary, in the Invitation for Concession Bids.  

1. All Concessionaires are prohibited from selling or conducting any part of their operations in 
any area other than the Concession stand area specified in and designated in the Contract. 

2. Signs and Advertising. 
a. All advertising material, which includes but is not limited to flyers, posted signage, 

and media advertisement, shall be subject to the prior written approval of the Parks 
Director.  

b. Signs, including commercial notices or advertisements, shall not be displayed, 
posted, or distributed outside of the authorized location specified in the Contract. 

c. No hawking, solicitation, or unauthorized advertising shall be made by the 
Concessionaires or their employees on or outside of the Concession stand premises                     
or on a public address system. 

3. Parking. 
a. Each Concessionaire shall be allowed to utilize one parking stall within the Spouting 

Horn Park parking lot. The Concessionaire’s parking stall shall be defined in the 
Contract.  

b. In addition, Concessionaires may use the designated loading and unloading area to 
transport equipment, supplies, goods and wares to and from their vehicle and 
designated Concession stand area. The loading and unloading area shall be defined in 
the Contract. 

c. No vehicles shall be permitted to stand or park next to or adjoining the Concession 
stand premises. 

d. Designated bus parking stalls or other public parking stalls shall not be blocked by 
Concessionaires and their employees’ vehicles, equipment, and personnel. 

4. Equipment. 
a. Concessionaires must provide all equipment necessary for the operation of their 

Concession. 
b. Concessionaires are not allowed to install equipment that requires alteration, 

modification, or affixing to the Concession stand premises. 
c. Concessionaires must remove all of their equipment at the end of each day. 
d. All displays and equipment must be within the confines of the interior area of the 

Concession stand. 
i. All other miscellaneous equipment, excess stock, boxes, cartons, coolers, 

paraphernalia, and other similar items can be stored within the confines of the 
interior area of the Concession stand; however, it must be properly hidden 
from view and neatly stored at all times. 



9 
 

ii. No other storage is permitted on the Concession stand premises. 
5. Conduct of Business. 

a. In conducting their operations, Concessionaires shall not: 
i. Create, commission, or maintain a nuisance on the Concession stand premises 

or in the Spouting Horn Park; 
ii. Cause or create unusual or objectionable noise, or noxious smoke, gasses, 

vapors and odors; or 
iii. Use radios, stereos, or amplified music. 

b. Concessionaires shall not use or allow the Concession stand premises to be used for 
any illegal purpose, indecent activity, or lodging or sleeping purposes. 

c. Concessionaires shall not permit disorderly persons to remain upon or loiter within 
the Concession stand premises. 

6. Cleaning and Maintenance: Concessionaires shall be responsible for the general cleaning and 
upkeep of their designated Concession stand premises as well as the pavilion common areas, 
which includes but is not limited to sweeping and mopping of the floor, maintaining assigned 
Concession stands, and supplying and emptying of rubbish cans within the immediate area 
surrounding the Concession stand premises. The Parks Director shall outline specifics in the 
Invitation for Concession Bids.  

7. Concessionaires shall display their State of Hawai‘i General Excise Tax License and 
Workers’ Compensation Certificate, if applicable, in clear public view during operational 
hours. 

8. Concessionaires shall not sublet the whole or any part of the Concession stand premises. 
B. Hours of Operation. 

1. Concessionaires shall not commence set-up of their equipment and stock at their Concession 
stand premises before 6:00 a.m., nor remain at the Concession stand premises with their 
equipment and stock later than 7:00 p.m., or as otherwise authorized by the Parks Director. 

2. All selling activities at the Concession stand premises shall commence no earlier than 7:00 
a.m. and cannot exceed beyond 6:00 p.m., or as otherwise authorized by the Parks Director. 

C. Duties of Concessionaires. 
Concessionaires may be required at the discretion of the Parks Director to perform the following 
operational duties at the Spouting Horn Concession Pavilion. The Parks Director shall specify any 
required duties, and may include additional requirements and duties as deemed necessary, in the 
Invitation for Concession Bids.  

1. Opening, Closing and Locking Pavilion: Concessionaires may be issued keys to open and 
close bays of the pavilion that are adjacent to their respective Concession stands. 
Concessionaires with Concession stands located on the corners of the pavilion may be 
required to open, close, and lock two bays. 

D. Repairs. 
1. Concessionaires shall be responsible for the cost of all repair or replacement work for 

damages to the Concession stand premises, except for roof damage and normal wear and tear. 
The County’s only responsibilities shall be the maintenance and repairs of the roof, and 



10 
 

repairs of the Concession stand premises for normal wear and tear. This section is subject to 
the exceptions below.  

a. Exception: If damages to the roof are caused by Concessionaire or by fire from within 
the Concession stand premises, the Concessionaire’s responsibility for the cost of all 
repairs or replacement work shall include the cost of repair or replacement work for 
the roof damages.  

b. Exception: If damages to the Concession stand premises are caused by an act of God, 
disaster, emergency not caused by the Concessionaire, or other event that is 
specified in the force majeure clause of the Contract as excusing performance under 
the Contract, the Concessionaire shall not be responsible for repair or replacement 
work for damages caused by those events. 

2. The Parks Director has the final decision in determining the responsible party for damages. 
3. Prior to any repair or replacement work, Concessionaires must obtain written approval from 

the Parks Director. All damages shall be repaired or replaced to the satisfaction of the Parks 
Director. 

E. Security Measures, Alterations, and Improvements. 
1. Security Measures 

a. Concessionaires may provide and install, at their expense, security measures 
necessary for the operation of the Concession. 

b. Prior to the provision or installation of any such security measures, Concessionaires 
must obtain written approval from the Parks Director. If approved, they must be 
installed in conformity with all applicable statutes, rules, regulations, and code 
sections. 

2. Alterations or Improvements 
a. Concessionaires shall not make alterations or improvements, including the extensions 

described in Part II, Section H.2. of these Rules, to the Concession stand premises 
without obtaining prior written approval from the Parks Director. 

b. Concessionaires shall promptly discharge all debts incurred in making any alterations 
or improvements, and within sixty calendar days after the completion, must submit to 
the Parks Director proof of such payments. 

3. Any permanent addition or fixture to the buildings or the Concession stand premises shall 
become the property of the County, without cost to the County, at the expiration of the 
Contract. 

F. Inspection by the County. 
1. The County may enter the Concession stand premises, without prior notice, at all reasonable 

times, for the purpose of: 
a. Examining the state of repair and condition of the Concession stand premises and the 

equipment; and 
b. Determining whether these Rules and the terms and conditions contained in the 

Contract are being fully and faithfully observed and performed. 
 



 
 V.      Administrative Matters 

A. Update on the Board’s Upcoming Advocacy 
Activities and Programs in accordance with the 
Board’s Powers under Section 201M-5, Hawaii 
Revised Statutes (HRS) 
1. Update on the Business Revitalization Taskforce’s most 

current meeting pursuant to Act 142 (Sessions Law 
Hawaii 2024, Senate Bill 2974 Relating to Economic 
Development) – Mandates that DBEDT establish a task 
force in order to identify methods to improve Hawaii’s 
general economic competitiveness and business 
climate, including the mitigations of regulatory and tax 
burdens – No Attachment 

2. Review of Board’s Proposed 2025-2026 Strategic Goals 
and Discussion and Action on Upcoming 3-5 Year Plan 

3. Update and Discussion on Becker Communications 
Inc., regarding the Board’s Small Business Outreach – 
No Attachment 

4. Presentations to Industry Associations – No Attachment 
5. Staff’s Small Business Outreach – No Attachment 



SBRRB Strategic Goal 
Discussion

January 2025

Small Business Regulatory Review Board



SBRRB Strategic Discussion

• What do We Want to Accomplish?
• Continued Awareness
• Continued Effectiveness
• Specific Goals – determined Annually

Small Business Regulatory Review Board



SBRRB Strategic Discussion

• Improved Awareness (Outreach)
• Media & Social Media Coverage

• Becker Communications has taken the lead for:
• FaceBook (new); Twitter; Instagram

• Letters to Industry Associations – Performed Annually
• Association Meetings – On a continued basis
• SBRRB Brochure – Updated in 2023
• SBRRB Presentation – Updated in 2023
• State/County Agency Meetings – On a continued basis
• Strategic Event Attendance

Small Business Regulatory Review Board



Improved Awareness

• Media Coverage
• Press Releases when Needed
• Other Thoughts?

• Social Media Coverage
• Facebook, Twitter & Instagram postings 
done by Becker Communications

Small Business Regulatory Review Board



Improved Awareness

• Send Letters to Industry Associations
• Educate & Promote SBRRB
• Ask for Meeting and/or Presentation to 

Members
• Review List of Associations & Add 
Others as Needed 

• Done on an Annual Basis

Small Business Regulatory Review Board



Improved Awareness

• Association Meetings
• Update List of Associations
• Develop/Update Talking Points & 
Material for Meeting

• Attend Meeting with Association 
Leaders

• Attend Meeting with Association 
Members

Small Business Regulatory Review Board



Improved Awareness

• Brochures
• SBRRB – updated
• Bill of Rights - updated
• Brochures linked to State’s Business 
Action Center

• Suggestions for linking to other Trade 
Agencies & Associations

Small Business Regulatory Review Board



Improved Awareness

• SBRRB Presentation
• Continuously Updated
• Agree with Vision/Mission/Purpose
• Other Thoughts?

Small Business Regulatory Review Board



Improved Awareness

• Strategic Event Attendance

• Maui SBA Event
• Oahu Small Business Events – to be 
determined each year

• Monthly Board Meeting on a Neighbor 
Island

• Maui targeted for 2025

Small Business Regulatory Review Board



SBRRB Strategic Discussion

• Improved Effectiveness
• Achieve Full Board Membership
• Continue State/County Agency 
Meetings

• Better Use of Improved Website
• Meetings with Industry Associations
• Other Thoughts?

Small Business Regulatory Review Board



Improved Effectiveness

• State/County Agency Meetings
• Connect with Other DBEDT divisions & 
agencies’ events for Outreach Purposes

• Educate/Promote SBRRB – on a 
continuous basks

• Rule Making Process
• Stakeholder Involvement (small business)
• Consider Small Business Impacts
• Open to Input & Change 

Small Business Regulatory Review Board



3-5 Year Goals

• Improved Awareness & Effectiveness
• Meeting with Agency & Counties

• 6 meetings per year
• Presentations to Industry Associations

• 3 presentations per year
• Social Media Utilization

• Monthly – via Becker Communications
• 10% Subscription increase annually – check with 

Becker?
• Website Utilization

• % hits increase – Need to get # for 2024

Small Business Regulatory Review Board


	ADPE00.tmp
	SMALL BUSINESS REGULATORY REVIEW BOARD
	I. Call to Order
	A. Update on the Board’s Upcoming Advocacy Activities and Programs in accordance with the Board’s Powers under Section 201M-5, Hawaii Revised Statutes (HRS)
	1. Update on Business Revitalization Taskforce’s most recent meeting pursuant to Act 142 (Sessions Law Hawaii 2024, Senate Bill 2974 Relating to Economic Development) – Mandates that the Department of Business, Economic Development, and Tourism establish a task force in order to identify methods to improve Hawaii’s general economic Competitiveness and business climate, including the mitigations of regulatory and tax burdens
	2. Review of Board’s Proposed 2025 – 2026 Strategic Goals and Discussion and Action on Upcoming 3–5 Year Plan
	3. Update and Discussion on Becker Communications Inc., regarding the Board’s Small Business Outreach
	4. Presentations to Industry Associations
	5. Staff’s Small Business Outreach


	SBRRB-Pre-Hearing-Statement (Spouting Horn) w attachment 122624.pdf
	SBRRB-Pre-Hearing-Statement (Spouting Horn) 101724.pdf
	Attachment to SBRRB Pre-Hearing Statement.pdf

	ADP415C.tmp
	SBRRB Strategic Goal Discussion
	SBRRB Strategic Discussion
	SBRRB Strategic Discussion
	Improved Awareness
	Improved Awareness
	Improved Awareness
	Improved Awareness
	Improved Awareness
	Improved Awareness
	SBRRB Strategic Discussion
	Improved Effectiveness
	3-5 Year Goals

	ADPD11E.tmp
	SMALL BUSINESS REGULATORY REVIEW BOARD
	I. Call to Order
	A. Update on the Board’s Upcoming Advocacy Activities and Programs in accordance with the Board’s Powers under Section 201M-5, Hawaii Revised Statutes (HRS)
	1. Update on Business Revitalization Taskforce’s most recent meeting pursuant to Act 142 (Sessions Law Hawaii 2024, Senate Bill 2974 Relating to Economic Development) – Mandates that the Department of Business, Economic Development, and Tourism establish a task force in order to identify methods to improve Hawaii’s general economic Competitiveness and business climate, including the mitigations of regulatory and tax burdens
	2. Review of Board’s Proposed 2025 – 2026 Strategic Goals and Discussion and Action on Upcoming 3–5 Year Plan
	3. Update and Discussion on Becker Communications Inc., regarding the Board’s Small Business Outreach
	4. Presentations to Industry Associations
	5. Staff’s Small Business Outreach





